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COMPANY PROFILE
RAEBEIT

OVERVIEW

We are a clinical-stage novel drug developer in China focused
on the diseases with unmet clinical needs, especially androgen
receptor-related, or AR-related diseases. We are committed
to becoming a leader in the research, development and

commercialisation of innovative therapies.

We had developed a pipeline of seven drug candidates which are in

clinical stage.

+  Pyrilutamide (KX-826)
Pyrilutamide (KX-826) (f&3¥mfh &) is an AR antagonist. We

are currently developing Pyrilutamide as a potential first-in-class
topical drug for the treatment of androgenic alopecia (AGA) and

acne vulgaris.

e AR-PROTAC Compound (GT20029)
GT20029 is a topical AR-PROTAC compound developed by
the Group’s in-house PROTAC platform. We are currently
developing GT20029 for the treatment of AGA and acne

vulgaris.

e  Pruxelutamide (GT0918)
Pruxelutamide (GT0918) (X 7% B fZ) is a second generation
AR antagonist with the potential to be a best-in-class drug. We

are currently developing Pruxelutamide for the treatment of
COVID-19, mCRPC and AR+ metastatic breast cancer.

¢ Hedgehog/SMO Inhibitor (GTI708F)
Hedgehog/SMO Inhibitor (GTI708F) is an inhibitor of the
hedgehog signal transduction pathway. We are currently
developing GTI708F primarily for the treatment of idiopathic

pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) and blood cancer.
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Detorsertib (GT0486)

Detorsertib (GT0486) (G ZE &) is an inhibitor of the PI3K/
mTOR signalling pathway and a second generation mTOR
inhibitor. We are currently developing GT0486 primarily for the
treatment of metastatic solid tumours such as breast cancer

prostate cancer and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC).

ALK-1 Antibody (GT90001)

ALK-1 antibody is a new anti-angiogenesis inhibitor and a new
biological target globally that we obtained an exclusive global
licence from Pfizer in 2018. We are currently developing
ALK-1 Antibody for the treatment of metastatic HCC and a

variety of solid tumours.

PD-LI/TGF-B (GT90008)
PD-LI/TGF-B (GT90008) is a dual target antibody composed of

an antagonist antibody of PD-LI and the extracellular domain
of TGF-B with high activity in inhibiting PD-LI and TGF-8
simultaneously. It has the potential in the treatment of a variety
of solid tumours, including non-small cell lung cancer, biliary
tract cancer, triple negative breast cancer and HPV-associated
tumours such as cervical cancer and has the potential to become

a best-in-class drug.

COMPANY PROFILE
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EREHE

2022 was a challenging year for the global biomedical industry.
In the context of COVID-19 pandemic, the Company has always
been focusing on research and development, exploring deeply
in the field of androgen receptor (AR), and initially developing a
differentiated advantage in the field of dermatology and advancing
innovative therapies in other non-dermatological fields (including
COVID-19, prostate cancer, IPF, HCC, etc.), and continuing to prompt
the development in the field of macromolecules. After years of
development, the Company has accumulated ample resources in
all sectors. We are poised to meet more challenges in the medical
industry at any time, and will grasp key opportunities for development.

In 2022, the Company has achieved major breakthroughs and rapid
development in R&D pipelines, capital markets, scientific research and
academics.

In terms of product development, the Company’s diversified product
pipeline is multi-pronged, comprising small molecule and innovative
drugs, biological drugs and combination therapies. The Company are
conducting clinical research on 7 new drug candidates in China, the
United States and other countries, as well as a number of preclinical
projects.

In particular, the clinical trials of Pyrilutamide (KX-826) and
AR-PROTAC (GT20029) for the treatment of androgenetic alopecia
(“AGA") and acne showed significant progress at global level. During
the Reporting Period, the China phase Il clinical trials of KX-826
for the treatment of male AGA and female AGA respectively have
reached the primary endpoint with positive and safety profile
respectively. The phase Il clinical trial of KX-826 that we are currently
conducting for the treatment of male AGA in China and the phase ||
clinical trial conducting for the treatment of male AGA in the United
States have completed subject enroliment. On the other hand, we
have previously announced the top-line results of the phase | clinical
trial of GT20029 for the treatment of AGA and acne vulgaris in China
and the United States, respectively. Both top-line results showed that
GT20029 demonstrated good safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics
in healthy subjects and/or subjects with AGA or acne. On [4 April
2023, the phase Il clinical trial of GT20029 for the treatment of AGA
in China has completed its first subject enrollment, and GT20029
became the first topical PROTAC compound which has successfully
entered phase Il clinical trial globally. We believe that KX-826 and
GT20029 target for the big markets in China and globally, and would
solve the unmet medical needs of AGA or acne vulgaris patients.
Besides, We will actively deploy the layout of the dermatology
pipeline in China and globally, accelerate the progress of product
commercialization.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EFEH/E

In terms of capital market, the Company completed two capital
raisings in 2022, and raised approximately USDI00 million which
further enhanced the stock’s liquidity and provided financial support
to move forward our R&D. In addition, while the stock of the
Company has remained to be included in the Hang Seng Composite
Index and Hong Kong Stock Connect, (including Shanghai Hong Kong
Stock Connect and Shenzhen Hong Kong Stock Connect), it has also
been included in the MSCI China Index.

As for scientific research and academic study, the research results
of the Company has been showcased multiple times in important
academic conferences such as AACR, ASH, and AAD in the United
States. The innovation capabilities of the Company have been
recognized by the industry, and its international influence is increasing

continuously.

Looking forward to 2023, the Company will accelerate the progress
of the global clinical development of the existing product pipeline.
On the one hand, the Company will steadfastly promote the clinical
development of Pyrilutamide (KX-826) and GT20029 for the
treatment of androgenic alopecia and acne, continue to establish
our leading edge in the field of dermatology in China and the
United States; on the other hand, we will explore monotherapy and
combination therapy to further improve development efficiency in the
field of non-dermatology and the development of macromolecules
drug. We believe that preferential allocation of resources in R & D will

help the Company create a rich and balanced product pipeline.
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Since its establishment in 2009, the Group has stayed true to its
original intention and has always been committed to its mission of
“focusing on the R&D and commercialisation for the large number of
indications with unmet clinical needs”. We look forward to bringing
more innovative therapies to patients in the future, creating long-term
value for our shareholders, and achieving sustainable development of

the Company.

Yours sincerely,

Dr. Youzhi Tong

Chairman of the Board, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
28 April 2023
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBERE

Our R&D costs increased by RMB60.1 million or 7.8% from RMB767.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to RMB828.0 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022. Such costs were mainly
attributable to several ongoing phase Ill clinical trials conducted by the
Group, including Pruxelutamide for the indication of COVID-19 and
mCRPC, and KX-826 for the indication of AGA during the Reporting

Period.

The Group had cash and cash equivalents and time deposits of
RMB875.3 million as at 31 December 2022, including utilised bank
facilities of RMB276.5 million. In addition, the Group also had
unutilised bank facilities of RMB120.0 million as at 31 December 2022.
The Group has sufficient cash on hand to support the advancement of

the Group’s clinical trials and research and development.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBERE

Year ended 31 December

BZNRA3IALEE

2022 2021
2022 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR ARETTT
Revenue from out-licensing contracts HINKEESH KR - 34,231
Cost of sales il DN = -
Gross profit E 7 - 34,231
Other income b A 18,612 29311
Marketing costs 2 85 B AR (20,326) (14,698)
Administrative expenses THF X (132,249) (103,255)
Research and development costs Tt 2% kA (827,974) (767,936)
Other gains/(losses) — net Hip s,/ (&18)F58 17,408 (17,254)
Operating loss REmsE (944,529) (839,601)
Finance costs BTSN 38 (8,187) (2,494)
Share of losses of an associate and a joint venture DIEBMERTREELEEE (568) -
Loss before income tax BRITEBHRATEE (953,284) (842,095)
Income tax expense FiiEtiE R (1,085) -
Loss and total comprehensive loss for FREBRRZEHERARH
the year (954,369) (842,095)
As of 31 December
BZ12A31R
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBTT
Non-current assets EMEEE 547,267 542,094
Current assets MEEE 1,507,869 1,525,895
Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits ReRREFEMURERER 875,304 1,055,220
Non-current liabilities FRBAE 241,821 193,091
Current liabilities mEBAE 318,127 219,740
Total equity B 1,495,188 |,655,158
BAEXARAT
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BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS
ERRE

As at the date of this annual report, we have seven innovative
potential first-in-class/best-in-class drug candidates at phase I-Ill
clinical stage. Since 2022, we have been making significant progress
with respect to our drug pipelines. We have released the positive
data of multiple pipelines, such as the data of phase Il clinical trials
of KX-826 for male and female AGA in China, respectively, and the
results of phase | clinical trials of GT20029 for the treatment of AGA
and acne in both China and the U.S..

KX-826 is currently undergoing phase lll trial for male AGA patients
in China and we have completed the enrollment of 740 patients.
We also plan to initiate phase Ill trial for female AGA patients in the
second or third quarter of 2023. The previous results showed that
KX-826 demonstrated good safety, and in efficacy as measured by the
change of non-vellus TAHC at 24 weeks in comparison with that in
the placebo group, the phase Il clinical trials for the male and female
AGA in China have reached the primary endpoints. In addition, we
expect to release the top-line data of KX-826 phase Il clinical trial
for acne in China and phase Il trial for AGA in the U.S. in the second
quarter of 2023, those of two clinical trials have completed subjects
enrollment previously. GT20029 is the first topical AR-PROTAC
compound developed by the Company’s PROTAC platform. The
previously announced data from phase | clinical trial in China and
the United States showed that GT20029 demonstrated good safety,
tolerability and pharmacokinetic characteristics. On 14 April 2023,
the phase Il clinical trial of GT20029 for the treatment of AGA in
China has completed its first subject enrollment. Therefore, GT20029
became the first topical PROTAC compound in the world to enter the

Phase Il clinical trial.

The detailed progress of the product is as follows:

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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Pyrilutamide (KX-826)
AGA Indication

We have released the data of the phase Il clinical trials of Pyrilutamide
(KX-826) for male AGA and female AGA in China respectively, the
phase lll clinical trial for male AGA in China and the phase Il clinical

trial for male AGA in the U.S. have completed subjects enroliment.

*  On 28 February 2022, we enrolled and dosed the first patient
in the phase Il clinical trial of Pyrilutamide in the U.S. for the
treatment of male AGA. On | August 2022, we completed the
enroliment of all the patients, which took less than six months

amid the ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.

*  On 4 March 2022, we completed the enrollment of 160 patients
in the phase Il clinical trial of Pyrilutamide in China for the
treatment of female AGA.

* On 27 August 2022, one of the leading principal investigators
of the phase Il clinical trial of Pyrilutamide in China for the
treatment of male AGA, Professor Jianzhong Zhang (5 & )
from Peking University People's Hospital, officially released the
trial's positive results at the 6th Annual Meeting of Chinese Hair
Research Society (BERNEEZBEEEZ2MW ) The results
showed that after 24 weeks of treatment, the Smg twice daily
(BID) group had demonstrated significant improvement in non-
vellus target area hair count (TAHC), which as compared with
the baseline, increased by 22.73 hairs per cm?, P<0.00l; and
compared with placebo group, increased by 15.34 hairs per cm?,
£=0.024. No severe adverse event (SAE), serious adverse drug
reaction (SADR) or death occurred.

BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS
EBERE

E I b B (KX-826)

B 5 73 BB
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BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS
EBERE

On | December 2022, the primary endpoint of the phase Il
clinical trial of KX-826 in China for the treatment of adult female
AGA was met. KX-826 has demonstrated clinically meaningful
and statistically significant improvement in hair growth as
measured by non-vellus TAHC with favorable safety profile. The
results showed that after 24 weeks of treatment, the non-vellus
TAHC of the 5mg (0.5%) once daily (QD) group had increased
by 11.39 hair counts per cm? compared with the placebo group
from baseline, which was statistically significant (P=0.0087). In
addition, KX-826 has demonstrated efficacy as early as at the

end of week 2.

On 28 March 2023, we announced that we have completed the
enrollment of all the 740 subjects for the phase IlI clinical trial of
Pyrilutamide in China for male AGA. We expect to release the
top-line data in the fourth quarter of 2023.

Acne Vulgaris Indication

Following the preliminary positive safety and tolerability profile
demonstrated in the phase | trial of Pyrilutamide, on 24 January
2022, we enrolled and dosed the first patient in the phase I
clinical trial of Pyrilutamide in China for the treatment of acne
vulgaris, and completed the enrollment of 160 patients on 14
October 2022.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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AR-PROTAC Compound (GT20029)

On | February 2022, we enrolled and dosed the first subject
in the phase | clinical trial of GT20029 for the treatment of
AGA and acne vulgaris in the U.S.. On 25 October 2022, we

completed the enrollment and dosing of all of 123 subjects.

On 8 August 2022, we completed the enrollment and dosing of
all of 92 subjects for the phase | clinical trial of GT20029 for the

treatment of AGA and acne vulgaris in China.

On 24 November 2022, we announced the top-line results of
the phase | clinical trial of GT20029 for the treatment of AGA
and acne vulgaris in China. The results showed that GT20029
demonstrated good safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics in

healthy subjects.

On 10 February 2023, we announced the top-line results of
the phase | clinical trial of GT20029 for the treatment of AGA
and acne vulgaris in the U.S.. The results showed that GT20029
demonstrated good safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics
following single ascending dose (SAD) administration in healthy
subjects and multiple ascending dose (MAD) administration in

subjects with AGA or acne vulgaris.

On 14 April 2023, we completed the first subject enrollment in
the phase Il clinical trial of GT20029 for the treatment of AGA in
China.

Pruxelutamide (GT0918)
COVID-19 Indication

On 6 April 2022, the Company announced the key data of
the phase lll clinical trial of Pruxelutamide in patients with mild
to moderate COVID-19 indication. Based on the results, we
are seeking the conditional approval or EUA from NMPA and

Southeast Asian countries.

BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS
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BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS
EBERE

MCRPC Indication

*  We are conducting the multi-center; randomised and double-
blind phase Il clinical trial of Pruxelutamide in combination
therapy with Abiraterone as a first-line combination therapy in
China. On 24 February 2022, we completed the enrollment of
718 patients in such clinical trial. We expect to complete the trial
in the second half of 2023 or the first half of 2024. In addition,
the phase Il clinical trial of Pruxelutamide as the second-line
therapy for the treatment of Enzalutamide or Abiraterone
resistant mCRPC patients which is currently underway in the
United States is nearly finished. We will continue to focus on
the research and development of innovative therapies for the
treatment of prostate cancer to provide patients with more

treatment options.

GTI708F
*  We are currently exploring and developing GTI708F for the

treatment of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) and searching for
combination therapy. Based on the safety profile of GTI708F in
blood cancer, we are preparing documents for the application of

|PF clinical trial.

*  We have commenced the phase | clinical trial with multiple
ascending dose (MAD) administration in patients with blood
cancer. Such patients had previously received multiple lines of
treatment. GTI708F has been shown to reduce blast counts in
three out of thirteen AML patients treated with higher doses
and demonstrated favorable pharmacokinetics (PK) and safety
profiles in previous studies. Such preclinical data from GTI708F
have been presented at the 2023 American Association of
Cancer Research (AACR) Annual Meeting.

For details of any of the foregoing, please refer to the rest of
this annual report and, where applicable, the Company's prior
announcements published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and

the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEFNWED N

OVERVIEW

We are a clinical-stage novel drug developer in China focusing on
developing potential first-in-class/best-in-class drugs for unmet clinical
needs. We are committed to becoming a leader in the research,
development and commercialisation of innovative therapies. Our
pipelines cover indications of AGA, acne vulgaris, COVID-19, mCRPC,
HCC and other related indications.

During the Reporting Period, the China phase Il clinical trials of
Pyrilutamide, our first Core Product, for the treatment of male AGA
and female AGA have reached the primary endpoint with positive
safety profile, respectively. The detailed data of the two trials have
been disclosed. Based on the positive results of the male AGA phase
Il clinical trial, the Company is conducting the phase Il clinical trial
for the treatment of male AGA in China and has completed the
enrollment of 740 patients. The data readout is expected in the fourth
quarter of 2023. Based on the positive results of the female phase |I
clinical trial, the Company is planning to conduct the phase I clinical
trial for the treatment of female AGA in China in the second or third
quarter of 2023. Previously, the phase Il clinical trial for the treatment
of male AGA in the United States has completed subjects enroliment.
In addition, the top-line data of the phase Il trial of KX-826 for the
treatment of acne vulgaris in China will be released in the second
quarter of 2023.

Meanwhile, the phase | clinical trials of AR-PROTAC compound
GT20029, our second Core Product, for the treatment of AGA and
acne vulgaris in China and the U.S. have been completed, and we have
announced the positive top-line results respectively. Based on such
positive safety data, we have initiated the phase Il clinical trial in China
for the treatment of AGA and completed the first subject enroliment.
In the meantime, we are actively seeking potential collaboration
opportunities for Pyrilutamide and GT20029 in China and globally to

speed up the commercialization.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERWED T

The phase Il trial of Pruxelutamide, our third Core Product, for
COVID-19 indication was completed with promising results, and
we have announced the top-line results. We are currently seeking
the conditional approval or EUA from NMPA and Southeast Asian

countries.

In the capital market, the stock of the Company has been included in
the MSCI China Index and Shanghai-Hong Kong Stock Connect, and
we completed two placings in 2022 raised approximately USDI00
million, which further enhanced the stock’s liquidity and provide

financial support to move forward our R&D.

Product Pipeline

Our pipeline includes a risk-balanced and diversified portfolio of drug
candidates. The Company strategically targets AGA, acne, COVID-19,
MCRPC and other indications with substantial market potential and
unmet medical needs. The following chart sets forth a summary of our
drug candidates as well as their respective mechanism, indications and

development progresses:
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EmER
BMNERBERRSE AL LMY A
& WER AR E - BB - COVID-19 »
mCRPC K H th 18 B8 @ B AiE - M58 I KR 2
BEFRER -TRHEFIKMEHEDRHEE
BHE - ERELRFAZEROME:

b IND Filin
Drug Candidate Target/Mechanism Indication ;oufl &y Cr re | (Filed)| 2 Phase | Phase Il  Phase lll NDA
egion inical AT
Androgenetic alopecia (Male) China \
Androgenetic alopecia (Female) China Data readout on Dec 1, 2022 ‘
lamide AR antagonit Androgenetic alopecia (Male) us \ \
W (kx-s26) (for external use) g p Completed patients enrollment on Aug 1, 2022
8 Acne vulgaris China \ \
3}
E Acne vulgaris us _ ‘ ‘ ‘
g Androgenetic alopecia China Completed FPl on Apr 14, 2023 ‘ ‘
ARPROTAC  ARLPROTAC Acne wigari Crins | |
(6T20029)  compound Androgenetic alopecia us \ \
" Acne vulgaris us Positive top- line data released on Feb 10, 2023 ‘ ‘
8 ——————
8 COVID-19 Intl
%
5 | pruxelutamide  second generation AR _COMbination therapy with Abiraterone for mCRPC China
£ |1 Grootg antagonist mCRPC us
[v]
E Combination therapy with Exemestane, Letrozole and China
% Fulvestrant for metastatic breast cancer Completsdpatientslenuiinenton’Augi2s 20 ‘
s Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) China
5| gT1708F" ?&dog?h;g./ - SEe———
z inhibitor Blood cancer China Explore combination therapy
il |
D;_:g;sse:'b mTOR kinase inhibitor Metastatic solid tumours China Completed FPI on Feb 18, 2021
Combination therapy with a PD-1 for metastatic HCC (2L) Taiwan
a -
2 a;'_:_(ggom) Angiogenesis inhibitor Combination therapy with a PD-1 for metastatic HCC (2L) US & Intl
o
s Combination therapy with a PD-1 for metastatic HCC ~ China
@
GT90008 fz:Drélé‘ltiéggf\;?bgg)all Multiple types of solid tumours China ‘
w Gihdinhibitogsy Blood cancer and solid tumors - ‘ ‘ ‘
E molecular glue
'T; PROTAC compounds  External therapy _ ‘ ‘ ‘ ‘ ‘
@ - —_—
£ ALK-1/VEGF bispecific ¢ 0o - ‘ ‘ ‘ ‘ ‘

antibody

Note:1.In addition, IND for basal-cell carcinoma indication has been cleared by FDA in the U.S.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

As at the date of this annual report, we have developed a pipeline

of seven clinical-stage drug candidates, for which we had obtained

approvals to commence clinical trials in China (including Taiwan),

the U.S. and other countries and regions. These clinical-stage drug
candidates include Pyrilutamide, GT20029, Pruxelutamide, Hedgehog/
SMO inhibitor, mTOR kinase inhibitor; ALK-1 antibody and PD-LI/
TGF-3 dual targeting antibody, the details of which are set out as

follows:

Main Products
e Pyrilutamide (KX-826)

KX-826 is a topical treatment to locally block the androgen

mediated signaling instead of reducing androgen level

systematically, and its metabolite has substantially reduced AR

agonist activity in vivo, thereby reducing its side effects.

We are currently developing Pyrilutamide in tincture and gel as a

potential first-in-class topical drug for the treatment of AGA and

acne vulgaris. Its patent is valid until 8 September 2030.

E 3 JEI)

RAFHRBE - BAFIE R L7 E KRR 5
W WEFRBR(BEAE)  EEREMBEKAM
i [ X 1S & IR & B ot o 2 B R IR B ER AL B
Y BFERERME - GT20029 « 7w & K -
Hedgehog/SMO 00 il Bl + mTOR 2 Bg #P & & -
ALK-131 88 K PD-LI/TGF-BEE L BE 4 B2 - H 1B
ER7lp NE

FEEm

o 15 it B (KX-826)
RintEE—ERAEEHERENTERE
SREVRBRTIA - M IR R AR M PR AR HE R F K
o ARFOAKRBEEEBANARZEE
AN R EEIER -

B AP B A IE BL BT B K % B B B 4m B BE
BB MR E R B ER S E A YN B
¥ o HEF| B WEI Z2030F9H8H -

BMHAEEERAR
F 3R 2022

19



20

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENRED T

AGA Indication

According to a paper published in 2022 , the prevalence of
AGA in China is approximately 27.5% in males and 8.1% in

females.

Mechanism

Where AGA occurs, the androgen binds to the AR in
the hair follicle cells, and the AR undergoes a complex
enzymatic reaction and forms an AR complex. The AR
complex enters the nucleus, binds to a specific hormone-
responsive element of the gene locus, induces or inhibits
the transcription of the target gene, and synthesises specific
messenger RNA (mRNA) and corresponding proteins,
such as different kinds of cytokines. This regulates cell
proliferation and differentiation, which causes the hair to
prematurely enter into a resting period and shrinks hair
follicles. The hair in the growing period gradually becomes
thinner and hair follicles shrink and disappear, resulting in
AGA. Abnormal changes in systemic and local androgen
metabolism are important factors in the pathogenesis
of AGA, and dihydrotestosterone (“DHT") catalysed by
androgen by 5a-reductase is an important molecule leading
to AGA. AR is recognised as a risk factor for AGA. KX-826
is for topical application to locally block the androgen
mediated signaling by competing androgen to bind to AR in

the targeted tissues.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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Previous Clinical Trials

On 27 August 2022, Professor Jianzhong Zhang from Peking
University People’s Hospital, one of the leading principal
investigators of the phase Il clinical trial of Pyrilutamide in
China for the treatment of male AGA patients, officially
released the positive results of the trial at the 6th Annual
Meeting of Chinese Hair Research Society (75 E £ B F
EZ8ME=H)

A total of 120 male AGA subjects who have met Hamilton-
Norwood Scale lllv to V were enrolled in the trial. Among
them, 90 subjects were randomly assigned to three
treatment groups, including KX-826 2.5mg (0.25%) BID,
KX-826 5mg (0.5%) QD and KX-826 5mg (0.5%) BID;
and the remaining 30 subjects were randomly assigned to
placebo groups (QD or BID). The primary endpoint for the
trial is the change from baseline in non-vellus TAHC after

24 weeks of treatment in comparison to placebo.

»  For efficacy, after 24 weeks of treatment, the KX-826
(0.5%) 5mg BID group demonstrated significant
improvement in non-vellus TAHC, which increased
by 22.73 hairs per cm?, P<0.001 as compared with
the baseline, and 15.34 hairs per cm?, P=0.024 as
compared with the placebo group. KX-826 (0.5%) 5
mg BID was recommended and determined as the
male AGA phase lIl dose.

* The overall safety profile of KX-826 was good
and manageable. No SAE, adverse drug reaction
(ADR), nor death occurred. After |4 days of topical
application, the systemic exposure of KX-826 and its
metabolites in vivo reached a steady state, and the
drug concentration in blood in each dose group was

low.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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On | December 2022, we announced that the primary
endpoint of the phase Il clinical trial of KX-826 in China for

the treatment of adult female AGA was met.

A total of 160 female AGA subjects who have met Savin
Scale D3-Dé were enrolled in the trial. Among them, 119
subjects were randomly assigned to four treatment groups,
including KX-826 2.5mg (0.25%) QD, KX-826 2.5mg
(0.25%) BID, KX-826 5mg (0.5%) QD and KX-826 5mg
(0.5%) BID; and the remaining 41 subjects were randomly
assigned to placebo groups (QD and BID). The primary
endpoint for the trial is the change from baseline in non-
vellus TAHC after 24 weeks of treatment in comparison to

placebo.

*  For efficacy, the results showed that after 24 weeks
of treatment, the non-vellus TAHC of the 5mg (0.5%)
QD group had increased by 11.39 hair counts per
cm? compared with the placebo group from baseline,
which was statistically significant (P=0.0087). In
additional, KX-826 has demonstrated efficacy as early

as week 12.

*  For safety, the overall profile of KX-826 was favorable.
The majority of treatment emerged adverse events
(“TEAE") were mild and similar to those of placebo.
No TEAE resulting in patient withdrawal or death

from the trial was reported.
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Ongoing or Planned Clinical Trials

Previously, the phase Il clinical trial for the treatment of
male AGA in the United States has completed subjects
enrollment, and we expect to release the top-line data in
the second quarter of 2023.

On 24 November 2021, we announced that the pivotal
study (phase Il clinical trial) of Pyrilutamide for the
treatment of male AGA patients was granted clearance by
NMPA, so that KX-826 became the first topical antagonist
which has entered phase Il clinical trial of AGA globally.
The phase Il clinical trial is a randomized, double-blind,
placebo-controlled, multi-center study designed to evaluate
the efficacy and safety of KX-826 for treating male AGA
subjects in China. The primary endpoint for the trial is the
change from baseline in non-vellus TAHC after 24 weeks of
treatment in comparison to placebo. As at the date of this
annual report, we have completed the enrollment of total
740 patients.

Meanwhile, we are planning to conduct phase Il clinical trial
for the treatment of female AGA patients in China in the
second or third quarter of 2023 based on the positive data

from previous clinical trials.

Acne vulgaris indication

Acne vulgaris is the eighth most prevalent disease in the
world which is particularly common among adolescents
and young adults. Acne vulgaris affects more than 9.4% of
the global population. The pathogenesis of acne vulgaris is
complicated. The influence of androgen and its receptor
signaling pathway on sebaceous glands and sebum secretion
is one of the important factors causing acne vulgaris. The
U.S. FDA approved the first androgen receptor (AR)
antagonist over the past 40 years for the treatment of acne
in August 2020, which had paved the way for our ongoing
clinical trials in China. To date, there has been significant
unmet medical needs as no effective topical AR antagonist

was approved for the acne vulgaris treatment in China.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Pyrilutamide is a well-targeted topical AR antagonist, which
competitively inhibits the combination of androgen with
the AR in the skin tissue and is able to topically control
the activation of the AR signal pathway caused by the
excessive level of androgen without affecting the activity
of the AR signal pathway in human body. Through external
application, Pyrilutamide is able to inhibit the combination
of AR with androgen in hair follicle sebaceous glands for the

treatment of acne vulgaris.

The phase | trial of Pyrilutamide as treatment for the
acne vulgaris was commenced in China on 16 April 2021,
which has demonstrated a preliminary positive safety and
tolerability profile in terms of dose-escalation and dosing
frequency. On 14 October 2022, we completed the
enrollment of 160 patients for the phase Il clinical trial of
Pyrilutamide in China for the treatment of acne vulgaris.
Data readout of this trial is expected in the first half year of
2023.

AR-PROTAC Compound (GT20029)

GT20029 has the potential to become a new generation of
treatment for AGA and acne wvulgaris. GT20029 is a topical
AR-PROTAC compound developed by the Group's in-house
PROTAC platform. It is also the first topical PROTAC compound
in the world which has entered phase Il clinical stage, and
completed phase | clinical trial in both China and the US. as
well as completed the first subject enroliment of phase Il clinical
trial in China. By degrading AR protein, GT20029 can block
the shrinkage and miniaturization of hair follicles caused by
the activation of AR signaling pathway. As a result, it prevents
hair from thinning, softening and falling out. GT20029 can also
effectively inhibit sebaceous gland development and sebum
secretion. It has a topical curative effect and can avoid systemic
exposure by limiting skin penetration, and thus achieving good
safety profile. The repeated pharmacodynamics studies in DHT-
induced mouse model showed that GT20029 significantly
promotes hair growth with statistical difference. The study of
testosterone propionate (“TP")-induced skin hamster flank organ
acne model showed that GT20029 significantly inhibited the

enlargement of the flank organ, with statistical difference.
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On 24 November 2022, we announced the top-line results of
the phase | clinical trial of GT20029 for the treatment of AGA
and acne vulgaris in China. The results showed that GT20029
demonstrated good safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics
in healthy subjects. Following a single dose administration, all
subjects had no detectable drug concentrations (below lower
limit of quantification (“LLOQ"), 0.00Ing/mL) at all dose levels.
Following multiple-doses topical administration, the mean
maximum drug concentrations of all cohorts were lower than
0.05ng/mL. All treatment related adverse events (“TRAE”) were
grade |.

On 10 February 2023, we announced the top-line results of
the phase | clinical trial of GT20029 for the treatment of AGA
and acne vulgaris in the U.S.. The results showed that GT20029
demonstrated good safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics
following topical single ascending dose (“SAD™) administration
in healthy subjects and multiple ascending dose (“MAD")
administration in subjects with AGA or acne vulgaris. In the SAD
stage, subjects had no systemic exposure at all dose levels, and
all sample concentrations were below the LLOQ (0.003 ng/mL).
In the MAD stage, after 14 days of continuous administration in
subjects with AGA or acne vulgaris, the systemic exposure was
limited and the mean maximum observed concentration (Cmax)
of all dose levels fluctuated near the LLOQ, with the highest
not exceeding 0.015 ng/mL. No TEAE relating to GT20029 in
the SAD stage was reported. Most of the TEAEs in the MAD
stage were mild, including dryness, itching, burning and pain
at application sites. No SAE, severe TEAE (Grade =3), subject
withdrawal or death caused by TEAE were reported.

We have completed the first subject enroliment for the phase |l
clinical trial for the treatment of AGA in China on 4 April 2023.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENRED T

e  Pruxelutamide (GT0918)

Pruxelutamide is a second-generation AR antagonist as well as an
ACE2 and TMPRSS2 degrader with the potential to be a best-
in-class drug. We are currently developing Pruxelutamide for the
treatment of COVID-19, mCRPC and AR+ metastatic breast
cancer. Its patent is valid until 8 March 2032.

i. Indication of COVID-19
On 6 April 2022, the Company announced the top-line

results of phase Il clinical trial of Pruxelutamide in patients
with mild to moderate COVID-19. Based on the results, we
are seeking the conditional approval or EUA from NMPA

and Southeast Asian countries.

As the COVID-19 pandemic has alleviated since early 2023,
the prevention and control measures are gradually loosened
worldwide and there is lower expectation of another wave
in the short period of time. In addition, the competition in
the COVID-19 oral small molecule drug market is fierce,
and many new COVID-19 oral small molecule drugs
have obtained marketing approvals globally and in China.
Considering the Company’s current financial situation, we
have decided to reduce the expenditure in the COVID-I9

clinical trials of Pruxelutamide.
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Indication of MCRPC and AR+ metastatic breast

cancer

Pruxelutamide is a potential best-in-class small molecule
AR antagonist based on well-researched mechanism.
Pruxelutamide has a novel chemical structure and
constitutes a dual-action mechanism which not only
inhibits androgen from binding to AR, but also reduces AR
expression. We developed Pruxelutamide for the treatment
of mCRPC and AR+ metastatic breast cancer.

Our pre-clinical and clinical research on Pruxelutamide for
prostate cancer and AR+ breast cancer were recognised
as a Science and Technology Major Project for “Major New
Drugs Innovation and Development” (28 KX ¥ 828 &1 &}
B E RZEIF) in 2011 and 2017, respectively.

We are conducting a multi-center, randomised, double-
blind phase Il clinical trial for Pruxelutamide in combination
therapy with Abiraterone for mCRPC as a first-line
combination therapy, and the phase Il clinical trial has
completed 718 patients enrollment on 24 February 2022.
We expect to finish the clinical stage work by the second
half of 2023 or the first half year of 2024. The phase I
clinical trial of Pruxelutamide as second-line therapy for
the treatment of Enzalutamide or Abiraterone resistant
mCRPC patients which is currently underway in the United

States is nearly finished.

We are carrying out an open and multi-center phase
Ic clinical trial to evaluate the safety, pharmacokinetic
characteristics and initial efficacy of Pruxelutamide in
combination with Exemestane, Letrozole and Fulvestrant
in patients with AR+ metastatic breast cancer. The trial
has completed patients enrollment on 25 August 2021,
and we are conducting data analysis for the publication or

presentation at a medical conference in the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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e GTI708F (Hedgehog/SMO Inhibitor)

GTI708F is an inhibitor of the hedgehog signal transduction
pathway. We are currently developing GT1708F primarily for the

treatment of IPF and blood cancer.

i. IPF Indication

The global incidence rate of IPF reaches 14 to 43 per
100,000 people. The incidence rate in China reaches
2 to 29 per 100,000 people, which means around 28
to 406 thousand patients in total. GTI708F affects the
activity of Hh pathway and expression of the relevant
downstream proteins by inhibiting the activity of SMO
protein. Reactivation of the Hh signaling pathway is a feature
of fibrotic lung tissue in IPF which inhibits the increase in
fibroblast migration and proliferation. Many nonclinical
studies have shown that the Hh signaling pathway plays a
crucial role in IPF. According to reports, in IPF tissue, the
expression of genes or proteins such as SMO and Glil is
higher than that in normal lung tissue, and after stimulating
Hh pathway in pulmonary fibrosis cells isolated from lung
tissue of patients suffering from IPF, the expression of
SMO and Glil proteins and genes is increased. In-vitro
study showed that GTI708F could significantly decrease
the expression of Glil, Gli2 and pulmonary fibrosis related
a-SMA protein .

The results of the bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis
model on Sprague—Dawley(SD) rats showed that after
GTI1708F treatment, the damage of the terminal bronchial
wall and pulmonary arteriole wall and inflammatory cell
infiltration (in the lesion and on the edge of the lesion) were
effectively improved. Compared with the active comparator
nintedanib, different doses of GTI708F have similar
improvement effects on lung damage and inflammatory cell
infiltration. In addition, GTI708F can significantly improve
the degree of pulmonary fibrosis (P<0.001).

We are exploring combination therapy and preparing

documents for the application of IPF clinical trial.
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ii. Blood Cancer Indication

We have obtained IND approval for GTI708F for the
treatment of blood cancer from NMPA and are conducting
phase | clinical trial which contains single dose and multiple

dose escalation stages.

GTI1708F was studied in a phase | clinical trial of acute
myeloid leukemia (AML) patients with previous multiple
lines of regimens. GT1708F has been shown to reduce blast
counts in 3 of I3 AML patients treated with higher doses
and demonstrated favorable pharmacokinetics (PK) and
safety profiles. The latest preclinical data from GTI708F
has been presented at the 2023 American Association of
Cancer Research Annual Meeting to be held on 14 to 19
April 2023.

ALK-1 Antibody (GT90001)

ALK-1 antibody is a fully human IgG2 neutralising monoclonal
antibody that inhibits ALK-1/TGF-f3 signal transduction and tumor
angiogenesis and a potential first-in-class antibody for which the
Company obtained an exclusive global license of ALK-1 for all the
oncological areas from Pfizer in February 2018. ALK-1 antibody
has the potential to become the first fully human monoclonal
antibody therapeutic drug for ALK-| target, which can potentially
be used in combination with PD-I inhibitors or VEGF inhibitors

for the treatment of a variety of solid tumours.

In Taiwan, China, our phase Il clinical trial of ALK-I antibody and
Nivolumab combination therapy for the treatment of advanced
HCC has completed the last patient last visit on 7 July 2022.
Previously, the preliminary data were released at the 202|
American Society of Clinical Oncology Gastrointestinal Cancers
Symposium (ASCO-GI). The results showed that among the
20 evaluable patients, 8 patients (40.0%) were observed partial

remission (PR).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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In the U.S. we obtained IND approval for the combination
therapy of ALK-1 antibody and Nivolumab for a global multi-
center phase Il clinical trial for the second-line treatment of
advanced HCC and completed the first patient dosing. In China,
we also obtained approval for the clinical trial of combination
therapy of ALK-1 antibody and Nivolumab for the treatment of
advanced HCC,

Other Clinical Stage Products
Detorsertib (GT0486) is an inhibitor of the PI3K/mTOR signaling

pathway and a second generation mTOR inhibitor. We are currently
developing GT0486 primarily for the treatment of metastatic solid
tumours such as breast cancer, prostate cancer and HCC. We
received the IND approval from NMPA for Detorsertib and the phase

| clinical trial is currently at the dose escalation stage.

PD-LI/TGF-3 (GT90008) is a dual-targeting antibody licensed
from Gensun Biopharma Inc. (“Gensun”) which is composed of an
antagonist antibody of PD-LI and the extracellular domain of TGF-3
with high activity in inhibiting PD-LI and TGF-B3 simultaneously. The
compound has the potential in the treatment of a variety of solid
tumours, including non-small cell lung cancer, biliary tract cancer, triple
negative breast cancer and HPV-associated tumours such as cervical
cancer and has the potential to become a best-in-class drug. On 21|
October 2021, the clinical trial of GT90008 for the treatment of
advanced solid tumours was approved by NMPA.

Pre-Clinical Stage Products

In addition to the drug candidates described above, we are also at
the discovery stage for the development of other potential drug
candidates, including c-Myc inhibitor, compound of other targets
(such as -Myc) out of PROTAC platform and ALK-1/VEGF bispecific
antibody for the treatment of multiple indications such as blood

cancer and solid tumours, respectively.
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WARNING UNDER RULE 18A.08(3) OF THE LISTING
RULES: WE MAY NOT BE ABLE TO ULTIMATELY
DEVELOP AND MARKET OUR DRUG CANDIDATES
(INCLUDING OUR CORE PRODUCTS) SUCCESSFULLY

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

We have established an integrated R&D platform to support our
drug development programmes from discovery to clinical stage. We
conduct proprietary laboratory research to identify and select new
compounds as our potential drug candidates, and we manage our drug
development process primarily using our internal R&D resources to

ensure that the quality standards we have set internally will be met.

Through the development of Pruxelutamide and Pyrilutamide, we
have accumulated significant expertise in AR-related know-how and
have developed a leading AR technology platform. We believe that
we have accumulated industry-leading expertise in the field of AR
signaling pathway, molecule design and PK/PD modelling. Leveraging
our AR technology platform, we have successfully progressed
Pruxelutamide to phase Ill clinical stage in China, the U.S. and global,
and have also developed Pyrilutamide for AGA and acne vulgaris
treatment. As at the date of this annual report, we have successfully
progressed Pyrilutamide to phase Il clinical trial for the treatment
of male AGA patients for which we has completed 740 subjects
enroliment, phase Il clinical trial for the treatment of female AGA
patients which has reached the primary endpoint and positive data of
which have been released, and phase Il clinical trial for the treatment
of acne vulgaris in China and phase Il clinical trial for the treatment of
AGA in the U.S. for which we have completed subject enrollment in
China.

PROTAC is a novel drug discovery technology platform for targeting
and/or degrading undruggable and oncogene mutant drivers that drive
the resistance to the targeted therapies. We are currently employing
the PROTAC technology with an aim to develop the compounds
targeting AR and other targets for patients with unmet medical needs
globally. We have developed AR-PROTAC for AGA and acne vulgaris
and have released its phase | results of its clinical trials in China and
the US. We are conducting phase Il clinical trial for the treatment of

male AGA and have completed the first subject enroliment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENRED T

By in-licensing and developing ALK-I antibody, we have gradually
established and expanded our R&D capabilities in the field of
macromolecules drugs. We have carried forward ALK-1 antibody
to phase Il clinical trial. In addition, we also introduced the second
biological drug, PD-LI/TGF-3 dual-targeting antibody, for the
treatment of multiple solid tumors. We expanded our geographical
presence to the Zhuhai International Health Port through our
subsidiary, which will focus on tumor immunity and promote the
clinical R&D, production and commercialization of the Group's
biological drugs. This is a step forward in our strategy to enrich our

drug pipeline.

Our R&D work is led by Dr. TONG, and several experienced
returnee scientists who have accumulated decades of pharmaceutical
R&D and entrepreneurship experience in reputable pharma and
biotech companies in the U.S. and together provide us with integrated
expertise covering small molecule, biologics, and compound design. As
part of our global expansion strategy, our various products have been
granted IND approvals in multiple countries and regions and our in-
house R&D team has collaborated with local and overseas CROs to
conduct MRCTs of drug candidates.

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022, our research and
development expenses were approximately RMB767.9 million and
RMB828.0 million, respectively.

MANUFACTURING AND
COMMERCIALISATION

We plan to use our in-house production and R&D base in Suzhou
and Pinghu in China for the manufacture of APIs and products
for Pruxelutamide and Pyrilutamide. On 28 August 2020, our
manufacturing and R&D facility in Suzhou commenced operations
in preparation for the production of Pruxelutamide. In November
2020, our Suzhou production and R&D base was granted the
Pharmaceutical Production License issued by Jiangsu Medical Products
Administration. In July 2022, the Pinghu industrial base held its
foundation stone laying ceremony, which marked the official start of

construction.
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As at the date of this annual report, we had not commercialised any of
our drug candidates. We plan to prepare the commercialization of our

products through both distribution and license-out partnerships.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Overview

We currently have no drugs approved for commercial sale and have
not generated any revenue from drug sales for the year ended 3|
December 2022. We have never generated any profit since our
inception. Our loss and total comprehensive loss were RMB842.1
million and RMB954.4 million for the years ended 31 December 2021
and 2022, respectively. Our operating losses mainly resulted from
R&D costs (primarily consisting of clinical research expenses) and

administrative expenses.

Cost of Sales

We did not record any cost of sales for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021,

Other Income

Our other income primarily consisted of government grants and
interest income from bank balances. Our other income decreased by
RMBI0.7 million or 36.5% from RMB29.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2021 to RMBI8.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2022, which was mainly attributable to (i) a RMB4.9 million decrease
in government grants which we have received to compensate for the
expenses of our Group's research and development; (i) a RMB3.0
million decrease in interest income from time deposits as a result
of our decreased bank balances in time deposit account during the
Reporting Period; and (iii) a RMB2.I million decrease in interest
income from bank balances primarily as a result of the decrease of our

bank balances.
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Marketing Costs

Our marketing costs primarily consisted of (i) salaries and other
benefits of our sales and marketing team; and (ii) administrative
expenses including business trip expenses and other business
development expenses. Our marketing costs increased from RMBI14.7
million for the year ended 3| December 2021 to RMB20.3 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022, which was mainly attributable to
(i) an increase of RMB2.4 million in salary of our sales and marketing
team in preparation for commercialisation of the Company's drug
candidates; and (i) an increase of RMB3.2 million in RSU expenses
partially offset by a decrease of RMB0.8 million of administrative costs
which includes business development expenses, traveling expenses,
office expenses and other expenses incurred by marketing staff for

marketing and business development purposes.

Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses during the Reporting Period primarily
consisted of (i) employee benefit expenses, which primarily comprised
compensation for management and executives (including share-
based compensation expenses relating to the Employee Incentive
Scheme); (i) utilities and office expenses; (iii) depreciation and
amortization, which primarily comprised depreciation of right-of-use
assets and property, plant and equipment in relation to properties
for administrative use; and (iv) other miscellaneous administrative
expenses such as repair and maintenance expenses, professional

advisory expenses, and materials and consumables expenses.
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The following table sets forth a breakdown of our administrative TREIRARFERSBERMAITRAX 25
expenses, by amount and as a percentage of our total administrative BB DT A4

expenses, for the years indicated:

For the year ended

BETIBAHLEFE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 % RMB'000 %
AR®BT % ARETT %
Employee benefit expenses BERMAX 50,114 37.9 40,535 39.3
Add: share-based AR A E R
compensation expenses B A 2 29,789 22.5 11,949 1.6
Employee benefit expenses B ERFFE(BIENAK
(including share-based o B HE A BN B 2 )
compensation expenses) 79,903 60.4 52,484 509
Utilities and office expenses KEE KB AR
(Note) (Mg 3E) 19,328 14.6 21,033 204
Depreciation and amortization 3T & I ## § 8,878 6.7 5778 5.6
Others H A 24,140 18.3 23,960 231
Total wat 132,249 100.0 103,255 100.0

Note: The line item “utilities and office expenses” included short-term and low-value Mizr: DREZBRBARXIBEEBREAEEEHRIEE
lease rental expenses incurred by the Group. EHREEANHEERS -

BARERXARAT
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Our administrative expenses increased by RMB29.0 million or 28.1%
from RMBI03.3 million for the year ended 3| December 202| to
RMBI132.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, which was
mainly attributable to (i) a RMB274 million increase in employee
benefit expenses primarily resulting from new recruitments and
annual adjustment of remuneration for all employees and the grant
of RSUs to qualified senior management employees according to
the Employee Incentive Scheme on 8 October 2022; (i) a RMB3.|
million increase in deprecation and amortisation; and (i) a RMBO0.2
million increase in other administrative expenses primarily relating to
the increase in the repair and maintenance expenses incurred for our
self-owned properties, and the increase in our professional advisory
expenses such as compliance consulting fees, legal consulting fees and
construction and environment consulting fees, as well as the increase
in our materials and consumables expenses in line with the fast-paced
development of our business, partially offset by a RMBI.7 million
decrease in utilities and office expenses, which relates to a decrease in

recruitment, travel and supplies expenses.
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R&D Costs
Our R&D costs during the Reporting Period primarily consisted of (i)

clinical research expenses, which primarily consisted of fees paid to
CROs for clinical trials and the hospitals in which we conducted our
clinical trials; (i) materials and consumables expenses in connection
with our R&D; (iii) write-down of inventories to net realisable
value; (iv) employee benefit expenses, which primarily consisted
of compensation to R&D personnel (including the share-based
compensation expenses for the Employee Incentive Scheme); (v)
third-party contracting fees, which primarily consisted of fees paid
to CROs and CMOs for purposes of preclinical trials; and (vi) other
R&D costs, which primarily consisted of utilities and office expenses in
relation to R&D use, depreciation of right-of-use assets in relation to
our leased properties for R&D use and depreciation of our laboratory
equipment. The following table sets forth a breakdown of our R&D
costs, by amount and as a percentage of our total R&D costs, for the
periods indicated:
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For the year ended

BETIAHLFEE
2022 2021
20225 20214F

RMB’000 % RMB'000 %

AR®TR % ARETT %

Clinical research expenses B PR B 75 7 X 410,028 49.5 448,870 584

Materials and consumables ME R FEM R

expenses 109,766 13.3 146,433 [9.1
Write-down of inventories to WORTFEZERA#RFE

net realisable value 92,986 11.2 0.0

Employee benefit expenses BRERMAX 98,848 1.9 76,659 10.0
Add: share-based o0 s BARR D A 2 1 A 3 B

compensation expenses -3 57,229 7.0 19,929 2.6
Employee benefit expenses EERANAX(BEARK
(including share-based 17 % B B 0 3 B A =)

compensation expenses) 156,077 18.9 96,588 2.6

Third party contracting fees FE=FEHEHR 35,787 4.3 59,419 7.7

Others HAh 23,330 2.8 16,626 2.2

Total Bt 827,974 100.0 767936 100.0
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Our R&D costs increased by RMB60.1 million or 7.8% from RMB767.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to RMB828.0 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022, which was mainly attributable
to (i) an increase of RMB93.0 million in write-down of inventories
to net realisable value; and (ii) an increase of RMB59.5 million in
R&D employee benefit expenses primarily due to the expansion of
our R&D personnel and the grant of RSUs to certain of our R&D
employees under the Employee Incentive Scheme, partially offset
by (i) a decrease of RMB23.6 million for third party contracting fees
primarily consisting of fees paid to CROs and CMOs for preclinical
trials; (i) a decrease of RMB38.8 million in clinical research expenses
primarily paid to hospitals and CROs in relation to clinical trials for
Pruxelutamide for the COVID-19 indication, and (i) a decrease
of RMB36.7 million in materials and consumables used for R&D

purposes.

Other Gains/Losses — Net
We had other gains of RMBI74 million for the year ended 3l

December 2022 primarily as a result of net foreign exchange gains due
to exchange rates movement. We had other losses of RMBI7.3 million
for the year ended 3| December 2021.

Finance Costs

Our finance costs during the Reporting Period primarily consisted of
interest expense from bank borrowings. Our finance costs increased
by RMB5.7 million or 228.0% from RMB2.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021 to RMB8.2 million for the year ended 3|
December 2022, which was mainly attributable to the increase in

interest expense from borrowings.

Income Tax Expenses

We did not have any income tax expenses for the year ended 3|
December 2021 as we incurred a net loss. Our income tax expenses
for the year ended 31 December 2022 were RMBI.I million, which
consisted of income tax expense paid for service fee received
by Kintor Pharmaceuticals Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, from the Company for the purpose of general R&D
activities in the US which was recognised as revenue, and income
tax paid for the government grants received by a subsidiary of our

Company.
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Net Loss for the Reporting Period

Our net loss increased by RMBI12.3 million or 13.3% from RMB842.1
million for the year ended 3| December 202! to RMB954.4 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

Non-IFRS Measure

To supplement the Group'’s consolidated financial statements, which
are presented in accordance with the IFRS, the Company also uses
adjusted loss and total comprehensive loss for the Reporting Period
and other adjusted figures as additional financial measures, which
are not required by, or presented in accordance with, the IFRS.
The Company believes that these adjusted measures provide useful
information to Shareholders and potential investors in understanding
and evaluating the Group’s consolidated results of operations in the

same manner as they help the Company’s management.

Adjusted loss and total comprehensive loss for the Reporting Period
represents the loss and total comprehensive loss for the Reporting
Period excluding the effect of certain non-cash items, namely the
share-based compensation expenses. The term adjusted loss and
total comprehensive loss for the Reporting Period is not defined
under the IFRS. The use of this non-IFRS measure has limitations as
an analytical tool, and it should not be considered in isolation from,
or as substitute for analysis of, the Group’s results of operations
or financial condition as reported under the IFRS. The Company’s
presentation of such adjusted figure may not be comparable to a
similarly titled measure presented by other companies. However,
the Company believes that this and other non-IFRS measures reflect
the Group's normal operating results by eliminating impacts of items
that the management do not consider to be indicative of the Group’s
operating performance, and thus facilitate comparison of operating
performance from period to period and company to company to the

extent applicable.
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The table below sets forth a reconciliation of the loss and TREJRARFEFEFABERZAERELARE
total comprehensive loss for the year to adjusted loss and total HEANKRAEREERTHEBERNYEER:

comprehensive loss for the years indicated:

Year ended 31 December

BZNAIALEE

2022 2021
20224 20216
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®TRT ARETET
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year FRAEBEERZAEEBRTE (954,369) (842,095)
Added: n:
Share-based compensation expenses LA BR 179 75 22 7 6 %7 B B > 95,636 37,347
Adjusted loss and total comprehensive loss for FRAKAEEBEBL2EER
the year 4= (858,733) (804,748)
Employees and Renumeration Policies EERFMBX
The following table sets forth a breakdown of our employees by TRESNFRMRBEZ DN ESAMA:
function:
As of 31 December 2022
E =2022512A31H
As a
Number of percentage of
employees total
HREEAY ZAZBEIL
Core management 2B 9 3.0%
Clinical i PR 63 20.9%
R&D ot 2% 92 30.6%
Manufacturing EE 63 20.9%
Commercial [EES(e 14 4.7%
Project management HHE®R 14 4.7%
Others HAh 46 15.2%
Total et 301 100.0%

40 KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of 30! full time
employees, among whom, the total staff with clinical and R&D
mission accounted for over 51.5%. We generally formulate our
employees' remuneration package to include basic salary, position-
specific salary, performance-based bonus, project-based bonus and
various allowances. We conduct periodic performance reviews for our
employees. We have also adopted the Employee Incentive Scheme to

retain and incentivise our key management and staff.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 3|
December 2022 and 2021,

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our cash and cash equivalents and time deposits consisted of deposits
with banks and cash on hand. As at 31 December 2022, cash and
cash equivalents and time deposits decreased by RMBI79.9 million or
17.0% from RMB1,055.2 million as at 31 December 2021 to RMB875.3
million. The change in our cash and cash equivalents for the Reporting
Period was mainly attributable to the net proceeds from the Top-up
Placing 2022 | and Top-up Placing 2022 Il amounting to approximately
RMB697.8 million, partially offset by the cash we used in (i) purchasing
raw materials for COVID-19 related products; and (ii) R&D activities.

The current ratio (total current assets as a percentage of total current
liabilities) of the Group decreased from 694.4% as at 31 December
2021 to 474.0% as at 31 December 2022, mainly due to the decrease
in cash and cash equivalents and time deposits and the increase in

borrowings and trade and other payables during the Reporting Period.

As at 3|1 December 2022, we had utilised bank facilities of RMB276.5
million and unutilised bank facilities of RMB120.0 million.

Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions or
Disposals

As of 31 December 2022, there was no significant investments
held by the Company nor any material acquisitions or disposals of

subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Cash Flow

The following table sets forth a summary of our consolidated

RERE

TERFIIRFARFERMANGESRERERB

statements of cash flows for the years indicated: Z=:
Year ended 31 December
BENRANBLFE
2022 2021
20225 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTRE AR®BTE
Cash used in operations KEMmARES (960,267) (1,049,673)
Income tax paid ERAED (905) (809)
Net interest paid EARPURSREE] (88) (881)
Net cash used in operating activities REFHFAREFHE (961,260) (1,051,363)
Net cash generated from investing activities RERSMEREIFHE 67,195 92,005
Net cash generated from financing activities MEFDHAERSFHE 815,750 857,418
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ReRBE2EEBWRDFHE (78,315) (101,940)
Cash and cash equivalent at the beginning of the FNHEERREFEY
year 926,331 1,064,689
Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and cash RekB2EBYHNER
equivalents Wz, (E1#E) 16,454 (36,418)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year FREGLREEFED 864,470 926,331

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

During the Reporting Period, we derived our cash inflows primarily
from government grants. Our net cash used in operating activities

mainly consisted of R&D expenses and administrative expenses.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, our net cash used in
operating activities was RMB961.3 million, consisting of RMB960.3
million of cash used in operations, interest paid on borrowings of
RMBI10.0 million, interest received on bank balances of RMB9.9 million

and income tax paid of RMBO0.9 million.
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During the year ended 3| December 202I, our net cash used in
operating activities was RMBI,051.4 million, consisting of RMBI,049.7
million of cash used in operations, interest paid on borrowings of
RMB6.8 million, interest received on bank balances of RMB5.9 million

and income tax paid of RMBO0.8 million.

Net Cash Generated from Investing Activities

During the Reporting Period, our cash flows relating to investing
activities primarily reflected purchases of equipment and purchase of

financial products.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, our net cash generated
from investing activities was RMB67.2 million, which primarily
consisted of proceeds received upon maturity of certain time deposits
with maturities of over three months and disposal of financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss of RMB337.8 million, partially offset by
(i) purchase of equipment of RMB27.5 million for our Suzhou plant to
expand its capacity; (ii) purchase of time deposits with maturities of
over three months and financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss of RMB220.7 million; (iii) purchase of intangible assets of RMB0.2
million resulting from payments for the new modules of the enterprise
resource planning (ERP) software; (iv) payments for restricted cash of
RMB4.0 million resulting from payments of deposits for our financial
products; and (v) investment in a joint venture and an associate of
RMBI8.5 million.

During the year ended 3| December 2021, our net cash generated
from investing activities was RMB92.0 million, which primarily
consisted of proceeds received upon maturity of certain time deposits
with maturities of over three months and disposal of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss of RMB714.8 million, partially offset
by (i) purchase of equipment of RMB76.2 million for our Suzhou plant
to expand its capacity; (ii) purchase of time deposits with maturities
of over three months and financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss of RMB5154 million; (iii) purchase of intangible assets of
RMB29.5 million resulting from milestone payments of PDLI/TGF-5;
and (iv) payments for restricted cash of RMBI.7 million resulting from

payments of deposits for our financial products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERWED T

Net Cash Generated from Financing Activities

During the Reporting Period, our cash flows relating to financing
activities primarily reflected proceeds from issue of Shares of the

Company and bank borrowings.

During the year ended 3| December 2022, our net cash generated
from financing activities was RMB815.8 million, which primarily
consisted of (i) proceeds from the Top-up Placing 2022-I and Top-
up Placing 2022-11 of RMB697.8 miillion; (ii) proceeds from borrowings
of RMBI70.0 million; and (iii) proceeds from Shares vested under
the Employee Incentive Scheme and transferred to the grantees of
RMBI.O million, partially offset by (i) repayment of borrowings of
RMB48.4 million; and (ii) payment of lease liabilities of RMB4.6 million.

During the year ended 3| December 2021, our net cash generated
from financing activities was RMB857.4 million, which primarily
consisted of (i) proceeds from the Top-up Placing 2021 of RMB952.0
million; and (ii) proceeds from borrowings of RMB20.0 million, partially
offset by (i) repayment of borrowings of RMB83.6 million; (ii) payment
of lease liabilities of RMB28.9 million; and (i) payment of listing
expenses of RMB2.0 million.

Financial Position

Our net current assets decreased from RMBI,306.2 million as at
31 December 2021 to RMBI,189.7 million as at 31 December 2022,
primarily due to a an increase in current liabilities, which was mainly
attributable to the increase in borrowings and trade and other
payables. Current assets decreased from RMBI,525.9 million as at
31 December 2021 to RMBI,507.9 million as at 31 December 2022,

primarily due to the decrease of cash and cash equivalents.

Significant Change in Accounting Policy

There was no significant change in accounting policy during the

Reporting Period.
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Indebtedness

As at 31 December 2022, the balance of our bank borrowings
consisted of long-term bank borrowings of RMB9I.5 million which
were secured by certain land use right, buildings and construction in
progress, unsecured long-term bank borrowings of RMBI145.0 million
and short-term bank borrowings of RMB40.0 million. In the balance of
our bank borrowings, RMB98.9 million is repayable within one year or

on demand.

As of 31 December 2021,

consisted of long-term bank borrowings of RMB96.5 million which

the balance of our bank borrowings

were secured by certain land use right, buildings and construction
in progress and unsecured long-term bank borrowings of RMB58.4
million. In the balance of our bank borrowings, RMB7.4 million is

repayable within one year or on demand.

As at 31 December 2022, cash and cash equivalents are more than
total borrowings of the Group, therefore, the gearing ratio is not

applicable.

Financial Risks

The Group is exposed to various types of financial risks: market risks
(including foreign exchange risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial

performance.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of the transactions
settled in RMB. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign

currency exposure should the need arise.

The Group is not exposed to foreign exchange risk as there are no
significant financial assets or liabilities of the Group denominated in
the currencies other than the functional currency, except for cash and
cash equivalents, restricted cash and time deposits at bank in USD
and HKD which were primarily received from the investors as capital

contributions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENRED T

Cash Flow and Fair Value Interest Rate Risk

Our income and operating cash flows are substantially independent
of changes in market interest rates. We have no significant interest-
bearing assets and liabilities, except for lease liabilities, cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash, time deposits and borrowings. Those
carried at floating rates expose us to cash flow interest rate risk
whereas those carried at fixed rates expose us to fair value interest

rate risk.

Our interest rate risk mainly arises from borrowings. Borrowings
obtained at fixed rates expose us to fair value interest rate risk. As
at 31 December 2022, our borrowings carried at fixed rates, which

exposed the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

Our management does not anticipate significant impact on interest-
bearing assets resulting from the changes in interest rates, because
the interest rates of bank deposits are not expected to change

significantly.

Credit Risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to receivables, cash
and cash equivalents, restricted cash, time deposits and wealth
management products. The carrying amounts of receivables, cash
and cash equivalents, restricted cash, time deposits and wealth
management products represent our maximum exposure to credit

risk in relation to financial assets.

The Group expects that there is no significant credit risk associated
with cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, time deposits, and
wealth management products since they are substantially deposited
at or purchased from state-owned banks and other medium or large-
sized foreign banks. Management does not expect that there will be
any significant losses from non-performance by these counterparties

and the loss allowance provision is considered immaterial.

Management has assessed that during the Reporting Period, other
receivables have not had a significant increase in credit risk since
their initial recognition. Therefore, a 12-month expected credit loss
approach that results from possible default event within 12 months of
each reporting date is adopted by management. As at 3| December
2022, other receivables mainly comprise deposits to lessors in respect
of the Group’s leased properties.
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Management expects that there is no significant credit risk associated
with other receivables since the counterparties have no history of
default. Accordingly, the expected credit loss of other receivables is

considered immaterial.

Liquidity Risk

The Group finances its working capital requirements through the
issue of new shares, borrowings and government grants. Management
monitors rolling forecasts of the Group's liquidity reserve on the basis

of expected cash flow.

Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash
and cash equivalents and the ability to apply for credit facilities if
necessary. We had net current assets of RMBI,189.7 million as at 3|
December 2022. We are able to meet our financial obligations and
fund our R&D activities through our cash on hand and consecutive

capital raising activities.

CHARGE ON GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, certain land use right, buildings and
construction in progress were pledged for the Group’s borrowings
amounting to RMB91,500,000 (31 December 2021: RMB96,500,000).

FUTURE AND OUTLOOK

Our vision focuses on developing potential “best-in-class” and “first-
in-class” novel drugs and commercialisation platform in order to
address the unmet medical needs for dermatology indications such as
AGA and acne vulgaris; and to explore innovative treatment for non-
dermatology indications such as COVID-I9, prostate cancer, idiopathic
pulmonary fibrosis (IPF). We also plan to develop biological drugs for
the treatment of liver cancer and various solid tumours in order to

expand the variety of treatment in the biologics field.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENRED T

Based on our R&D experience on AR, we have created an
advantageous position and laid a solid foundation in the field of
dermatological drugs. By leveraging our strength on R&D regarding
AR, we will continue our clinical development of KX-826 for the
treatment of AGA and acne vulgaris in China and the United States.
The previous results have showed that KX-826 demonstrated safety
and efficacy, and it could be used on both men and women in the
treatment of AGA and acne vulgaris. In addition, we plan to further
leverage our PROTAC platform to develop small molecule drugs. We
are conducting phase Il clinical trial of GT20029 in China, which is the
first topical PROTAC compound that has entered clinical stage around
the world. The previously announced data from phase | clinical trials
in China and the United States showed that GT20029 demonstrated
good safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetic characteristics. KX-826
and GT20029 are targeting for China and the global markets, and they
are expected to address the inelastic demand of the AGA and acne

vulgaris patients.

In order to support our continuous growth, we plan to continue our
investment in R&D infrastructure and talent to advance the clinical
development of our clinical-stage drug candidates as well as the pre-
clinical development of our existing and future drug candidates. We
also plan to seek collaboration opportunities in various aspects of our
drug development process, including pre-clinical technology, clinical

combination therapies and commercialisation.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEEEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Youzhi Tong (B & ), aged 6/, is our chairman of the Board
and chief executive officer. He is a founding member of the Group
and was appointed as an executive Director on 16 May 2018. As our
chief executive officer, Dr. Tong is primarily responsible for the overall
management, operations and the charting and reviewing of corporate
directions and strategies of our Group. Dr. Tong has accumulated
over 20 years of experience in biopharmaceutical R&D and
management. He is also a director of various members of our Group,
namely Suzhou Kintor, Suzhou Koshine, Kintor Science, Koshine
Pharmaceuticals and Kintor Pharmaceuticals Hong Kong. Prior to
founding our Group in 2009, Dr. Tong served as an assistant professor
of Albert Einstein College of Medicine from 1999 to 2001. He was a
vice-president of Angion Biomedica Corp. from 2002 to 2008.

Dr. Tong graduated from Peking University with a bachelor's degree
and a master's degree in chemistry in July 1984 and July 1988,
respectively. He received his Ph.D. in pharmacology from Cornell

University in January 1997.

In recognition of his dedication to his field, Dr. Tong has received
multiple designated funds from the U.S. National Institutes of Health
and the Chinese government. In 2000, he received a fellows' research
award from the North Shore — Long Island Jewish Research System.
In 2000, he received a fellows' award from the Multiple Myeloma
Research Foundation. In 1997, he received the AACR-Glaxo Welcome
Oncology Clinical Research Scholar Award from the American
Association for Cancer Research. Dr. Tong has also led a number of

key national and provincial R&D projects.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESnEREEEGE

Dr. Qun Lu (BEHf), aged 57, joined the Group in May 202| and
was appointed as an executive Director on 14 April 2023. Dr. Lu
is currently the chief technology officer of the Group, primarily
responsible for chemistry, manufacturing and control (“CMC")
including drug analysis, formulation development and the production.
Dr. Lu has over 20 years of experience in biopharmaceutical
industry with proven track record of successfully leading the CMC
development of pharmaceutical dosage forms from discovery through
commercialisation at various pharmaceutical corporations including
Pfizer, Merck and Celgene Corp./Bristol Myers Squibb (“BMS"). Prior
to joining the Group, Dr. Lu was an executive director at Celgene
Corp./BMS in New Jersey from 2013 to 2019 and from 2019 to
2021 respectively, where she focused on defining and delivering
integrated CMC development strategies and outcomes for innovative
medicines. She also served as a member of the board of directors of
International Consortium for Innovation and Quality in Pharmaceutical

Development until 2019.

Dr. Lu received her bachelor's degree in Chemistry from Peking
University in 1987 and completed her Ph.D. in Physical Chemistry at
Arizona State University in 1995. Dr. Lu carried out post-doctoral
studies in Pharmaceutics at the University of Wisconsin — Madison
from 1996 to 1997.

Dr. Xiang Ni ({2 #), aged 54, joined the Group in March 2023
and was appointed as an executive Director on 4 April 2023. Dr.
Ni is currently the chief medical officer of the Group, primarily
responsible for the coordination, management and supervision of the
medical work of the Group. Dr. Ni has dedicated to the international
biopharmaceutical field for more than 20 years, with extensive
experience and expertise in the clinical development of new drugs,
pharmacovigilance and clinical quality. Prior to joining the Group,
Dr. Ni worked in pharmaceutical companies in the United States
and China, like AstraZeneca and several innovative biopharma and
biotechnology companies like Akesobio. Dr. Ni has facilitated the
approval of several global new drug applications (NDAs) and new
drug clinical trials (INDs). He also has extensive experience working

with global regulatory agencies.

Dr. Ni received his bachelor's degree in Medicine from Southeast
University School of Medicine in China in 1992 and his Ph.D. degree
from School of Medicine, Temple University in the United States in
2000.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Weipeng Gao (= # f§), aged 48, was appointed as non-
executive Director on 22 June 202I. He is primarily responsible for
overseeing the corporate development and strategic planning of the

Group.

Mr. Gao has over twenty years of experience in finance, legal and
investment areas and is currently a partner at SIP Sungent BioVenture
Capital Investment Partnership (LP)* (&N L2 B & T 4 8l ¥ 1%
BEEEABMRAF) Mr Gao is a co-founder of Beijing Fastern Link
Capital Management Center (LP)* (Jt RSB SATIRE B RO (B
PR & %)) (“Eastern Link Capital”) since January 2011 and he worked
as a managing director at Eastern Link Capital from January 2011 to
September 2019. From November 2009 to December 2010, he was
a consultant at ABAX Investment Consulting (Suzhou Industrial) Co.,
Ltdx (BREREBEMGMNIXER)BMRAF]) From January
2008 to November 2009, Mr. Gao was a managing director at Startup
Growth Investment Enterprise* (F1% A K 8l 1% & 1 ). Mr. Gao
also served as a qualified lawyer at Beijing Guofang Law Firm* (1t 5
M EI 5 EAISEHEFT) and Beijing Century-link & Xinjiyuan Law Office*
(3t T Tt B T AC T R AT B A5 FT) from 2001 to 2007. From August
1997 to July 2001, Mr. Gao was an assistant to the general manager
of China at Commonwealth Bank of Australia (8 ) B 0 $R 17 (70 B
B)).

Mr. Gao obtained a bachelor’s degree in Economics from Beijing
Technology and Business University in 1996, a master degree in
Law from Peking University in January 2007 and a master degree of
Business Administration from China Europe International Business

School in September 2012 respectively.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESnEREEEGE

Ms. Geqi Wei (1 7 B ), aged 48, was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 27 September 2021. She is primarily
responsible for overseeing the corporate development and strategic

planning of the Group.

Ms. Wei is currently the deputy general manager and the chief
financial officer of Zhuhai Development Investment Fund Management
Co, Ltd* (K BERIBLEESLEEBRAF) and the chief
financial officer of Zhuhai Gree Financial Investment Management Co,,
Lid* GREBNRIREEBIEABR AR, has 22 years of audit
and accounting work experience and 5 vyears of working experience
in financial investment. From March 2012 to August 2017, Ms. Wei
served as the deputy section chief of the fiscal finance and corporate
audit sections at Zhuhai Audit Bureau* (ZK/& T 5T ®). During
the periods from September 2008 to February 2012 and from March
2003 to December 2007, Ms. Wei was the director-general of office
and the section chief of the financial responsibility audit section at
Zhuhai Xiangzhou District Audit Bureau* (Zk /& ™ & M & 2 5T
f@), respectively. Ms. Wei also served as a staff member in the fiscal
audit section at Hubei Provincial Audit Department (81t 5T
E2) from January 2008 to August 2008. Prior to March 2003, Ms.
Wei had finance and fiscal management experience with a number
of state-owned enterprises, private enterprises and foreign-invested

enterprises in the PRC.

Ms. Wei obtained her qualifications as Senior Auditor of the PRC
in 2012, In April 2021, she also passed the National Unified Legal
Professional Qualification Examination and obtained the Legal

Profession Qualification Certificate.

Ms. Wei obtained a bachelor's degree in accounting from the Jiangsu
University of Science and Technology (VT & 5t £ K22) in 1996. She
earned a Master of Public Administration from Renmin University of

China (B A R KE) in 2009.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chengwei Liu (2] 7% {&), aged 52, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 5 May 2022. He is primarily responsible for overseeing the

corporate development and strategic planning of the Group.

Mr. Liu has been, and is currently the Chairman and President of
Suzhou Oriza Holdings Corporation (% M 7t 7K 4% A% i% 5 & BR
2 7A]) since March 2016. From December 1998 to March 2016, Mr.
Liu served as a staff member, deputy director, director and deputy
executive of Suzhou Industrial Park Administrative Committee (%k
MIEEREZS) From July 1995 to December 1998, Mr. Liu
served as the deputy manager of the delivery department of Suzhou
Commodity Exchange (%% N an % FfT) and a lawyer of Suzhou
Future Law Firm (R M K 2R{E B S 7% FT). Save for his position as
a non-executive Director of the Company, Mr. Liu was a director
of S.F. HOLDING CO,, LTD (a company listed on the Main Board
of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in China) from December 2016 to
December 2022 and is currently a director of Zhongji Innolight Co.,
Ltd. (a company listed on the ChiNext Market of the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange in China).

Mr. Liu holds a master's degree in finance, and is also a senior

economist and lawyer.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Dr. Michael Min Xu ( #& 8 ), aged 58, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 12 August 2019. He is
responsible for providing independent advice and judgement to our
Board.

Dr. Xu has accumulated over 20 years of experience in
biopharmaceutical R&D. He is the founder and chief executive
officer of PegBio Co., Ltd (k% 4 ¥ 88 % (% /M) B R 2 7)) which
specialises in the development of drugs for chronic metabolic diseases.
He started working at Xinfeng Biotechnology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd as
the general manager (37 & & ¥ &t £ (_£/8) B R 2 R]) in 2002.

Dr. Xu graduated from Xiangya School of Medicine at Central South
University (F X2 M 7 2 2 Ft) with a bachelor's degree in
medicine in June 1986. He later received his Ph.D from Columbia

University in February 1996.

Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung (15 1% &), aged 59, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 12 August 2019. He is
responsible for providing independent advice and judgement to our
Board.

Mr. Yeung has over |5 years of experience in an international
accounting firm. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Yeung held senior
financial positions in several Hong Kong Main Board listed companies.
He worked in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in 2003, and served as a
reorganisation services director from 2008 to 2018. Before that he
served as the financial controller and company secretary of DTXS Silk
Road Investment Holdings Company Ltd, formerly known as UDL
Holdings Ltd, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
620) in 2002. He also served as the financial controller of Kuangchi
Science Ltd, formerly known as Climax Int'l Ltd, a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 439) from 1997 to June 2001,
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yeung graduated from the Hong Kong Shue Yan College with
a Diploma in Accounting in July 1988, and obtained an MBA from
the University of Warwick, United Kingdom in November 2011.
He is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, and is a member of the Hong Kong Securities and

Investment Institute.

Prof. Liang Tong (E =), aged 59, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 27 October 2020. He joined the faculty of
Columbia University in the City of New York in September 1997 as an
Associate Professor and currently is a William R. Kenan, Jr. Professor
in the Department of Biological Sciences. He was the Chair of the
Department of Biological Sciences of Columbia University from July
2013 to June 2019. From July 1992 to August 1997, he served as a
scientist of Boehringer Ingelheim Pharmaceuticals, Inc. in Ridgefield,

Connecticut.

Prof. Tong obtained a Bachelor of Science in Chemistry from Peking
University in July 1983 and subsequently a Doctor of Philosophy in
Chemistry (Protein Crystallography) from University of California,
Berkeley in December 1989. He was a Post-doctoral Research
Associate at Purdue University in West Lafayette, Indiana until July
1992.

Prof. Tong has been a member of Phi Beta Kappa since 1989. He
received the Boehringer Ingelheim Research & Development Award in
[997. Prof. Tong is also a Fellow of the American Association for the

Advancement of Science since 2009.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ming Ming Cheung (E 8 8i), aged 46, joined the Group in
September 2021 and was appointed as the chief financial officer of the
Company on 14 April 2023. Mr. Cheung will be primarily responsible
for the financial planning, investment, international commerce, internal
control, investor relations and public relations of the Group. In light
of Mr. Cheung’s new role as the CFO, Mr. Cheung has ceased to act
as the vice president of investment and overseas business with effect
from 4 April 2023.

Mr. Cheung has over |5 years' of work experience in the capital
market. Prior to joining the Group, he was Head of Leveraged &
Acquisition Finance of Haitong International Securities Group Limited,
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0665). He was
in charge of leveraged acquisition finance and equity fund investments
respectively. Mr. Cheung also worked in ING Bank Hong Kong Branch
for over 5 years. He was responsible for corporate client coverage and

merger and acquisition financial advisory.

Mr. Cheung obtained his bachelor's degree in Biochemistry from the
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in 1999 and Master
of Philosophy in Bioinformatics from Medical School, the University of
Hong Kong in 2002.

Dr. Ruo Xu (FF %), aged 58, joined the Group in April 2019 and is
currently a vice president/chemistry of the Group. He is primarily

responsible for medical chemistry research and the API productions.

Before joining the Group, Dr. Xu worked in the pharmaceutical
industry for more than 20 years. Dr. Xu has served as the vice
president of chemistry and manufacturing at Zhejiang DTRM
Biopharma LLC from 2018 to 2019. He was a general manager at
Chemspec-API, Inc. from 2014 to 2017 and a principal scientist,
outsourcing manager and senior specialist at Schering-Plough
Corporation/Merck & Co., Inc. from 1998 to 2013.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Xu graduated from Peking University ( 1t 51 K 2 ) with a
bachelor's degree in chemistry in July 1985. He received his Ph.D.
in chemistry from Columbia University in May 1996 and served as
a post-doctoral fellow in chemistry at the University of California at
Berkeley from June 1996 to April 1998.

Dr. Jiawen Han (8 X X), aged 60, joined the Group in May 202
and is currently a vice president/business development of the Group.
He is primarily responsible for business development-related projects
and management. Dr. Han has over 25 years of experience in drug

development and business operations in the pharmaceuticals industry.

Dr. Han served as a vice president in Qilu Boston LLC in Boston and
in WuXi Biologics Co., Ltd. in Shanghai from September 2017 to May
2021 and from January 2014 to May 2017 respective. From 1995 to
2013, he held important roles and positions in various companies,
including AstraZeneca R&D Innovation Center China (ICC) in
Shanghai, Aileron Therapeutics, Inc. in Cambridge, ImmunoGen Inc. in

Cambridge and Apoptosis Technology Inc. in Cambridge.

Dr. Han was a Postdoctoral Associate in department of Biology in
Massachusetts Institute of Technology in Cambridge from 1992 to
[994. Dr. Han received his doctor degree in Medicine from Peking
University in 1986 and subsequently a Doctor of Philosophy in
Biochemistry from University of Rochester School of Medicine in New
York in 1992.

Mr. Juping Shen (3 ), aged 53, joined the Group in November
2019 and is currently a deputy general manager of the Group. He
is primarily responsible for daily operation mainly including human
resource and administration of the Group, as well as in charge of
Zhuhai and Pinghu program of the Group. Mr. Shen has over 30 years
of experience in pharmaceutical industry in various companies in the
PRC.
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Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Shen served as a vice general manager
in Nanjing Sanhome Pharmaceutical Co., td (BB R B & ¥ H
R A7) from to April 2016 to October 2019. From April 2013 to
December 2015, Mr. Shen served as a senior project director of Eisai
China Pharmaceutical Inc. (74 (FE)ZEZXBR A 7F]) and from
January 2016 to March 2016, he was promoted as a factory director
of Eisai (Liaoning) Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (fi# (R ZE)REFR A
A]). From February 2012 to March 2013, Mr. Shen served as a group
quality director of Jiangsu Chia Tiangian Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd (T &k
IERKRBEEZEABR AR From January 2006 to January 2012, he
served as a director of quality management department and a director
of quality management department and research and development
department in Suzhou Otsuka Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd (&R M A K &
5 R /A A]) and Guangdong Otsuka Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd. (& &
RNER B ZEF R R F]) respectively.

Mr. Shen obtained his master’'s degree in business administration
from East-South University and his bachelor’s degree from Chinese

Pharmaceutical University in March 2006 and June 1991, respectively.

Dr. Jie Chen (BR#), aged 40, joined the Group in July 2016
and served as a director of the research and development of our
chemistry department till November 2018 and was promoted as a
deputy general manager of the Group since November 2018. She was
a joint company secretary of the Company from November 2019 to
November 2021. Dr. Chen has over |0 years working experience as
well as rich academic background relating to the scientific research

and development in biology and chemistry field.

Dr. Chen obtained the degree of doctor of nature science in organic
chemistry from the graduate school of the Chinese Academy of
Sciences in July 2010. Dr. Chen conducted postdoctoral research in
biochemistry at University of Texas Southwestern Medical Centre
from March 2011 to August 2015, mainly engaging in the scientific

research and related works.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Zhihua Ren (£ & &), aged 45, joined the Group in October
2020 and is currently the Vice President and Dean of the Institute of
R&D of the Group. She is mainly responsible for early phase novel
drugs discovery and development, and translational medicine. Prior
to joining the Group, Dr. Ren served as the deputy director of the
Department of Translational Medicine at Medx Translational Medicine
Research (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. from June 2018 to October 2020, leading
the team to design solution for biomarkers exploration for preclinical
study and clinical trials for innovative pharmaceutical companies.
From August 2012 to June 2018, she served as the deputy chair of
the Suzhou Ark Biomedical Research and Development Center of
the Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences and Peking Union Medical
College. She presided over and participated in the implementation of
several major national scientific research projects, and was specifically

responsible for the scientific solution and project R&D management.

Dr. Ren obtained a Bachelor of Medicine in Clinical Diagnostics and
a Master of Medicine in Molecular Genetic Diagnosis of Hematology
from Qingdao University School of Medicine in 2000 and 2003,
respectively, and a Doctor of Science in Medical Genetics from

Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine in 2007.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Wai Chiu Wong (E&#), is the Associate Director of SWCS
Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited. Mr. Wong has
extensive experience in compliance and listed companies secretarial

work,

Mr. Wong is a fellow of Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
(previously known as Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries),
a fellow of the Chartered Governance Institute, a member of CPA
Australia, a member of the Hong Kong Trustee Association and a
Certified Trust Practitioner.

Mr. Wong possesses a B. Soc. Sc. (Hon)) from the University of
Hong Kong, a Post-Graduate diploma in Hong Kong and United
Kingdom law from the Manchester Metropolitan University in the
United Kingdom, Master degree in Corporate Governance from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Master Degree in Arbitration and
Dispute Resolution from City University of Hong Kong and Master of
Applied Science Degree from the University of Technology, Sydney,

Australia.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Save as disclosed herein, the Directors confirm that no change in
their information which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(l) of the Listing Rules.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

RAWE

BERBAE ROIBECERBEERGEB)ER
RABFEES - WRRER M LM RRMERE
BRELENLR -

B¢

\
/

ERBARIAEAS (RIBEBFW
BEXREE  RERFKHFARAEAGE
E-BRMNEAMAEER  FEGEIEAR
B A MURBAEEEXAER -

) ) D

B ¥ i

BERERBRBRBHENB(ER)KREEL
B RESAENTHFAENETEERBEIAR
MEER - EERIAZHRRABEELTS
I~ BB T AREH P ELEF R EIRIE T B0
AEBANGHEEMBRRENEARBEL

B o

ESEHREE
BAFHFRELS  EERBBMHENS
B AR T ARAESIB() TR -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to implementing high standards of
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the shareholders
and enhance the corporate value as well as the responsibility
commitments. The Directors recognise the importance of
incorporating elements of good corporate governance in the
management structures, internal control and risk management

procedures of the Group so as to achieve effective accountability.

The Company has adopted the CG Code as its own code of
corporate governance since the Listing Date. Save for the deviation
from code provision C.2.I of the CG Code as disclosed in the section
headed “Chairman and Chief Executive” in this report, the Company
has applied with the principles of and complied with all the applicable
code provisions of the CG Code during the Reporting Period. The
Group will continue to review and enhance its corporate governance

practices to ensure its continued compliance with the CG Code.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Group has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix |0
to the Listing Rules for securities transactions by Directors as its own

code of conduct.

Specific enquiries have been made of all the Directors and they have
confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code throughout
the Reporting Period.

The Group’s employees, who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Group, are subject to the Model Code. No incident
of non-compliance of the Model Code by the relevant employees was

noted by the Company throughout the Reporting Period.
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THE BOARD

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions
of the Board and Management

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Group and oversees the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and
performance. The Board has delegated the day-to-day responsibility
to the executive Directors and senior management who perform
their duties and has provided clear directions as to the senior

management's powers.

All Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning. The executive Directors oversee the daily
operations of the Group, while the independent non-executive
Directors bring independent judgment to the decision-making process
of the Board, taking into account the advice of the senior management
of the Group.

The Group's senior management is responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Group’s business, carrying out the business
decisions of the Group, overseeing the general operation, business
development, finance, marketing, and operations as well as other

essential management functions of the Group.

The Directors have full access to information of the Group and the
management has an obligation to supply the Directors with adequate
information in a timely manner to enable the Directors to perform

their responsibilities.

All Directors have carried out duties in good faith and in compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in the interests of

the Company and the shareholders at all times.
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Composition 4 X

As at the date of this report, the Board is comprised of three (3) RABREAH  EFGH=Q)BNTEF =
executive Directors, three (3) non-executive Directors and three (3) QHBIFHNITEER=ZQRBBLIENTTEEHA

independent non-executive Directors as set out below: B BT

Executive Directors HITEE

Dr. Youzhi Tong (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer) ERZEBL(BEFSFEFRITHAES)

Dr. Qun Lu (appointed on 14 April 2023) B B¥1E L+ (FR2023F4H14B EZ 1)

Dr. Xiang Ni (appointed on 14 April 2023) RAE T (R2023F48 148 EEE)

Ms. Yan Lu (appointed on 31 January 2022 and EHLZT(MNFIAIBEZER
resigned on 13 April 2023) 2023F 47 13H B F)

Non-executive Directors HEHITEE

Mr. Weipeng Gao =HENS ST E

Ms. Gegi Wei FAE

Mr. Chengwei Liu (appointed on 5 May 2022) 2% 2 %4 (R20202F5ASH E R T)

Mr. Gang Lu (resigned on 31 January 2022) B Al %% A (7820224F 1 A31 B B F)

Dr. Yan Wang (resigned on 5 May 2022) EOTIE L (R202295 A58 BH )

Independent Non-executive Directors BUFBITEE

Dr. Michael Min Xu BB L

Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung BIERSTE

Prof. Liang Tong EoHE

The biographical information of the Directors and relationship EFNERENRES I HNBRERIANEARE
between the Directors are set out in the section headed “Profiles of ~ FE4IE60EREELSAEEEME]—F -
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 49 to 60 of this report. EFeECEMETAEMUE XK B
There is no other financial, business, family or other material/relevant B HEMEKXR HBEBRK -

relationships among the members of the Board.
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Chairman and Chief Executive

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the responsibilities
between the chairman and chief executive officer should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. We do not
have a separate chairman and chief executive officer and Dr. TONG
currently performs these two roles. The Board believes that vesting
the roles of both chairman and chief executive officer in Dr. TONG
has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group
and enables more effective and efficient overall strategic planning for
the Group, given that: (i) decision to be made by the Board requires
approval by at least a majority of the Directors and that the Board
comprises three independent non-executive Directors out of eight
Directors during the Reporting Period, and we believe there is
sufficient check and balance in the Board; (ii) Dr. TONG and other
Directors are aware of and undertake to fulfill their fiduciary duties
as Directors, which require, among other things, that they act for
the benefit and in the best interests of the Company and will make
decisions for the Group accordingly; and (iii) the balance of power and
authority is ensured by the operations of the Board which comprises
experienced and high caliber individuals who meet regularly to discuss
issues affecting the operations of the Company. Moreover, the overall
strategic and other key business, financial and operational policies of
the Group are made collectively after thorough discussion at both the
Board and senior management levels. Finally, the Board believes that
vesting the roles of both chairman and chief executive officer in the
same person has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within
the Group and enables more effective and efficient overall strategic
planning for and communication within the Group. The Board will
continue to review the effectiveness of the corporate governance
structure of the Group in order to assess whether separation of the

roles of chairman and chief executive officer is necessary.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

ERERITHAR

BRIBECEERTREC2HETAME - EFEM
THEAHNBEERTRS  ETEA—ARK
BE BRALEEBNETFRTRES  BHE
HEBLIREZMERL EFSHE £F
TREERRITHRABEBS AT AN KEAZR
BEEH B AFEARENBEBRBAIE
BREEAME  RAR: WVEFSELAIR
RARZEDVRZHESFTHHE MESTERS
HAN\RESFTE=-ZBEILIFATES - M
RAREFENFERANEZNGE : (VEF]
TREMEFNBNALZRITRESIERESN
REELT BEREEREFEBR)EFAX
NEINH S RATERRARRENZH T AT
EOURAKEELHEBRAR R(NVEFEMH
KRBREENEBASEAR BEATEERS
HAN BT EARREENEE EFQMNE
TER ERENFIREDE - I REENE
BRELREMEIBRR  BHBEREEBRRTIE
EZeNoAEREEFRIRRARKE - &
% EFQHE AR -AREERERITHA
BBEAREARAEBEANTREER B LE
AEENEBERRERIARALEBEEUR
FEARX BEEREERNAEELEER
REBORY AFEEERERES EFETR



Independent Views to the Board

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent views
are available to the Board in the Company's director nomination
policy and board diversity policy and the Board is responsible for
reviewing the effectiveness of this mechanism on an annual basis. The
Board shall ensure the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors and at least one-third of its members being
independent non-executive Directors (or such higher threshold
as may be required by the Listing Rules from time to time). The
Nomination Committee shall adhere to the director nomination
policy with regard to the nomination and appointment of independent
non-executive Directors. The candidates of independent non-
executive Directors must satisfy the independence requirements
under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is committed to
ensuring that the independent non-executive Directors will be given
the opportunity and channel to communicate and express their

independent views and inputs to the Board and its committees.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Reporting Period, the Board has met the requirements
of the Listing Rules that the number of independent non-executive
Directors must represent at least one-third of the Board members,
and that at least one of the independent non-executive Directors
has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related

financial management expertise.

The Company has received a confirmation of independence in writing
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers each of
them to be independent during the Reporting Period.
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Board Meetings EEE2ER

Pursuant to CG Code, at least four regular Board meetings should be BRECEERTR EF2eRRNESEVK
held in each financial year. For the year ended 31 December 2022, 13 FETEHEMT 9 P9Ox - B E2022F12 A31H
Board meeting and one general meeting was held and the attendance IEFE ARARERITBREZFEEZL K
record of each Director is set out in the table below: BRERG BEENHFLEOTRAH:

Attendance/eligible to attend

Board meeting

Directors =X HE SEREFEESE S

Dr. Youzhi Tong ERZIEL 13/13

Dr. Qun Lu® PERHIE O 0/0

Dr. Xiang Ni® RAEL 0/0

Mr. Weipeng Gao = #E S ok A& 13/13

Ms. Geqi Wei M HE L+ 13/13

Mr. Chenwei Liu® QB BLEEO 7/7

Dr. Michael Min Xu REE L 13/13

Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung BIER A 13/13

Prof. Liang Tong ERHE 12/13

Mr. Gang Lu® Bz M SE A @ 0/0

Dr. Yan Wang® FEIELO 5/5

Ms. Yan Lu® EHzto 12/12

Notes: B 5

(1) Dr.Qun Lu was appointed as Director with effect from 14 April 2023. () EBRBTERTR/ES H03F4AMBRER -
(2)  Dr. Xiang Ni was appointed as Director with effect from 14 April 2023. 2 RABIBEETAREE B2023F484BBER -
(3)  Mr. Chengwei Liu was appointed as Director with effect from 5 May 2022. Q) BEBREEAEERZETARES B2202F5ASHEER -
(4)  Mr. Gang Lu resigned as Director with effect from 31 January 2022. 4 ERTEBEES B002F I A3IFRBER -

(5)  Dr. Yan Wang resigned as Director with effect from 5 May 2022. G) EBLIHEES B2002F5AHBER -

(6) Ms. Yan Lu was appointed as Director with effect from 31 January 2022 and (6) BEXREXITEZERESE B2002FIA3HRBERR
resigned with effect from 13 April 2023. H2023F4 A 13EBE T ©
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Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional
Development

Every newly appointed Director has received a comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction to ensure that he or she has a proper
understanding of the operation and business of the Company and
full awareness of Directors’ responsibilities and obligation under the

Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

The Company will from time to time fund and arrange suitable
training to all Directors to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills in relation to their duties and responsibilities, such that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. All
Directors are also encouraged to attend relevant training courses at
the Company’s expense and they have been requested to provide the
Company with their training records. According to the training records
maintained by the Company, the continuous professional development
programmes received by each of the Directors during the Reporting

Period is summarised as follows:
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Type of Training

Directors = EIER
Dr. Youzhi Tong ERZEL A&B
Dr. Qun Lu® BEREE O A&B
Dr. Xiang Ni® RAFEL A&B
Mr. Chengwei Lui® 2 EELEO A&B
Mr. Weipeng Gao = NS A&B
Ms. Geqi Wei BT+ A&B
Dr. Michael Min Xu REE L A&B
Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung BIER A A&B
Prof. Liang Tong ERRE € A&B
Mr. Gang Lu® B W SE A @ A&B
Dr. Yan Wang® FHIELO A&B
Ms. Yan Lu® EHzto A&B
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A:  attending training sessions, including but not limited to, seminars, briefings,
conferences, forums and workshops.

B: reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the economy, general
business, corporate governance and directors’ duties and responsibilities.

Notes:

(1) Dr. Qun Lu was appointed as Director with effect from 14 April 2023.

(2)  Dr. Xiang Ni was appointed as Director with effect from 14 April 2023.
(3)  Mr. Chengwei Liu was appointed as Director with effect from 5 May 2022.
(4)  Mr. Gang Lu resigned as Director with effect from 31 January 2022.

(5)  Dr. Yan Wang resigned as Director with effect from 5 May 2022.

(6) Ms. Yan Lu was appointed as Director with effect from 31 January 2022 and
resigned with effect from 13 April 2023.

Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a term of three years and each of the
independent non-executive Directors and non-executive Directors
has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term

of three years.

None of the Directors have an unexpired service contract which is
not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

The Board shall have power from time to time and at any time to
appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or
as an additional Director, provided that the number of Directors so
appointed shall not exceed the maximum number determined from

time to time by the Shareholders in general meeting.
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All the Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors,
are subject to retirement by rotation and eligible for re-election in
accordance with the articles of association of the Company (“Articles
of Association”). At each annual general meeting, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) will retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director will be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every

three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

According to Articles of Association, any Director appointed by
the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first
general meeting of the Company after his appointment and be subject
to re-election at such meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board
as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting and shall then be eligible for
re-election.

The Company's circular for the forthcoming annual general meeting
will contain the detailed information of the retiring Directors standing

for re-election.
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Remuneration of Directors and Senior
Management

The particulars of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 38

to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Pursuant to code provision E.I.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of
the members of the senior management (other than the Directors) as
at 31 December 2022 by band is set out below:

SR

Remuneration band

EEREREEEFTM

EENFHFBERAFRGEEMBRERME
38 °

RIE B EERTRIFEE LIRS BIR - 722022
FRANE  SREEEBEXEB(EERINHOF
B mEH SRS T

Number of Individuals
for the year ended

31 December 2022
BZ2022%
12AIBLEFEAH

HKD2,500,001 — HKD3,000,000
HKD3,000,001 — HKD3,500,000
HKD6,000,001 — HKD#6,500,000
HKD6,500,001 — HKD7,000,000
HKD17,000,001 — HKD17,500,000

76 #23 000,001 — 75 3,500,000
75 6,000,001 — 7 #8¢ 500,000
7B 6,500,001 — 78 #7,000,000

75 15 500,001 — 5 3,000,000 3
|
|
|
75 517,000,001 — 7 #17,500,000 |

The emoluments include the share-based compensation expenses
for the Employee Incentive Scheme. RSUs were granted under the
Employee Incentive Scheme to senior management in respect of their
services to the Group. The fair values of such granted RSUs, which
have been recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over
the vesting period, were determined as at each of the grant dates
and the amounts included in the financial statements for the current
year are included in the above senior management's remuneration

disclosures.

As at 3|1 December 2022, the share price is lower than the exercise

price for tranche B.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

FHERES B ENABROSERNT
s - XRBIRDEMTIRZEB BB S
mEREEBRAAKREBMREMAERE - %
EREOXBHBEHECALBEREBEHRA
ERAEERSRTER  EREROLAHE
T AAEEMBHRRTEENEEECHAL
AEREREHFMOEESD -

PR2022F 2 A318 » REEARHXBRITEHEE -



Corporate Governance Function

The Board recognises that corporate governance should be the

collective responsibility of the Directors which includes:

(@) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional

development of the Directors and senior management;

(c to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and

compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors;

(d) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board

and report to the Board on such matters;

(e) to review the Company’'s compliance with the CG Code and

disclosure in the corporate governance report; and

(f) to review and monitor the Company’'s compliance with the

Company’s whistleblowing policy.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has
established three Board committees including the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.
The Board has delegated to the Board committees responsibilities
as set out in their respective terms of reference which are available
at the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their

duties.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with terms of
reference in compliance the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The
Audit Committee consists of one non-executive Director; namely Mr.
Chengwei Lui, two independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr.
Michael Min Xu and Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung. The chairman of the
Audit Committee is Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung.
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The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal

duties of the Audit Committee include but are not limited to:

ensuring the co-ordination between the external and the
internal auditors, and ensuring that the internal audit function
is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing with the

Company;

making recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditors, and
to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of
the external auditors, and any questions of its resignation or

dismissal;

reviewing and monitoring the external auditors’ independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in

accordance with applicable standards;

developing and implementing policy on engaging an external

auditor to supply non-audit services;

monitoring the integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and the annual report and accounts, half-year reports and
quarterly reports (if prepared for publication), and reviewing

significant financial reporting judgements contained in them;

discussing the risk management and internal control system with
management to ensure that management has performed its
duty to have effective systems. This discussion should include
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting

and financial reporting function;

reviewing arrangements that the employees of the issuer can use,
in confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties in

financial reporting and internal control matters.
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*  reviewing ongoing connected transactions of the Company and
ensuring compliance with terms of approval by the Shareholders;

and

*  reviewing the Company's financial and accounting policies and

practices.

The Audit Committee members shall meet at least twice a year

pursuant to the terms of reference for the Audit Committee.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee held
5 meetings to, among others, review and discussed (i) the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2021 and unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements for
the six months ended 30 June 2022 and recommend the same to
the Board for its consideration and approval. The Audit Committee
was of the opinion that the relevant results were prepared in
compliance with the applicable accounting standards and requirements
and that adequate disclosures had been made; (ii) the work of the
Group’s internal audit; and (iii) the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control system. All members of the Audit

Committee attended the meeting.

The attendance record of each member of the Audit Committee at

the meeting is set out below:
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Attendance/Number of Meeting

Directors BEx HE gERE
Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung 5B Tk 5/5
(Chairman) (F/%)
Dr. Michael Min Xu mEEL 5/5
Mr. Chengwei Liu 2BELE 3/3
(appointed as committee (R2022F55H & Z (T 53
member on 5 May 2022) ZEBHKE)
Dr. Yan Wang FHIEL 2/2
(resigned as committee (R2022F5A5HFFFZ B
member on 5 May 2022) 2HE)
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Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee with
terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules and the CG
Code. The Remuneration Committee comprises one executive
Director, Dr. Youzhi Tong and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Dr. Michael Min Xu and Prof. Liang Tong. The

chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Dr. Michael Min Xu.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal

duties of the Remuneration Committee include but are not limited to:

* to determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior

management;

* reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goals and

objectives;

*  making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, which should include benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, including any compensation

payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

*  making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of

non-executive Directors; and

¢ ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved

in deciding his/her own remuneration.

*  to review and approve matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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The Remuneration Committee members shall meet at least once
a year pursuant to the terms of reference for the Remuneration
Committee. Three meetings of the Remuneration Committee were
held for the year ended 31 December 2022 to review (i) the policy
for the remuneration of Directors and senior management; (ii)
assessing performance of the executive Directors; (iii) approving the

terms of the Directors’ service contracts; (iv) appointing directors.

Directors’ Remuneration Policy

The Company has established the following principles for determining

the remuneration packages of individual Directors:

*  no Director or any of his/her associates should determine his/her

own remuneration;

*  remuneration of Directors should reflect their performance,

experience, duties and responsibilities;

. the Remuneration Committee shall make recommendations to

the Board on the remuneration packages of individual Directors;

* remuneration of executive Directors shall include salary,
discretionary bonus, benefits in kind, share options or grants or
other incentive schemes (if any) and is determined in accordance
with individual performance, the Group's results and prevailing

market conditions; and

*  remuneration of non-executive Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) shall be in the form of cash fees and
is determined in accordance with individual performance and
contribution and the extent of responsibilities and the number of
Board meetings or relevant meetings of the Board committee(s)
that he/she has to attend. No equity-based remuneration
(e.g. share options or grants) with performance-related based
elements should be granted to independent non-executive
Directors to avoid any potential bias in their decision-making

which may compromise their objectivity and independence.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERRE

BEFTHEZESRESRE  FTHEEEKER
BFHLRIT-RGE - 8220229 12H318
IEFE  HFMEZEEGRITTIRNGH - LLIEA()
EEREREEBONEMEE: ()i ENTE
EMERR (WVBEESRBEHNETR (WE
TES -

EEFHMBOR

B+

RAIERVZATNRABE@ANESOFHMA

s EFRHMCMBEAINBETEEEREH
A -

s BEFMERMBESZMNRE K& - BE
REE:

. FHEESRHENEFNFHEENE
ERIBLERRE:

s MITEFENFNEREFE  BIBHEA -
B - BB RO S B S L At SR R T &)
(wAE) YREBEEAARR AEEXEN
BITMREE &

s FHNTEFBEBAUFATER)NF
MARE T AN ERBEARREE
Bl BERBEALRKRELENESTS S
HIAEEETZEEERNREETE - 15
FBYIFRTESETAAERRART
3= H 1 AT DA BRCZRS / 25 BE ) 357 BM (491 20 BB X
AR AR ER KD HIREM A
EREEFEBEMELRBUMNELERER

BARERXARAT
3§ 2022



76

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEERRE

The attendance record of each member of the Remuneration

Committee at the meeting is set out below:

FHZEesKEBHEEZNLEHIIWT:

Attendance/Number of Meeting

Directors Ex HE BB RE
Dr. Michael Min Xu (Chairman) RmEPEL(FE) 3/3
Dr. Youzhi Tong BERzZEL 3/3
Prof. Liang Tong EaHEK 3/3

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with terms
of reference in compliance the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The
Nomination Committee comprises one executive Director, Dr. Youzhi
Tong and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr.
Michael Min Xu and Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung. The chairman of the

Nomination Committee is Dr. Youzhi Tong.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal

duties of the Nomination Committee include but are not limited to:

* reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity
(including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, race, skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board
at least annually and making recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the corporate strategy of

the Company;
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e identifying individuals who are qualified/suitable to become a
member of the Board and selecting or making recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for

directorships;

* assessing the independence of independent non-executive

Directors; and

*  making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for

Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive.

The Nomination Committee members shall meet at least once a year
pursuant to the terms of reference for the Nomination Committee. 3
meetings of the Nomination Committee were held for the year ended
31 December 2022 to review structure, size and composition of the
Board and make recommendations to the Board for the appointment
of Directors. The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties and is able to seek independent
professional advice when necessary at the Company’s experience to

perform its duties.

The attendance record of each member of the Nomination

Committee at the meeting is set out below:
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BARERXARAT
3§ 2022



78

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERRE

Board Diversity Policy

The Board values diversity as a significant factor in selecting candidates
to serve on the Board, and believes diversity at the Board level can

strengthen the business development of the Company.

The Board adopted a board diversity policy which relates to the
selection of candidates for the Board. Pursuant to the board diversity
policy, selection of Board candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to the Company’s
needs, gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge, and industry and regional experience.
The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the

selected candidates will bring to the Board.

All Board candidates will be considered against objective criteria,

having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board consists of two female
Directors, representing approximately 22.2% of the Board. The Board
targets to maintain at least the current level of female representation.
The Board will continue to seek opportunities to increase the
proportion of female members over time as and when suitable

candidates are identified.
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The Group has also taken, and continues to take, steps to promote
diversity at all levels of its workforce. Opportunities for employment,
training and career development are equally opened to all eligible
employees without discrimination. Female employees represent
approximately 56.5% and 33.3% of the Group's total employees and
senior management, respectively. The Company aims to maintain at
least the current level of female representation among both total
employees and senior management. The Board is mindful of the
objectives for the factors set out above and will ensure that any
successors to the Board shall follow the gender diversity policy. The
Board will also take into consideration of the gender diversity when

assessing the candidates of the senior management of the Company.

The Board reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the board

diversity policy on an annual basis.

Director Nomination Policy

The Board has delegated to the Nomination Committee the
responsibility to determine the procedures, process and criteria to
be adopted for purposes of selecting and recommending candidates
for directorship. The Board may, however, rescind its delegation and
assume the responsibilities it previously delegated to the Nomination

Committee.
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The Board has delegated to the Nomination Committee the
responsibility to identify candidates for nomination to the Board
(including candidates to fill vacancies) and assess their qualifications
in light of the diversity policy and the terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee will
recommend director candidates for the Board's consideration and
review the candidates’ qualifications with the Board. The Board
retains the authority to nominate a candidate for election by the
Shareholders as a Director and to fill vacancies. In identifying director
candidates, the Nomination Committee may consider all facts
and circumstances it deems appropriate, including, among other
things, the skills of the candidate, his or her depth and breadth of
business experience and other background characteristics, his or her

independence and the needs of the Board.

Our Nomination Committee and Board may consider a broad range
of factors relating to the qualifications and background of nominees,
which may include diversity as set forth in the board diversity policy.
Our Nomination Committee’s and Board's priority in selecting board
members is identification of persons who will further the interests
of our Shareholders through their established record of professional
accomplishment, depth and breadth of business experience and other

background characteristics.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the

Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor about its reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in
the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 120 to 130 of this annual
report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’
REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the remuneration
paid/payable to the independent auditor of the Company,
PricewaterhouseCoopers for the provision of audit services and

non-audit services are as below:
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Fee paid/payable

gt ENEA

RMB’000

Services BR %% ARET T
Audit services = BR 3,400
Non-audit services IEAZ SR 75 —
Total FES 3,400

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature
and extent of the risks that the Company is willing to take in achieving
the Company's strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Company
establishes and maintains appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems. The Board oversees management in
the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems. The Board acknowledges that such risk
management and internal control systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. In light of the size, nature and
complexity of the Group’s business, the internal audit function is

performed by the Company'’s legal department.
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In preparation for the listing of the Shares, the Company has engaged
an independent internal control consulting firm to perform an overall
assessment on the Group's internal control system, including the
areas of financial, operation, compliance and risk management with
the aims of, among other matters, improving the Group’s corporate
governance and ensuring compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations. Based on its internal control review, the independent
internal control consulting firm recommended certain internal control
improvement measures to the Group and the Group has adopted
them.

The management would report to the Audit Committee and the
Board on all findings and the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems. The Audit Committee assists the Board in
leading the management to oversee the design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems, and
makes recommendations. The Audit Committee also ensures that an
overall review of the effectiveness of such systems is conducted at
least annually and put forward to the Board for consideration. The
Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and acknowledges its responsibility for
the risk management and internal control systems and reviewing their

effectiveness.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted a review
of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group covering all material controls, including financial,
operational, strategic and compliance controls and has considered the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting functions. The Board considers that the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems are adequate and effective.
The Board expects that a review of the risk management and internal

control systems will be performed annually.
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DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong and the
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should
be announced promptly when it is the subject of a decision. The
procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of

inside information are as follows:

*  the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and

Futures Commission of Hong Kong in June 2012;

* the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair
disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial

reporting, public announcements and the Company’s website;

* the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of
confidential or inside information and formulate a guidance about

information disclosure; and

* the Group has established and implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries about the Group's affairs,
so that only the executive Director and other authorized
representative of the Company are authorised to communicate
with parties outside the Group.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Wing Han Sharon Leung resigned as a joint company secretary
with effect from |7 February 2022 and Mr. Wai Chiu Wong has
been appointed as a joint company secretary on the same date as
replacement. For details of the appointment of Mr. Wong, please refer

to the announcement of the Company dated 18 February 2022.

During the Reporting Period, Ms. Yan Lu was the other joint company
secretary of the Company. Following the resignation of Ms. Lu on I3

April 2023, Mr. Wong remains as the sole company secretary.

During the year ended 3| December 2022, Ms. Lu and Mr. Wong had
undertaken no less than |5 hours of relevant professional training in
compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. The primary person at
the Company with whom Mr. Wong contacted in respect of company
secretarial matters was Ms. Lu, who was an executive Director; the
chief financial officer of the Group and a joint company secretary of
the Company. Mr. Cheung, CFO of the Group, will be the primary

contact person with Mr. Wong after Ms. Lu's resignation.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy, pursuant to which the

Company may declare and distribute dividends to the Shareholders.

According to the dividend policy, payment and the amount of any
dividends will be at the discretion of the Directors and will depend
upon the Group's future operations and earnings, development
pipeline, capital requirements and surplus, general financial conditions,
contractual restrictions and other factors that the Directors consider

relevant.

The declaration and payment as well as the amounts of dividends
shall be subject to all applicable laws and regulations, including but
not limited to the Companies Law, Cap 22 of the Cayman Islands and
the memorandum and articles of association of the Company. No
dividend shall be declared or payable except out of the Company’s
profits and reserves lawfully available for distribution. Dividends
declared in the past may not be indicative of the Company's future
dividend policy. The Directors have the absolute discretion to

recommend any dividend.
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As the Company is a holding company, declaration and payment of
dividends will depend on the availability of dividends received from
the subsidiaries, particularly the subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC.
The PRC laws require that dividends be paid only out of the net profit
calculated according to the PRC accounting principles, which differ
from generally accepted accounting principles in other jurisdictions,
including Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards. The PRC laws also
require foreign-invested enterprises, such as all the subsidiaries in the
PRC, to set aside part of their net profit as statutory reserves. These
statutory reserves are not available for distribution as cash dividends.
Distributions from these subsidiaries may also be restricted if they
incur debt or losses or in accordance with any restrictive covenants
in bank credit facilities or other agreements that the Company or the

subsidiaries may enter into in the future.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution proportion or distribution ratio. The Board will review the

dividend policy on a regular basis.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association, any one or more
Shareholders holding, as at the date of deposit of the requisition, not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the
right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in
writing to the Board or the company secretary for the purpose of
requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be

reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERRE

HRARBB/ERLTF - BREKNE K KKK
BURAR BB A B AR L E 2R o B M
FOSZE S B R B B o RBUERIRE -
I SRR BB & &R B FT E A9 48 H R
f mPBEEtRANEEMEDEAEENARE
ARAN(BREREEVHEREEN AMAR -+
BUZRTRENBRECXE(WABEETED
fBAR)EREIEDANBENEELER
ZERELBETARRRERBEDIK © i
FMBRARPIELEHXER  HXEREART]

SR B A )k R AT T M RITE B R A K
fio 3 2 7 ) 4E TR I 2232 - AIE SR IR ATAY

B e

AR AT o] FE SR B TE R BLE D IR L Pl S
kR -BEEHEHRRITBERRK -

IR R A
BRREMKRREFIAE

RIBABZRANAES8K - E—RIA LR
E22RAHFETPRARBZERA+ D
ZHBEREENBERAGLERE - ZBRE
NEBMPARNEFTSGHRARMERD - AEK
EZ2dfRRFINASURERBE R E
BEEMFEIE - ZARGERNEZZERKEWE
ARET - ME2%2B EXSRAHAEAH
ARG - AR 2 2RA LA B #H AR
FRELEE  ME2ERALTEEETSREE
ABRZAEMELENFERERX BRARR
AR 2 BRATEHER -

BARERXARAT
3§ 2022



86

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the Cayman
Islands Companies Law for the shareholders to move new resolutions
at general meetings. Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may
request the Company to convene a general meeting in accordance

with the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send enquiries to the Board by post to the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Suite 2007,
20th Floor, Tower 2, The Gateway, Harbour City, Kowloon, Hong

Kong for the attention of the company secretary.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Company’s business performance and strategies.
The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with the
Shareholders and in particular, through the annual general meeting
(“AGM") and other general meetings. At the AGM, Chairman and
chairman of the Board committees (or their delegates as appropriate)

are available to meet the Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The Company maintains a website at www.kintor.com.cn and
an email box of the Company’s investor relations department at
IR@kintor.com.cn as communication platforms with the shareholders
and investors, where the financial information and other relevant

information of the Company are available for public access.
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The Company is committed to providing the Shareholders of the
Company with balanced and understandable information about the
Company and has adopted a shareholders’ communication policy, the

summary of which is set out below:

e  corporate communication is published on the Stock Exchange's
website and the Company’s own website in a timely manner as

required by the Listing Rules;

*+ the Company shall publish announcements (on inside
information, corporate actions and transactions etc.) and other
documents (e.g. Memorandum and Articles of Association) on
the Stock Exchange's website in a timely manner in accordance
with the Listing Rules;

* any information or documents of the Company posted on
the Stock Exchange’s website will also be published on the

Company’s website (www.kintor.com.cn);

*  the annual general meeting and other general meetings of the
Company are primary forum for communication between
the Company and its Shareholders where the Shareholders
are provided with relevant information on the resolutions(s)
proposed at a general meeting in a timely manner in accordance
with the Listing Rules. The information provided shall be
reasonably necessary to enable the shareholders to make an

informed decision on the proposed resolution(s);

* the Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at the
meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the

meetings;
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*  where appropriate or required, the chairman of the Board and
other Board members, the chairmen of board committees or
their delegates, and the external auditors should attend general
meetings of the Company to answer the Shareholders' questions
(if any); and

*  written enquiries from the Shareholders about corporate
governance or other matters to be put to the Board and the

Company will be dealt with by the Board.

The Board conducted review of the implementation and effectiveness
of the communication policy for Shareholders. Having considered
the multiple channels of communication in place, the Board is of the
view that the Shareholders communication policy has been properly

implemented for the year ended 31 December 2022 and is effective.

Constitutional Documents

The Company has not made any changes to its Articles of Association
during the year ended 31 December 2022. The Articles of Association
is available for review on the respective websites of the Company and

the Stock Exchange's website.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

The board of the company is pleased to present this Director’s report
together with the consolidated financial statements of the group for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors, three
non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive

Directors.

Executive Directors

Dr. Youzhi Tong (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Dr. Qun Lu (appointed on 14 April 2023)
Dr. Xiang Ni (appointed on 14 April 2023)
Ms. Yan Lu (appointed on 31 January 2022 and
resigned on |13 April 2023)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Weipeng Gao

Ms. Gegi Wei

Mr. Chengwei Liu (appointed on 5 May 2022)
Mr. Gang Lu (resigned on 31 January 2022)
Dr. Yan Wang (resigned on 5 May 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. Michael Min Xu

Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung

Prof. Liang Tong

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 16 May
2018 as an exempted company with limited liability under the Cayman

Companies Law.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

We are a clinical-stage novel drug developer in China focused on
diseases with unmet clinical needs, especially AGA, acne vulgaris,
COVID-19, mCRPC and HCC We are committed to becoming
a leader in the research, development and commercialisation of

innovative therapies.
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RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are
set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on

page |31 of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as required by Schedule
5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), including an analysis of the Group’s financial performance
and an indication of likely future developments in the Group's
business is set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”
and “Management Discussion and Analysis’ of this annual report.
These discussions form part of this annual report. Events affecting
the Company that have occurred since the end of the financial year is
set out in the section headed “Significant Events After the Reporting
Period” in this annual report. The discussion of the Company’s key
relationships with its employees, suppliers and others that have a
significant impact on the Company is set out in the section headed

“Key Relationships with the Stakeholders” in this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

We are a biotechnology company listed on the Main Board under
Chapter 18A of the Listing Rules. There are unique challenges, risks
and uncertainties associated with investing in companies such as ours,
including: (i) we are a pre-revenue biopharmaceutical company with
a history of losses and we had net operating cash flow during the
track record period. We may need to obtain substantial additional
funding our operations; (ii) our financial prospects in the foreseeable
future depend on the successful completion of clinical trials of our
drug candidates, significantly depends on the successful completion
of clinical trials across the world and in China of our phase Ill drug
candidates, such as Pruxelutamide and Pyrilutamide. If we fail to
complete our clinical trials of our drug candidates, you may lose all
or substantially all of your investment; (iii) clinical drug development
involves a lengthy and expensive process with uncertain outcomes,
and we may be unable to achieve successful results in our clinical
trials; (iv) our drug candidates are subject to extensive regulation,
and we cannot assure you any of our drug candidates will receive

regulatory approvals; (v) we may not be able to effectively build and
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manage our sales network and implement our marketing strategies
and successful commercialisation; (vi) if we are unable to obtain and
maintain patent protection for our compounds or drug candidates
through intellectual property rights, or if the scope of such intellectual
property rights obtained is not sufficiently broad, third parties could
develop and commercialise drug candidates similar or identical to
ours and compete directly against us, and our ability to successfully
commercialise our drug candidates may be adversely affected; (vii)
we have in-licensed our ALK-1, GTI708F and GT90008, and may
continue to seek strategic partnerships or enter into additional
licensing arrangements in the future, which is subject to risks; and (viii)
intangible assets constitute a substantial portion of our total assets; if
we determine our intangible assets to be impaired, it would adversely

affect our results of operations.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

It is our corporate and social responsibility in promoting a sustainable
and environmental-friendly environment. We strive to minimize our
environmental impact and to build our corporation in a sustainable
way. We are subject to environmental protection and occupational

health and safety laws and regulations in China.

In 2022, we complied with the relevant environmental and
occupational health and safety laws and regulations in China and
we did not have any incidents or complaints, which had a material
and adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of

operations.

In accordance with Rule 1391 and the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide contained in Appendix 27 of the Listing
Rules, the Company’s environmental, social and governance report
will be published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company by the end of April 2023.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has
complied in all material aspects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group. During the vear ended 31 December 2022, there was no
material breach of, or non-compliance with, applicable laws and

regulations by the Group.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 301 employees, 9 of which
were key management, 63 of which were for clinical trials, 92 of which
were for R&D, 63 of which were for manufacturing, 14 of which were
for commercial, 14 of which were for project management and 46 of

which were for other functions.

We generally formulate our employees’ remuneration package to
include basic salary, position-specific salary, performance-based
remuneration, project-based remuneration and various allowances.
The Company makes contributions to social insurance and housing
provident funds as required by the PRC laws and regulations. We
also make contributions to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
and Internal Revenue Code Section 401(k) Plan for our employees
in Hong Kong and the United States, respectively. We provide our
employees with periodic training, including orientation training for
new employees, departmental technical training, as well as other
internal and external professional training, including good clinical
practice (GCP) training. The Company also has adopted the Employee
Incentive Scheme on 31 March 2020 to attract, retain and motivate
our key management and staff for their contribution to the Group.
Please refer to the section headed “Employee Incentive Scheme” in

this annual report for further details.

The total remuneration cost incurred by the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 was RMB252.2 million, as compared to
RMBI59.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2021.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

BFHEBERER

REFSMREEEMAN  AEBRAEERS
HETHASEXBRKEEERTEMIEH
SERER c RBIE202FNABLEFE - A%
EUEsERERKITETERAERER

EBERHMEE

20226 12A318 - ASEBNIREE
IFATEEHREAER  BEABRKAR N
LRMEANE  BRABEEAE - 4BABHE
fELAE 4R AEREIRAB R46B AHMA
g -

BMBEHEEEFMAIR  BEELATIE -
BEREIE RRFTH BEFTHMERZIEZE
Bh o AREIRBHBEREZRANATH LS
REBEMEIEQES - BMTREMER AN
TEMNEEDAMAEHMEAESFEFCKER
FUCE) 401(QFTEMER MR - RPITHREK
MEfEBREEN - BEMNET AR - &
P i 35 311 DA B E b 10 26 K 3B Bk 3£ 45 91 (B2
FRARREEETEREBGCPIFI) - XA
20203 A3IB K 4 fE B By Et &) - LARR3| -
BERIBEAREEEREIHAEEELE
e E— P HBHELHATRIEE HBEE

Paxan

—ERp-°

REBREE200FNANBILFEEEANT
B A AN 4858 B A RS2 0B &It - mE &2021
FRANHLEFEAAARKISOIAETT -



During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did not
experience any material labor disputes or strikes that may have a
material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition or

results of operations, or any difficulty in recruiting employees.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, our suppliers primarily
consisted of (i) CROs and CMOs; (ii) licensors from which
we obtained intangible assets in respect of our licensed-in
drug candidates; (iii) construction contractors for our Suzhou
manufacturing facilities; and (iv) suppliers of raw materials and other

materials for R&D use.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, purchases from the Group's
five largest suppliers amounted to RMB376.3 million (2021: RMB349.6
million), accounting for approximately 38.4% (2021: 28.3%) of the
Group'’s total purchase amount in the same year. The Group's
largest supplier for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to
RMB96.9 million (2021: RMB77.1 million), accounting for approximately
9.9% (2021: 6.2%) of the Group’s total purchase amount for the same

year.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates, or any
shareholder of the Company who, to the knowledge of the Directors,
owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued capital, has any interest

in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did not

experience any significant disputes with its suppliers.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS

The Group currently has no products for commercial sale and did
not generate any revenue from product sales for the year ended 3l
December 2022.
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KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes that various stakeholders including suppliers,
employees, Shareholders and other business associates are key to
Group's success. The Group strives to achieve corporate sustainability
through engaging, collaborating, and cultivating strong relationship with

them.

Relationship with Our Employees

We endeavor to cultivate talented and loyal employees by treating
our employees with dignity, respect and fairness. We conduct new
employee training, as well as professional and compliance training
programs for employees. We enter into employment contracts with
our employees to cover matters such as wages, benefits and grounds
for termination. The remuneration package of our employees usually
includes salary, bonus and share option incentives, which are generally
determined by their qualifications, industry experience, position and
performance. We make contributions to social insurance and housing
provident funds as required by the PRC laws and regulations. We
also make contributions to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
and Internal Revenue Code Section 401 (k) Plan for our employees in

Hong Kong and the United States, respectively.

Relationship with Shareholders

We recognise the importance of protecting the interests of the
Shareholders and of having effective communication with them. We
believe communication with the Shareholders is a two-way process
and have thrived to ensure the quality and effectiveness of information
disclosure, maintain regular dialogue with the Shareholders and listen
carefully to the views and feedback from the Shareholders by ways
of general meetings, corporate communications, annual reports and

results announcements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the audited consolidated results and the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted
from the audited consolidated financial statements, is set out on page
255 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the

audited consolidated financial statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing

Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company's

securities.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 39 to the

consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Company and the Group during the year ended 3| December 2022

are set out in Note |4 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company for the
year ended 3| December 2022 and details of the Shares issued during
the year ended 3| December 2022 are set out in Note 3| to the

consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURE ISSUED

The Group did not issue any debenture during the year ended 3|
December 2022.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Employee Incentive Scheme as set out in this annual
report, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group,

or existed during the year ended 31 December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

ErEBER

HEERANKHASHESZRELEHINELE
BRIEX BREARRAEERLHIAIRE K
RRZHEFRN -

RERERAR

EERTNERERABEAAREEMUEE
BWARREREREBSR -

B B 2 F]

ARAMBRRMF B NS M HHRERME
39 e

WX BERRE

AATRAEEREHE2002FE2A3BIEEENY
¥ WMENMRBEYFBING AV EBRERKN
El4e

BRAERE TR

ARATEE2002F 12831 B ILFEEH RS &t
BREZE202F12A3IBIEFENBEEITIRGE
SRR A PSR M FE31 -

ERTEER

BE2QNFNANBILFE  NEBEBERTE
AIEHERE -

AR 3R 4 89 1 5

PR HmATE N E BB 8IS - B E2022F
RANBELFE AKEA BT FEL
o] AL 32 B4 88 17 3%

BARERXARAT
3§ 2022

95



96

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ExEws

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the distribution of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the applicable
laws and regulations, every Director shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or
any of them may incur or sustain in or about the execution of their

duty in their offices.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company may pay dividends out of the share premium account,
retained earnings and any other reserves provided that immediately
following the payment of such dividends, the Company will be in a
position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary

course of business.

As at 31 December 2022, our Company had retained nil profits under

IFRSs as reserves available for distribution to our equity shareholders.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 134 and in Note

33 and Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at
31 December 2022 are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report and Note 26 to the

consolidated financial statements.
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has not issued any

convertible bonds.

LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANTS
RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF
THE CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has not entered
into any loan agreement which contains covenants requiring specific

performance of the controlling Shareholders.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND THE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group as at the date of this report are set out on pages 49 to 60
in the section headed "Profiles of Directors and Senior Management”

to this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract

with the Company for a term of three years.

Each of the non-executive Directors including independent
non-executive Directors has signed a letter of appointment with
the Company for a term of three years. The above appointments
are always subject to the provisions of retirement and rotation of

Directors under the Articles of Association.

None of the Directors have an unexpired service contract which is
not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

None of the Directors nor any entity connected with the Directors
had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to which the Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party subsisting during or at the end of the year ended 31 December
2022.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, none of the Directors
had any interest in a business, apart from the business of our Group,
which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with our

business, and requires disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was

entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2022.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have
any other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of
the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
OF ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2022, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which (a)
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which he was taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to
therein; or (c) were required to be notified to the Company and the

Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:
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Notes:
(1) The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

(2) Dr. TONG holds the entire share capital of KT International Investment Limited,
which directly holds 40,504,770 Shares. Accordingly, Dr. TONG is deemed to be
interested in 40,504,770 Shares held by KT International Investment Limited.

(3) 800,000 restricted shares held by Ms. Yan Lu lapsed during the Reporting Period.
As a result, Ms. Yan Lu was interested in 1,500,000 unvested restricted shares
under the Employee Incentive Scheme as at 3| December 2022.

(4)  The calculation is based on the total number of 447,499,600 Shares in issue of the
Company as at 31 December 2022.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the
Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in any of the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which (a) were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which he was taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein; or ()
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange

pursuant to the Model Code.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

GEE
() FEIURZMABALRBEROIE -

() E & L # B KT International Investment Limited #) &
BB A% A< - T KT International Investment Limited B &
¥ H40,5047708 B 0 o B ik - E 18 L3RR BRKT
International Investment Limited ¥ A #40,504,770 1% J& 1n
i 3 o

(3) RMEHM - E L5 #9800,0008% F R &l X 17
B Bt - R20202FNA3IE  ERLZETRES
D ET B TE T 1,500,0000% & 57 B S BR HI A 15 7 B

5 o

fm

() FTEDREBEAARR02FRAIBHNERITRMDA
20447,499,6000% I M5 i ©

B EXFTIREESN - R2022F12A318 @ EXR
RAMERTHAZRITRABRARG HEMEM
HEEZE(EERBSFRBEGRAEXVE)H
ERRG, - HEARNDKBEEZPHERQIREE
HREEIRFIEXVIBETR 8D WA B AR
ARBRINEEIAR (BREREES K
BRI EEGXHEHBEEEIR AEENER
KAKR)  RO)REBEFHRAE KO FEI52156E
HAZKEAMENELHMOZEEIAR HOR
PR AZ /ST B 8 8 AN AR B R B XX AT A A B SO

PN

=




SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, to the best of the Company’s and the
Directors’ knowledge, the following persons, not being a Director or
chief executive of the Company, had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which were required
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were required to be entered
in the register of interest required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO:
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7202212 A318 » SEARRIRESFTRA - A
THEARRAEFIERITHABZ ATRAEAR
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Approximate

Number of

underlying

percentage of

shareholding

Name Nature of interest shares® interest®
ERER
=z BEME HERGHBO BHYBEIEEO
KT International Investment Limited® Beneficial owner 40,504,770 (L) 9.05%
BEHERA
Dr. Chuangxin GUO® Interest in controlled corporation 36,676,270 (L) 8.20%
HeFHELTo R AEE R 7,500,000 (S) 1.68%
KG Development Limited® Beneficial owner 36,676,270 (L) 8.20%
EREAA 7,500,000 (S) 1.68%
Zhuhai Gree Group Co., Ltd.® Interest in controlled corporation 24,873,500 (L) 5.56%
KERNEBBERAR® XEmrEER
Zhuhai Gree Financial Investment Beneficial owner
Management Co. Ltd® EnEAA 24,873,500 (L) 5.56%
KERNEMREEEARAFO
BREXEARLRA
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Notes:

(

) The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares whist the letter
"'S" denotes a short position.

(2) Dr. TONG holds the entire issued share capital of KT International Investment
Limited, which directly holds 40,504,770 Shares. Accordingly, Dr. TONG
is deemed to be interested in 40,504,770 Shares held by KT International
Investment Limited.

(3)  Dr. GUO holds the entire issued share capital of KG Development Limited, which
directly holds 36,676,270 Shares in long position and 7,500,000 Shares in short
position. Accordingly, Dr. GUO is deemed to be interested in 36,676,270 Shares
in long position and 7,500,000 Shares in short position held by KG Development
Limited

(4)  Zhuhai Gree Financial Investment Management Co. Ltd (3K/81& 1 & @bIZ &
EMABMRAF]) is a company established under the laws of China, principally
engaged in equity investment, capital operation management, asset management,
asset restructuring, mergers and acquisitions and financial advisory services. The
ultimate shareholder of Zhuhai Gree Financial Investment Management Co. Ltd
is Zhuhai Gree Group Co., Ltd. (¥R /8 1& 15 B A PR 2 7)), a company owned
and supervised by the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of the local government of Zhuhai, Guangdong Province in China.

(5)  The calculation is based on the total number of 447,499,600 Shares in issue of the
Company as at 31 December 2022.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Directors
were not aware of any other persons who had any interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO or which would be recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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EMPLOYEE INCENTIVE SCHEME

The Employee Incentive Scheme was approved and adopted by our
Board on 31 March 2020. The purpose of the Employee Incentive
Scheme is to incentivise senior management and employees for
their contribution to the Group, and to attract and retain skilled
and experienced personnel for the future growth of the Group by
providing them with the opportunity to own equity interests in our
Company. The Employee Incentive Scheme is funded by existing

Shares of the Company only.

(1) Administration of the Employee Incentive
Scheme

The Employee Incentive Scheme shall be subject to the
administration of the Board in accordance with the rules of
the Employee Incentive Scheme. The Board may delegate the
authority to administer the Employee Incentive Scheme to a
designated administrator (the “Administrator”), being the Chief
Financial Officer of the Company. The Board may also appoint
one or more persons to assist in the administration of the

Employee Incentive Scheme as the Board thinks fit.

The Board's or the Administrator's determinations under the
Employee Incentive Scheme need not be uniform and may be
made by it selectively with respect to persons who are granted,

or are eligible to be granted Awards under it.

Each participant of the Employee Incentive Scheme (the
“Participant”) waives any right to contest, amongst other things,
the Awards or equivalent value of cash underlying the Awards
and the Board’'s administration of the Employee Incentive
Scheme. Any decision taken by the Board as regards the eligibility

of a person will be final and binding.
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(2)

(3

@

Awards

An Award may be granted in the form of RSA or RSU under
the Employee Incentive Scheme. An RSA consists of Restricted
Shares, which are shares granted to the Participant under the
Employee Incentive Scheme that are subject to such vesting
and transfer requirements as the Board shall determine, and
such other conditions as set forth in the rules of the Employee

Incentive Scheme.

Participants in the Employee Incentive Scheme

Persons eligible to receive Awards under the Employee Incentive
Scheme (“Eligible Persons”) include existing employees and
officers of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, excluding any
person who is resident in a place where the award of the Shares
and/or the vesting of the transfer of the Shares pursuant to the
Employee Incentive Scheme is not permitted under the laws and
regulations of such place or where in the view of the Board or
the Trustee as the case may be, compliance with applicable laws
and regulations in such place makes in necessary or expedient
to exclude such person. The Board selects the Eligible Persons
to receive Awards under the Employee Incentive Scheme at its

discretion.

Grant and acceptance
(a) Making an offer

An offer to grant Awards will be made to an Eligible
Person selected by the Board (“Selected Person”) by a
letter (“Grant Letter”). The Grant Letter shall specify the
Selected Person's name, the manner of acceptance of the
Awards, the type of Award, whether RSA or RSU and
the number of underlying Restricted Shares or Shares,
as the case may be, represented by the Awards, the
vesting criteria and conditions, the vesting schedule, the
consideration payable upon vesting and method of payment
(where applicable) and such other details as the Board
considers necessary. The Employee Incentive Scheme does
not specify a minimum vesting period. The exercise prices
for the RSA or RSU granted were determined based on,
inter alia, the subscription price in the pre-IPO fundraising

rounds of the Company.
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(5)

6)

7)

(b) Acceptance of an offer

A Selected Person may accept an offer for the grant of
Awards in such manner as set out in the Grant Letten
Once accepted, the Awards are deemed granted from the
date of the Grant Letter. No consideration is payable on

acceptance of an offer for the grant of Awards.

(c) Maximum entitlement of each participant

There is not specific limit on the maximum entitlement of

each participant under the Employee Incentive Scheme.

Maximum number of Shares underlying the
RSUs and Restricted Shares

The maximum number of Shares underlying the RSUs and
Restricted Shares that may be granted under the Employee
Incentive Scheme in aggregate (excluding Awards that have
lapsed or been cancelled in accordance with the rules of the
Employee Incentive Scheme) shall be such number of Shares
underlying the RSUs or Restricted Shares (as the case may
be) held or to be held by the Trustee for the purpose of
the Employee Incentive Scheme from time to time but shall
not exceed 23,613,590 Shares. As at the date of this report,
8,446,795 Shares are available for grant under the Employee
Incentive Scheme, representing approximately 1.89% of the total

issued Shares.

Appointment of the Trustee
The Company has appointed Sovereign Fiduciaries (Hong Kong)

Limited as the Trustee to assist with the administration and
vesting of Awards granted pursuant to the Employee Incentive

Scheme.

Term of the Employee Incentive Scheme

The Employee Incentive Scheme will be valid and effective for a
period of ten years, commencing from the date of the first grant
of the Awards, being 31 March 2020 (unless it is terminated

earlier in accordance with its terms).
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(8) Details of Awards granted B ERERBHNFE
The following are details of the Awards granted pursuant to the NTAREBZE20202F2A3BILFEREES
Employee Incentive Scheme during the year ended 31 December BB E R L RENEFS
2022:
Number of Number Number Number Number Number of
unvested of Awards of Awards of Awards of Awards unvested
Awards as granted vested cancelled lapsed Awards as at
at | January during the during the during the during the 31 December
Grantee and position Date of grant Exercise price per Share 2022 year year year year 2022
RW2022%F R2022%F
1AI1B 128318 i %
HABRN FAREN FRABEYN FRZEHN FARYEN BEH
BRBEARBHB RHBH BRITHEE RBEA RBEA RBEA RBEA MR RMEA
Directors
EZ
Yan Lu® 31 March 2020 Tranche A: US$0.0442
Tranche B: US$1.91515 2,600,000 — 500,000 — 800,000 1,300,000
E&O 2020F3A31R0 $RA:00402F T
BRB 191515 T
31 March 2021@ Tranche A: US$0.0442
Tranche B: US$1.91515 200,000 — — — — 200,000
20216 3A31H0 BIRA: 00402 T
#ERB191515% T
Five highest paid individuals during the Reporting Period
REBEHENEEREHHA L
31 March 20200 Tranche A:US$0.0442
Tranche B: US$1.91515 2,600,000 — 500,000 — 800,000 1,300,000
2020 3A31R0 BRA 004423 T
BIRB 191515 T
31 March 2021@ Tranche A:US$0.0442
Tranche B: US$1.91515 200,000 — — — — 200,000
20216 3A31R@ BRA 004423 T
BIRB 191515 T
30 September 20210 Tranche A:US$0.0442
Tranche B: US$1.91515 1,289,120 — — — — 1,289,120
20214F9R30R© BRA 004423 T
BIRB 191515 T
Other employees
BEtES
Employees of the Group 31 March 20200) Tranche A: US$0.0442
Tranche B: US$191515 12,475,700 = 2993925 e 4,698,475 4,783,300
AEEES 2020F3A31R0 $RA:00402F T
BRB 191515 T
31 March 2021@ Tranche A: US$0.0442
Tranche B: US$191515 2,611,800 = e e 218,600 2,393,200
20216 3A31H0 BIRA: 00402 T
BRB 191515 T
30 September 20210 Tranche A: US$0.0442
Tranche B: US$191515 719,100 == = = 151,800 567,300
20214943080 HIRA: 00402 T
BRB 191515 T
8 October 20224 Tranche A: US$0.0442
Tranche B: US$191515 — 1,139,950 — — — 1,139,950
2022F10A8H® HIRA: 00402 T

BLIRB :191515% 7T
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Note:
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“

On 31 March 2020, RSUs/Restricted Shares in respect of 1,843,410 underlying
Shares were granted to the selected participants.

In respect of 50% of the Awards originally scheduled to be vested on 3| March
2022, the vesting schedule has been amended by the Board pursuant to the rules
of the Employee Incentive Scheme to the effect that participating employees
may choose to |) adhere to the original vesting schedule and vest on 31 March
2022; 2) give up on 3| March 2022 and the RSUs or Restricted Shares will
automatically lapse and the Shares shall be returned back to the RSU/Restricted
Share pool; or 3) postpone the decision until 30 September 2022, on which
date the participating employees may choose to vest or give up the RSUs or
Restricted Shares. This modification only applies to the 50% Awards originally
scheduled to be vested on 31 March 2022. In respect of the remaining 50%
Awards granted on 31 March 2020, the vesting schedule is as follows:

(@)  asto approximately 25% of the Awards on 3| March 2023; and

(b)  asto approximately 25% of the Awards on 31 March 2024.

On 31 March 2021, RSUs in respect of 3,509,000 underlying Shares were
granted to the selected participants, which shall (unless the Board shall otherwise
determine and so notify the Participant in writing) vest as follows:

(@)  asto approximately 50% of the RSUs on 31 March 2023;

(b)  asto approximately 25% of the RSUs on 31 March 2024; and

(o) asto approximately 25% of the RSUs on 31 March 2025.

On 30 September 2021, RSUs in respect of 2,008,220 underlying Shares were
granted to the selected participants, which shall (unless the Board shall otherwise
determine and so notify the Participant in writing) vest as follows:

(@)  asto approximately 50% of the RSUs on 30 September 2023;

(b)  as to approximately 25% of the RSUs on 30 September 2024; and

() asto approximately 25% of the RSUs on 30 September 2025.

On 8 October 2022, RSUs/Restricted Shares in respect of 1,139,950 underlying

Shares were granted to the selected participants, which shall (unless the Board
shall otherwise determine and so notify the Participant in writing) vest as follows:

(@) as to approximately 50% of the Awards on 31 March 2024 or 30
September 2024;

(b) as to approximately 25% of the Awards on 3| March 2025 or 30
September 2025; and

(© as to approximately 25% of the Awards on 3| March 2026 or 30
September 2026.

The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date of grant of such
Awards was HK$1.24.
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(5)  Please refer to Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the fair value of Awards at the date of grant and the accounting standard and
policy adopted.

(6)  The weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately before the date on
which the Awards were vested is HK$7.05.

(7) 800,000 restricted shares held by Ms. Yan Lu lapsed during the Reporting Period.
As a result, Ms. Yan Lu was interested in 1,500,000 unvested restricted shares
under the Employee Incentive Scheme as at 3| December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year
ended 31 December 2022 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate; and none of the Directors, or
any of their spouse or children under the age of 18, had any right to
subscribe for equity or debt securities of the Company or any other

body corporate, or had exercised any such right.

REMUNERATION POLICY AND DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION

In compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix |4 to the Listing Rules,
the Company has established the Remuneration Committee to
formulate remuneration policies. The remuneration is determined
and recommended based on each Director’s and senior
management personnel’s qualification, position and seniority. As
for the independent non-executive Directors, their remuneration
is determined by the Board upon recommendation from the
Remuneration Committee. The senior management personnel are

eligible participants of the Employee Incentive Scheme.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, senior management and
the five highest paid individuals are set out in Note 38, Note 35 and

Note 10, respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
and there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the
Directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022, two directors were granted
discretionary bonuses of a total sum of RMBO0.8 million as set
out in Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements. Save as
disclosed above, none of the Directors were paid special bonuses or
discretionary bonuses for the year ended 31 December 2022.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the year
ended 3| December 2022 are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements contained in this annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

As at 8 February 2022, the Company entered into a loan agreement
with Dr. TONG, pursuant to which the Company agreed to provide
a loan of RMBI08,173,000 in aggregate to Dr. TONG for his personal
financing use. Pursuant to the loan agreement, the repayment date
was 30 June 2022 and the interest rate was 4.27% per annum.

On 29 June 2022, the Company entered into a supplemental loan
agreement with Dr. TONG to extend the repayment date of the loan
to 30 November 2022.

As of 31 December 2022, Dr. TONG has repaid the loan in full.

Save as disclosed above, none of the related party transactions
disclosed in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements
constitute connected transaction or continuing connected transaction
of the Company.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance was entered into between the Company,
or any of its subsidiaries, and any of its controlling Shareholders or
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2022.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any listed securities of the Company during the period

during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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MATERIAL LITIGATION

The Company was not involved in any material litigation or arbitration
during the year ended 31 December 2022. The Directors are also
not aware of any material litigation or claims that are pending or
threatened against the Group during the year ended 31 December
2022.

USE OF PROCEEDS

With the Shares of the Company listed on the Stock Exchange on
22 May 2020, the net proceeds from the Global Offering were
approximately HK$1,717.3 million (the “IPO proceeds”). As of 3l
December 2022, IPO proceeds have been fully utilised following the

proposed use of proceeds as set out in the Prospectus.

As at 31 December 2022, details of the application of net proceeds

are set out as follow:

B KA

BE20NFNAINBLEFE AARWE S RE
AIE RFFAASKE - MBFH - H 220224
RA3NBIEFEE  AEEJET A ERNEER
BE T E KXFAHERE -

FERERRE

ARARREHF2020FE5 A28 EB LT &
KBEEMBREFENARIBEEEL(E
RAFEEMSRIAD - #ZE2022F12 4318 -
BAARBEMERECRBRERMENM
SHREBEEZARETZHIA -

R2022F 12 A318 » FTSKIEFRERERFIBN
TR~

Utilised net
Approximate Planned use

% of total net

proceeds up to

of actual net 31 December

proceeds proceeds 2022
BZ202F
15 F 5 50R BRFAE 128318
FEAEN REFEN EBAME
BHED T FERR MERE
HKD’million HKD’million
% BERTR BEETR
Development and commercialisation of Pruxelutamide 420 721.3 7213
FAERBELCERBR
Development and commercialisation of Pyrilutamide 28.0 480.8 480.8
FAELARLEERLR
Our ongoing and planned clinical trials for our other clinical-stage drug candidates 14.0 2404 2404
RPE MR RRERENEYOETH R ERRE R
The R&D of pre-clinical stage drug candidates 6.0 103.1 103.1
i FR A B ER 72 °F B2 W 0 B¢
Working capital and general corporate purposes 10.0 1717 1717
LEEE N REERE
Total 100.0 [717.3 1,717.3
L
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TOP-UP PLACING OF EXISTING SHARES
AND SUBSCRIPTION OF NEW SHARES
UNDER GENERAL MANDATE

(1) Top-up Placing 2021

FERFEERARORBE —RIR
RERR BB 3R 2

() 22IFEERHEES

On 26 May 202I, the Company, KT International Investment
Limited (the " Vendor ") and KG Development Limited (the
“Selling Shareholder”) entered into a placing agreement with
UBS AG Hong Kong Branch, pursuant to which:

(@) the Vendor agreed to sell, and the placing agent agreed,
as agent of the Vendor, to, among other things, procure
purchasers to purchase 18,200,000 Shares in aggregate held
by the Vendor at a placing price of HK$64.50 per Share;

(b) the Vendor conditionally agreed to enter into a subscription
agreement with the Company to subscribe as principal for,
and the Company conditionally agreed to issue, 18,200,000
new Shares, at the price of HK$64.50 per subscription
share, which was equivalent to the placing price; and

() the Selling Shareholder agreed to sell, and the placing agent
agreed, as agent of the Selling Shareholder, to, among other
things, procure purchasers to purchase a total of 3,700,000
Shares at the price of HK$64.50 per Share.

Based on the closing price of HK$70.7 per Share as quoted
on the Stock Exchange as at the date of the subscription
agreement, the market value of the subscription shares was
HK$1,286,740,000.

On 31 May 2021, the completion of the placing took place, as a
result of which an aggregate of 21,900,000 placing shares were
successfully placed by the placing agent to no less than six places
who are professional, institutional and/or individual investors.
To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief
after having made all reasonable enquiries, the placees and their
ultimate beneficial owners were third parties independent of
and not connected with the Company or its connected persons.
As all conditions for the completion of the subscription had
been fulfilled, the Company allotted and issued 18,200,000
subscription shares to the Vendor at the subscription price on
2 June 2021 in accordance with the terms and conditions of the

subscription agreement.

R021F5H268 + AN A &) ~ KT International
Investment Limited ([ & 5 1) & KG Development
Limited ([ A% B% 3 1) B2 UBS AG Hong Kong
Brancha] 37 Aic & #h 5% © #R Ut -

@ BFARELE MEEREWEAEAH
MREB)REESPBE)RFEE IR
BRe4SOBTTHERBEEFFEDN
4 #£18,200,000 4% A% 15

b EFABKHRERARAF LR
WmEUEATEBAKRERRABE
IR 64508 T ERBE R &
B)RE MAR Tﬁﬂ R E T
18,200,000 A% 7 % 19

O ERBRRRAELE MESKREWEAR
ERBREORB)RAE(EFEE) R
FE L TR6450B THERBES
3,700,000 Bz 15 ©

BRERREHZ
HX % 1%70.7/% JL° E%
1,286,740,0007 7T °
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K BT E &
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It - & £21900,0000% B2 & A% 7 B BC & X
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% SEAREENEE A - BEEEL
—YEBEREBAARM  2BRESE - &
MARBREZREREBALDRBELFE=
FEHEARAFSEBEATILEBE - /B
N5 m%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ HHBEERK -
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18,200,000/ R EE AR 19 ©

BARERXARAT
3§ 2022

111



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EsgRE

The net proceeds from the subscription amounted to
approximately HK$I.16 billion, net of professional fees and
out-of-pocket expenses. The net price for the Shares sold by the
Vendor was approximately HK$63.75 per placing share. As at 3|
December 2022, all of the net proceeds have been utilised for
the development and commercialisation of Pruxelutamaide and
working capital for general corporate purpose. Details of the

application of the net proceeds are set out as follows:

REEENMERBFEORINLEBT
(BENBREXEBEARENAR) - BALEE
BHOERFENAETREESRHT75H
JC ° R20224F 12 A318 » 2B RIEFEE
HERHAUNEERBROMAEREEL
IREEBESUE—RARI AR - FIBHK
EHeENERFBO TR

Utilised net

Approximate %

Planned use

proceeds up to

of total of actual 31 December
net proceeds net proceeds 2022
BZ2022F
15 Fi 5 7R BRFAE 128318
FEAEN REFEN EBRARE
BHED L SEAR MERE
HKD’million HKD’million
% BEETR BEET
Phase Il multi-regional clinical trials (MRCT) of Pruxelutamide in the U.S,, 60 696.0 696.0
China and a few other countries
ErEmaxE  FERACHERROBEERS SO0 ERK
B (MRCT)
Procurement of study material and active pharmaceutical ingredient (API) 33 382.8 382.8
in preparation for the commercialisation of Pruxelutamide
REMAMERRHMEAP)VAEFEECERER
Working capital for general corporate purpose 7 81.2 81.2
ZEESUE—RAAMAE
Total 100 [,160 [,160
Bat

During the Reporting Period, the Group had followed the
proposed use of proceeds as set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 26 May 2021.
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(2) Top-up Placing in 2022

Top-up Placing 2022-]

On 31 August 2022, the Company and the Vendor entered into
a placing and subscription agreement with the Hongkong and
Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited and J.P. Morgan Securities

(Asia Pacific) Limited as placing agents, pursuant to which:

(@) the Vendor agreed to sell, and the placing agents agree, as
agents of the Vendor, to procure purchasers to purchase
28,442,500 Shares in aggregate held by the Vendor on
failing which, to purchase such Shares, at a placing price of
HK$13.94 per Share; and

(b) the Vendor conditionally agreed to subscribe as principal for,
and the Company conditionally agreed to issue, 19,910,000
new Shares, at the price of HK$13.94 per Share, which was

equivalent to the placing price.

On 2 September 2022, the completion of the placing took place,
as a result of which an aggregate of 28,442,500 placing shares
were successfully placed by the placing agents to no less than
six placees who are professional, institutional and/or individual
investors. To the best of the Director's knowledge, information
and belief after having made all reasonable enquiries, the
placees and their ultimate beneficial owners were third parties
independent of and not connected with the Company or its
connected persons. As all conditions for the completion of the
subscription had been fulfilled, the Company allotted and issued
19,910,000 subscription shares to the Vendor at the subscription
price on 7 September 2022 in accordance with the terms and

conditions of the placing and subscription agreement.

Based on the closing price of HK$16.14 per Share as quoted
on the Stock Exchange as at the last trading day prior to the
signing of the subscription agreement, the market value of the
19,910,000 subscription shares issued was HK$321,347,400.
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The net proceeds from the subscription amounted to be ZERBFFIEFELNR27308EE T(E
approximately HK$273.0 million, net of professional fees and HMGBEEXEBARENAX) - BEALERGE
out-of-pocket expenses. The net price for the Shares sold by the &/ FE KRB ERE SR MK 13.758 7T ° M202245F
Vendor was approximately HK$13.75 per placing share. As at 31 RA3NR EBAREFTIEMSERIE408EE
December 2022, proceeds from the subscription of HK$240.8 /& JT ° 120224 12 A318 » FT153 K 1B 3 &E Y ¢
million has been utilised. As at 31 December 2022, details of EREFBETHAR:

intended application of net proceeds are set out as follows:

Expected timeline

Utilised net for utilizing the
Approximate Planned use  proceeds up to remaining balance of
% of total net of actual net 31 December net proceeds from the
proceeds proceeds 2022 Proceeds unused  Top-up Placing
EFRBHE BEunF BRABRNEE
FEARN ERASXE  1ANARCEHA FEHERRRREH

BOBEs FENHERE  FEFEFE ADAMSHE NESKEER
HKD’million HKD’million HKD’million

% BEET BEET BERT
Clinical development and preparation for the 75 2048 2048 — =
commercialisation of Pruxelutamide

BRFERBBERCERER —

Clinical development of Pyrilutamide 25 683 360 323 Expected to be fully utiised
by December 2023

NGRS T B 020035
DARIZ BB

Total 100 273 2408 23

#it

During the Reporting Period, the Group had followed the REEHE - NEEEERBAQF A /2022

proposed use of proceeds as set out in the announcement of the FEA3IAM A EME R PTG RIBH EREEA

Company dated 31 August 2022. B o
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Top-up Placing 2022-1]

On 9 December 2022, the Company and the Vendor entered
into a placing and subscription agreement with the Hongkong
and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited and J.P. Morgan
Securities (Asia Pacific) Limited as placing agents, pursuant to

which:

(@) the Vendor agreed to sell, and the placing agents agree, as
agents of the Vendor, to procure purchasers to purchase
42,000,000 Shares in aggregate held by the Vendor at a
price of HK$12.94 per Share; and

(b) the Vendor conditionally agreed to subscribe as principal for,
and the Company conditionally agreed to issue, 40,000,000
new Shares, at the price of HK$12.94 per subscription

share, which was equivalent to the placing price.

On 14 December 2022, the completion of the placing took place,
as a result of which an aggregate of 42,000,000 placing shares
were successfully placed by the placing agents to no less than
six placees who are professional, institutional and/or individual
investors. To the best of the Director’s knowledge, information
and belief after having made all reasonable enquiries, the
placees and their ultimate beneficial owners were third parties
independent of and not connected with the Company or its
connected persons. As all conditions for the completion of the
subscription had been fulfilled, the Company allotted and issued
40,000,000 subscription shares to the Vendor at the subscription
price on |6 December 2022 in accordance with the terms and

conditions of the placing and subscription agreement.

Based on the closing price of HK$14.34 per Share as quoted on
the Stock Exchange as at the date of the placing and subscription
agreement, the market value of the 40,000,000 subscription
shares issued was HK$573,600,000.
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The net proceeds received by the Company was approximately
HK$509.1 million, net of professional fees and out-of-pocket
expenses (the “Net Proceeds”). The net price for the Shares sold
by the Vendor was approximately HK$12.73 per placing share.
As disclosed in the Company's announcement dated 28 March
2023, the Company received the Net Proceeds on 16 December
2022, and the Net Proceeds remained unutilised (the “Unutilised
Proceeds”) as at 31 December 2022 due to the short time

interval.

In light of the alleviation of the COVID-19 pandemic and fierce
competition in the COVID-19 oral small molecule drug market,
the Board has resolved to reallocate the use of the Unutilised
Proceeds to optimise the utilisation of the Unutilised Proceeds
and generate better investment returns in the long run. Details
of the original allocation and utilisation of the revised allocation of

Unutilised Proceeds are set out below.

Original use of
Unutilised Proceeds

RARWE AR RIB F L A500.18 8
BTGB EXEBEBAREREHEMDUAM
SREIFED BAHENRONFEEL
BEBREERMNR73E T - A REH
B A2023F3H28HM A EFIEE - A QA
20202F 12 A6 AR B FT{S IR F5E - MA
1F2022F 12 A318 - ARERRBERE - F7
SRIEBFEHRDA(HRBAOER
1H]) e

i 7 COVID-19% & #& i . COVID-19 [ AR /N
DTEYTISHMINGE  EETLEEH)
EFORERBANMERENRSE - A
BAEBMAREBANMMERENGER LK
RERELEFEREDR - RiTH B &KW
REARMERIBLBII P ENESAER
ZEHIBEINWMT -
Expected timeline

for utilising the
Unutilised Proceeds

Revised allocation of
Unutilised Proceeds

HABRANAEHE HABRANAEHED HABRNREHEN
MR A% BBILE BHBRARER
% HK$’ million % HKS$’ million ~ HK$’ million
% BERR % BERT HERER
Clinical development and preparation for the 70 3564 15 764 Expected to be fully utiised
commercialisation of pruxelutamide for the by December 2023
treatment of COVID-19
ERBRARCOVID- 9B R B BT BHROBFNAFNZE
314 bl
Clinical development of pyrilutamide for the 25 1273 49 2495 Expected to be fully utiised
treatment of AGA and acne vulgaris by June 2024
Bt R ABACAR EEM KRR % BHM0MFARI 2
byl
Clinical development of GT20029 for the treatment 5 254 27 1375 Expected to be fully utilised
of AGA and acne vulgaris by June 2024
GT2009ARAGAR BN R KR % BERR0MF AN E
b
General working capital — — 9 458 Expected to be fully utilised
by June 2024
~REEES BHR0MFARI 2
B
Total 100 509.1 100 509.1
)
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For further information on the change in allocation of the
Unutilised Proceeds, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 28 March 2023.

The Top-up Placing 2021, Top-up Placing 2022-1 and Top-up
Placing 2022-II were conducted by the Company for the purpose
of supplementing the Group's long-term funding of its expansion
plan and growth strategies, as well as providing an opportunity
to raise further capital for the Company whilst broadening the

shareholder base and the capital base of the Company.

TERMINATION OF THE 2021 AIC
AGREEMENT

On 27 August 2018, Dr. TONG and Dr. Chuangxing GUO
(collectively, the “Concerted Parties") entered into an acting in
concert agreement (the “2018 AIC Agreement”), pursuant to which
the Concerted Parties agreed to act in concert in respect of, among
other things, exercising voting rights and making proposals at general
meetings and board meetings of all Group companies upon the
expiration of which such term could be extended with the mutual

consent of the Concerted Parties.

On 27 August 2021, the Concert Parties entered into a new acting in
concert agreement (the “2021 AIC Agreement”) for a term of one
year, automatically renewable upon the expiration of the foregoing
one-year term. Pursuant to the 2021 AIC Agreement, such renewal
shall automatically take place each year until and unless the Concerted
Parties expressly terminate the 2021 AIC Agreement. Save for the
foregoing change in the term relating to the renewal of the 2021 AIC
Agreement, the principal terms of the 2021 AIC Agreement remain
substantially the same as those contained in the 2018 AIC Agreement.

On 27 August 2022, the Concerted Parties entered into a termination
deed to expressly terminate the 2021 AIC Agreement. Since then,
the Concerted Parties are no longer deemed to be interested in the

Shares held by each other.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed percentage of

public float under the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate
governance for enhancing the management of the Company as well as
preserving the interests of the shareholders as a whole. The Company
has adopted the code provisions set out in the CG Code as its own
code to govern its corporate governance practices. Information on the
corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 61 to 88 of this annual
report. In the opinion of the Directors, save as disclosed in this annual
report, the Company has complied with the relevant code provisions
contained in the CG Code during the Reporting Period. The Board
will continue to review and monitor the practices of the Company

with an aim to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Wallace Wai Yim YEUNG and Dr. Michael Min
XU and one non-executive Director, namely, Mr. Chengwei LIU. The
chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. Wallace Wai Yim YEUNG.
The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022. The
Audit Committee has also discussed with the management and the
independent auditors of the Company the accounting principles and
policies adopted by the Company and discussed internal control and
financial reporting matters (including the review of the audited annual
results for the year ended 31 December 2022) of the Group. The
Audit Committee considered that the annual results are in compliance
with the applicable accounting standards, laws and regulations, and the

Company has made appropriate disclosures thereof.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been audited
by PricewaterhouseCoopers, who was re-appointed as the auditor
of the Company at the AGM dated 30 June 2022. A resolution to re-
appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers and to authorise the Directors to
fix its remuneration was dully passed by the shareholders as ordinary

resolutions of the Company at the AGM.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, we do not have other plans for

material investments and capital assets.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

On 28 March 2023, we announced that the analysis results of the
multi-center, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase Il
clinical trial of Pruxelutamide for the treatment of mCRPC in China
showed that it failed to reach statistical significance differences at
the overall survival time primary endpoint, but some sub-groups
observed positive effects of Pruxelutamide and showed good safety

and tolerability.

For further details, please refer to the Company's announcement
dated 28 March 2023.

Save as disclosed above, there are no important events affecting the

Group which have occurred since the end of the Reporting Period.

By order of the Board
Dr. Youzhi Tong
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, April 28, 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B % BE R &

To the Shareholders of Kintor Pharmaceutical Limited

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Kintor Pharmaceutical
Limited (the “Company’’) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”),

which are set out on pages 131 to 254, comprise:

* the consolidated statement of financial position as at 3l
December 2022;

* the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the

year then ended;

*  the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

* the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then

ended; and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include

significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 3|
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (“ISAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the

Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
International Independence Standards) issued by the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA
Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

*  Impairment assessment of In-licenses and In-process Research

and Development (“IPR&D") in the intangible assets

*  Recognition and measurement of research and development

costs

. Assessment of net realisable value of inventories
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Key Audit Matter

HRBESHEE

Impairment assessment of In-licenses and IPR&D in

the intangible assets

BEEAENFIRERETHORBRETME

Refer to Notes 2.8, 29, 4(b) and 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.
BLMERETBHRERPHIE28 29 ~ 40b) 16 °

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s In-licenses and
IPR&D in the intangible assets which are not yet ready
to use amounted to approximately RMB79,618,000 and
RMBI55,272,000, respectively.

R2022F12A318 - B & B 5 K = 2| 7] £ ik A
BNEENAARERETHNRAZESHNOB/ARE
79,618,0007T K2 A R #155,272,0007T °

The Group is required to perform an annual impairment
assessment for intangible assets not yet ready for use.
Management engaged an independent external valuation
expert to assist them in assessing the recoverable amount
of each individual In-licenses and IPR&D based on fair value
less costs of disposal (“FVLCOD") using discounted cash flow
model. The key assumptions adopted in the determination
of FVLCOD include success rate of commercialisation,
market penetration rate, revenue growth rate, forecasted
percentage of costs and operating expenses, and post-tax
discount rate.

BEEEAR R RERAIERMRENELEELTF
BRER G - BREERE B IIBEEER - LA
BEEHERAABEREEER(AREEREER
ERDEARSREMBARL (S EFFAIEMETT
TEHENRIKESHE - BEQAABERREEEBE
RENEIZRREEBRELCOXNINE MHLEX -
W RE AR KERTARIE LA RTILBRR

% o

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNEFTNNEERRETSHE

We obtained an understanding of the management'’s internal

control and assessment process of estimation of recoverable
amounts of the In-licenses and IPR&D and assessed the
inherent risk of material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity and susceptibility
to management bias or fraud.

B TREEBA BT AR ETTAMEA
WEEBOREEG R ERRRF - LEF GEERER
M E A R - B R T R R E M BV AR A E A [E
BRRBEZ  fIanfAst e s TBREUAREEE
B s 7 3K 5% 8K P 38 B $8 R 0 SRR ©

We assessed the competence, capability and objectivity of
the independent external valuation expert.

HAFHE T BN BEEERNEFES - N NEE
M o

We assessed management’s future cash flow forecasts and
the key assumptions used in determining the recoverable
amounts. Our procedures included:
BAHFETEEBNARRERERAALAREE
AREEEHNEERR - HAANEFEE:

* assessing the valuation methodology adopted by

reference to industry practice;

- 2EFEEOFERRANMGESE:

*  evaluating success rate of commercialisation, revenue
growth rate and market penetration rate with industry
historical data;

- NBTERELRBEMGEEELHNKINE - Wik
EEANBBEE:
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

HRBESHEE EMNEFTNNEERRETSHE

Impairment assessment of In-licenses and IPR&D in *  comparing forecasted percentage of costs and operating

the intangible assets (Continued) expenses to the industry historical data, taking into
EAE E NI R R GET PR OB E T (F) consideration of market trends;

- REBEMSBY  BRARKERZTEAGE
We focused on this area because of the significance of the TERE L SR EITHE

balances of In-licenses and IPR&D and the high degree

of uncertainty, including the complexity and subjectivity =+  assessing the post-tax discount rate for each individual

of management estimates involved in determining the intangible asset by referencing to the comparable
recoverable amounts and the key assumptions adopted. companies in the pharmaceutical industry and
BPBEFE L& - DRI R ETRM ENLE recalculating the weighted average cost of capital for
HRHNEBAEMSETEEL(BEEEATRE € EM each individual intangible asset, as well as considering
HRHEREEET AR B E B/ AE M territory specific factors, such as risk free interest
FEM) - rate, market risk premium and debt ratio prevailing in

relevant market.

- BAZERETENIHBRARYENAERE
BIVEENMETHERKAE A KREEMREF
R B & (7] 40 48 B8 T 3% &0 B @ B A 3K - TS E R
BEMEBLR) FESBEETLEENTEMR

*  testing the mathematical accuracy of the discounted
cash flow forecasts and comparing the estimated
recoverable amounts with carrying value to determine
whether impairment exists.

- RAFRMBERSREBANHBEREE - W HMAE
WA E S RERIEETHE  UEEEEF
FERE

*  evaluating the sensitivity analysis performed by the
management on the key assumptions used in the cash
flow forecasts to assess the potential impacts on the
impairment assessment.

- HHEEERRARERAPEANEIZREM
ETOHRESN - U HEEREFENEER
o,
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Key Audit Matter

HRBESHEE

Recognition and measurement of research and

development costs

MBERANEINGTE

Refer to consolidated statement of comprehensive income
and Notes 2.8 and 7 to the consolidated financial statements.
FR2HRA AR ER MRV K MR P E28%
7 o

For the year ended 3| December 2022, the Group incurred
research and development (“R&D") costs of approximately
RMB827,974,000 which was charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.
BRNFLANALFE EEEEENHAE(H
B AR R ARYS279740007 - ERERE 2 E W
REGIER -

The R&D costs mainly include employee benefit expenses,
clinical research expenses, materials and consumables
used, outsources R&D costs paid to contract research
organizations (“CRQO"), utilities and depreciation of property,
plant and equipment in relation to R&D activities.
MEXRATEZEFERB LD EHENEERMNFAX -
RARMIERX EEAMHRIEN ENELHHFTH
B (CRODKIINEIA B AR - KEEUARYME - BEKR
RIBITE -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNEFTNNEERRETSHE

We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related to

the impairment assessment of In-licenses and IPR&D in the
consolidated financial statements.

BAPIREAE TAR B B 15 R h B2 AT I 4 MOE 1T R A0 T 3%
MREFEEENRENT B -

Based on the procedures performed, we considered that
management's judgements and estimation in the impairment
assessment of In-licenses and IPR&D were supported by the
evidence we gathered.

ERMETER  BMAR/BAMBENERENAX
FEEEEARMETTONENBENEFHH
B At 5t o

We understood, evaluated and tested, on a sample basis,
the key controls over recognition and measurement of R&D
costs.

AT AR - B4 0 ORI SRR R AN T E 0T E AN AR
SRR I o

We inquired management and the project managers to

understand the progress of each R&D project.
HAAFREREEBMBERLEATHSHEEENERE

We tested R&D transactions, on a sample basis, by
examining the relevant supporting documents, including
contracts, purchase invoices, R&D progress reports, R&D
staff time report, and material consumption records.
ZMBBRERBHOKHXXE (BEAD  RBEER
MEEERE ARABIRRENMEERERLZ )
HMBEZXFETHRENA -

We circularised confirmations, on a sample basis, to suppliers
and CROs to confirm the purchase transaction amounts in
relation to the R&D transactions during the year and the
related payable balances at the year end date.
BARmEEERAHERMCROE LMK - AR
HEAMBIFEENRBIZEBEUAIRFELERDN
MR BE AT 4 5R o
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Key Audit Matter

HRBESHEE

Recognition and measurement of research and

development costs (Continued)

TF 8% BK A B 52 M 5T B (4]

We focused on this area given the large volume of the R&D
transactions and its significance to the consolidated financial
statements and thus significant audit effort involved.
BABE S  DTHARZEIRENTERISME
HRaMBRENEARNY URERAPRHEKRSE
FHIAE -

Assessment of net realisable value of inventories

FENERFETME

Refer to Notes 2.12, 4(d) and 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

F2HgEEecENER G BHmRARPH F2.12
4(d) &2 o

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s inventories amounted
to approximately RMB603,503,000. Inventories amounted to
RMB92,986,000 were written down during the year.

R002FNRA3IH EEBMEFEELNAARK
603,503,0007T ° Eéimw/)azﬂ’aﬁiéz%/\ﬁﬁ@z,%é,ooo

7T|:o
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNEFTNNEERRETSHE

We tested R&D transactions, on a sample basis, that took
place before and after the year end date to supporting
documents and assessed whether those costs were recorded
in the appropriate financial reporting period.

BB EEAZAMZRBELENTRIZREUE
SEMEXM - WRHEE LR AR T RN B E # B

Based on the procedures performed, we considered the
recognition and measurement of R&D costs were supported
by the evidence we gathered.
ERMETER BB/ BMAMEKENE
R B AN ERIAE -

BRI IAX

We obtained an understanding of the management’s
internal control and assessment process of estimation of
net realisable value of inventories and assessed the inherent
risk of material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors
such as subjectivity and susceptibility to management bias or
fraud;

M THEEBNFEAERFEMFTORIES R
AHEBE - BBE R T EEENIEEIA R EAME
BRBREZRNKFE  PINETBENMYEREREH5E
BEGURNE - FEEEARHERHE S R R

We evaluated and validated the key controls over the
assessment of net realisable value of inventories.

IR B B S e G Al IR FEF AR SIEH] -
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Key Audit Matter

HRBESHEE

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net

realisable value. Net realisable value was calculated based
on the estimated selling prices, costs to be incurred upon
completion of production, costs to be incurred to make the
sale and the relevant tax.

BEDIRRA KA BIFEAME QRS (hE - 7
BRENREGHEE  CESRBEEORA - 3
EEENRARABRASE -

We focused on this area because of the significance of
the balances of inventories and high degree of estimation
uncertainties and judgement subjectivity associated with
usage of the inventories, estimated selling prices, future sales
quantities and related processing fees and selling expenses
in management’s determination of the net realisable value of

inventories.
BMEIHEHE I ERAATEAHRNEEMUNRER
EETCHEMNAEZRFERETERSE  Hi6E -

ARFEEMNHBEMTERHEERAEBENSEMGET T
FEE I R H T EBE -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNEFTNNEERRETSHE

We assessed and examined the judgements and estimates

applied by management in determining the net realisable
value of inventories including understanding management’s
intention of inventory usage and its alternatives, comparing
selling prices and processing fees, on a sample basis, to open
market prices or quotations provided by third-parties, and
challenging the estimated sales quantities with the market
scale or demand and the selling expenses against industry

practice.
B EREEERECREFTEN ERFERAE

ArHEMmts BERTHREEBHFEEAERESR
RAERNEE  EWMEER L EHEEERMMIER
AFEMSERKIE=TRENFELTLE  LRE
MEHRBABRNEEETRAEEANHEERLER -

We obtained and assessed the methodology of
management’s calculation of the net realisable value of
inventories.

RPESYHEEEEHEFENERFENTE -

We observed the physical condition of the inventories
during attendance of stocktake conducted by management
to identify any expired or damaged items and followed up
if those identified items were included in the management’s
assessment.

EEEEETRHIE  RMABEFENYIEAN NN
A EBRRBEEYR  THZFEIENEFERD
BREEEEBNTHPETRE -

We checked the mathematical accuracy of management’s
calculations of the net realisable value of inventories.

HfeEEREtEFEN 2R R ENMBERIE -

Based on the procedures performed, we considered that
management's judgements and estimation in the assessment
of net realisable value of inventories were supported by the
evidence we gathered.

REFATHERF BMARSREEBEETHFER
S FERNARMEA SR RMAMBEZFRNHX

f o
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in Kintor Pharmaceutical Limited 2022 Annual Report (the
“annual report”) other than the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon. We have obtained some of the other
information including company profile, corporate information, financial
highlights, profiles of directors and senior management, corporate
governance report and financial summary prior to the date of this
auditor’s report. The remaining other information, including chairman’s
statement, business highlights, management discussion and analysis,
directors’ report and the other sections to be included in the annual

report, is expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not and will not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information identified above
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially

misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information
that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor's report, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to

report in this regard.

When we read the remaining other information to be included in the
annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to Audit
Committee and take appropriate action considering our legal rights

and obligations.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have

no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s

financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated

financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

* Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

*  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion

on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

*  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures

made by the directors.

*  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

*  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.
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*  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely

responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards

applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is CHAN Chiu Kong, Edmond.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

— A LI&M
lI‘/i\ | éﬁ ﬁ'%%
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

Year ended 31 December

BENANBLFE
2022 2021
20225 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt 5 ARB®TRT ARETE
Revenue from out-licensing contracts HINEES W = 5 — 34,231
Cost of sales iH & B A — —
Gross profit EF — 34,231
Other income E bl A 6 18,612 29,311
Marketing costs & 8H B AR 7 (20,326) (14,698)
Administrative expenses TR 2 7 (132,249) (103,255)
Research and development costs ot 2 A X 7 (827,974) (767,936)
Other gains/(losses) — net Hiples /(B1B)F5E 8 17,408 (17,254)
Operating loss REBE (944,529) (839,601)
Finance costs B 75 B AR 9 (8,187) (2,494)
Share of losses of an associate and a joint DIHEERRIREEDE
venture ) & 18 (568) —
Loss before income tax BR P18 Bi AT 5 18 (953,284) (842,095)
Income tax expense iEHER I (1,085) —
Loss and total comprehensive loss for ARREBREAER
the year attributable to the equity FAFEREZHEER
holders of the Company RG] (954,369) (842,095)
Basic and diluted loss per share for loss AATEZFEAEM
attributable to the equity holders of EXRmEERER
the Company (in RMB) (AR¥ ) 13 (2.53) (2.36)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. E o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e B AR R

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022
R2022F 12 A31H

As at 31 December

RI2A31RH
2022 2021
20225 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5F ARBTRE AR%¥TT
Assets BE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y- BENREZE 14 240,250 223,686
Intangible assets BEEE 16 235,648 235,621
Investment in an associate R—REERFTHIRE |7 17,432 —
Investment in a joint venture R—REELENRE I8 513 —
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 42,227 38614
Other non-current assets HMERESEE 19 11,197 44,173
547,267 542,094
Current assets REBEE
Inventories & 21 603,503 351,362
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments — EL A FEUINFIE ~ & &
AN 22 23,421 117,655
Time deposits EHFER 24 10,223 125,071
Restricted cash Z R #IIR & 25 5,641 1,658
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 25 865,081 930,149
1,507,869 1,525,895
Total assets EEH#E 2,055,136 2,067,989
Liabilities afE
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Borrowings N 26 177,600 147,500
Lease liabilities HERAE 27 5,451 2,764
Deferred income tax liabilities BRIEFRSHERE 30 38,818 38818
Deferred income B RE U A 28 19,952 4,009
241,821 193,091

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEeEMBRRE
AS AT 3| DECEMBER 2022
R20224F 12 A3IR

As at 31 December

RI12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
k=3 ARETET ARETET
Current liabilities REAEE
Trade and other payables B 5 I H h FE T KIB 29 214,534 209,863
Borrowings [ 26 98,900 7,400
Lease liabilities HERE 27 4,435 2,069
Amounts due to related parties JE 1<t [ Bt 5 SR IR 35 258 408
318,127 219,740
Total liabilities BEEAE 559,948 412,831
Equity &
Equity attributable to the equity EREEBEEA
holders of the Company FE 45 #E =
Share capital N 31 315 273
Shares held for the Employee Incentive e B B EEt 2
Scheme FERH 32 (14) (17)
Reserves 18 33 1,494,887 1,654,902
Total equity B 1,495,188 1,655,158
Total equity and liabilities EaRkaEAR 2,055,136 2,067,989

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The financial statements on pages 13| to 254 were approved by the

Board of Directors on 30 March 2023 and were signed on its behalf.

LA b %7 & BA 5 K 00 3 8 2R BB Y 2 BT o — G B

=
FI=

FIBIE4EMP B BRREHAE F L HN2023F3
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Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mEEZBER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

Shares held
for the
Share-based Employee
Share Share compensation Incentive Accumulated
capital premium reserve Scheme losses  Total equity
RRGA PEE
286 BBiE
& RGEE FHERE KRNRG 2itE# 5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETT ARETR AR®TR AREBTT ARETR
(Note 31) (Note 33) (Note 33) (Note 32) (Note 33)
(Hi3E31) (P3E33) (Bi3E33) (Mi3E32) (Mi3E33)
Balance at | January 2022 20225 | BB #4588 m 3,358,871 65,506 (7 (1,769,475 1,655,158
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year FEEBRZEFRES - - = - (954,369) (954,369)
Transactions with owners in their capacity as BEAASHBEEANRS
owners
Issue of shares of the Company (Note 33) BAARARS (F33) 4 697,747 - - - 697,789
Share-based payments (Note 32) DRI AERE R (H3E3) - - 95,636 - - 95,636
Shares vested under the Employee Incentive Scheme and BEEEABFEBERENZ
transferred to the grantees (Note 3) R ARRG (53 - 47331 (46,360) 3 = 974
1 745,078 49,276 3 — 794,399
Balance at 3| December 2022 20225 124318 8 4 4 315 4,103,949 114,782 (14  (2,723,844) 1,495,188
Balance at | January 202 202141 A1 B 8 & 4 261 2406911 28159 (17) (927380) 1507934
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year FEFERZEERAE — — — - (842,095) (842,095)
Transactions with owners in their capacity as BREASBREANRS
owners
Issue of shares of the Company (Note 33) BOARARM (M3E33) 12 951,960 - - — 951972
Share-based payments (Note 32) NRABERN XM (HEE32) — - 31347 — — 37347
12 951,960 37347 — — 989319
Balance at 31 December 2021 R021E 1 A3IA 8 £ 8 m 3358871 65,506 (17) (1,769475) 1,655,158

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= A A — &
%713 = Iﬁﬁ)}lu%%‘%
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A3IALEE

2022
20225

Note
B 3E

RMB’000
AR®BTR

Cash flows from operating activities

RETHFBRETRE

2021

20214F
RMB'000
AREF T

Cash used in operations KEmARS 34 (960,267) (1,049,673)
Interest paid ERFE (9,961) 6771
Interest received B W EF B 6 9,873 5890
Income tax paid ERAEH (905) (809)
Net cash used in operating activities K& EBHFFAR TR (961,260) (1,051,363)
Cash flows from investing activities REZDFEBRERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME BELZE (27,470) (76,238)
Purchase of intangible assets BERTEE (178) (29,504)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEME BMERZB
and equipment Fr 1S 318 195 13
Purchases of time deposits with maturities of % & FI| B B #2818 = & A &Y
over three months T HF 3R (10,000) (322,079)
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BERAREEGER
through profit or loss HEFHAAZHERD
TREE 23 (210,702) (193,328)
Proceeds from time deposits with maturities  EI| BJ B8 1B = & A /) & 5
of over three months F RTS8 124,351 515,879
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at B ZAABEFEHR
fair value through profit or loss HEHAFAZHERD
TREEMRFIIA 23 212,706 195,062
Interest received from time deposits with EWEBRER=EAN
maturities of over three months T HTFE A B 789 3,858
Payments for investments in a joint venture XNR—REEREER
and an associate —XBERRNKRE 17,18 (18,513) —
Payments for restricted cash XNZREIES (3,983) (1,658)
Net cash generated from investing RETBHFRERSTFH
activities 67,195 92,005
BREEERAH

3R 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HEREREXR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A3IALEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB'000

Bt 5 ARB®TRT ARETE

Cash flows from financing activities RETHRERERE

Principal elements of lease liabilities ENHEABELREHD 34 (4,613) (28.924)
Proceeds from borrowings &R PT1 KIA 34¢ii) 170,000 20,000
Proceeds from shares vested under BEEEHBAEEE R

the Employee Incentive Scheme and EBEAR ARG

transferred to the grantees 15 IE 32(d) 974 —
Repayments of borrowings BREX 34(iii) (48,400) (83,600)
Proceeds from issue of shares of the BIIARBIROFTERIR

Company 31 697,789 951,972
Payment for listing expenses > Em R — (2,030)
Net cash generated from financing METHAERSFHE

activities 815,750 857,418
Net decrease in cash and cash RERREEEYRD FHE

equivalents (78,315) (101,940)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning ~ F¥H S RBEEFEY

of the year 926,331 1,064,689
Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and cash RekBeEEMHNER

equivalents Wz ( JE_H B) 16,454 (36/418)

Cash and cash equivalents attheend FREERBLEEY
of the year 25 864,470 926,331

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in N FEERERERFEEENW Z M — 65

conjunction with the accompanying notes. iB o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
#n e B S SRR MY A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

I.I General information

Kintor Pharmaceutical Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated on 16 May 2018 in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The address of its
registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KYI-I111, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, “the Group")
are principally engaged in research and development of
innovative medicine products.

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 22 May
2020.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB") thousands, unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to both the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group
have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
Cap. 622. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the revaluation of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (FVPL) which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise judgements in the process of applying the
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.

— & H
LI —RER

FHAZERARAR(ARF ] —KRN
018FSAIARBEHAERSATIAR
FERSTMKIZNEREERAR -
H oF i 3% =5 B2 b 4k /3 Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KYI-1111, Cayman Islands °

ARBR/—REEEZERAR - ARF]
MEMBAB(SHEIAEE TR
EMHEIMBEEM °

RATIRMDE B2020FE58202B R E B
BAXSHARARER L -

SRR BHAN  RFEMIERRIAA
RETARBD TR -

2 EXEFBEGE

HFEMBHRRAEANTIZSTEER
I - BREEERIN RARFER
BREAZEHE -

2.1 REEAE

AEENREMBRRCEERTG
HEER(BRMBRELERDEE
BRAGOIFEENRBERTE TIAR
B BAEPBHRRCIZE L KAIED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 BEASHBEBER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 2| RBEEEE)
(a) Amendments to standards adopted by the (a) ZTEERARER ST
Group
The following amendments to standards have been AEBER20202% | A BRK A
adopted by the Group for the first time for the WEEBRERMATEET A :

financial year beginning on | January 2022:

Effective for
accounting
periods

beginning on

Standards Key requirements or after
RELT BHIK
ZERBBEN
%Al FERTE EHBEX
Amendments to IAS 6 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds | January 2022
before Intended Use
BER et ERFE 65 BT A) ME - BELRE: BEREA AT 20221 A 18
S E
Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a | January 2022
Contract
K&t ERIEI7R (B FTA) BEAHN —BITAEHNZKAR 202291 A 18
Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework | January 2022
[0 5% B 55 o o5 22 RIS 35 (2 /T AX) SR SER 20221 AR
Amendments to IFRS I, IFRS 9, 2018-2020 Annual Improvement Cycle | January 2022
IAS 41 and IFRS 16
BIFR B R S ERF 15 - BERFH  2018F 22020F AR FE A 202251 AR
HEERIZER - BEER S ER
SB415% R Bl BR B 75 s 5 RIS 16557
(EFTA)
These new standards and interpretations did not ZEFEA KRB ASENUBRER
have material impact on the financial performance MRAWEERNTE  NBAEBPRAE -

and position of the Group and did not require

retrospective adjustments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) New standards and interpretations not yet

adopted

The following new standards and amendments to
standards have not come into effect for the financial
year beginning on | January 2022 and have not
been early adopted by the Group in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. None of these
is expected to have a significant effect on the

consolidated financial statements of the Group:

REPBRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

EXEFTHERBMER

2. MBEEE)
(b) MFERAFER R 2 E

VAR 328 Bl )R 22 AME 5T 7R202246F
AIBRBMVBREEMRER
BASEERBELE T RERE
WHEIRE R - Btz S ER|
REAET T8 U ARENERE
MBEHRREKREATE:

Effective for
accounting
periods
beginning on or

Standards Key requirements after
R AE#E

ZERBBN

]| FTERE EHBEXN
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts | January 2023
B B B 75 ¥ &5 R R 31 755% RBRE L 202351 A18

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28

B B B 755 ¥R 5 22 R 551055 K B B

254 RI 5285 (BT A)
Amendments to |AS |

R s ERE I (B ETAN)
Amendments to IAS | and

IFRS Practice Statement 2
Re St 2RI 2B 1SR % B B B 7S

WEENEE RSB (BFTA)

Amendments to |AS |

Bl R 5t R 15 (B R &)
Amendments to IAS 8

B pR & s 2 R 85k (1B R )
Amendments to IAS 12

@ 5 A1) 551258 (8 2T &)

Amendment to IFRS 16

B B B 75 ¥ &5 2R R S 1655 (12 /] &)

Sale or Contribution of Assets Between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

KEEHRHEBERNRANEGERE M
BELEIITE

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current

BESERTBHIERD

Disclosure of Accounting Policies
BERIB RO E

Non current liabilities with covenants

MERFENIERBDEE

Definition of Accounting Estimates

LA HNER

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction

HE-QGMELANEERBETEHADN
1R SE 7 18

Leases on sale and leaseback

EREOEE

To be determined

==

fr E
| January 2024

20244F1 A IR
| January 2023

20231 A I1H

| January 2024
20241 A18
| January 2023
20231 A I8
| January 2023

20231 R IB

| January 2024
2024F 1 A1H

BHRERARAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted (Continued)

The Group has already commenced an assessment
of the impact of these new or revised standards and
amendments, certain of which are relevant to the
Group's operations. According to the preliminary
assessment made by the directors, no significant
impact on the financial performance and position of

the Group is expected when they become effective.

2.2 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred
to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that

control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between entities within the Group are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the

transferred asset.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

REFTHEBE )

2.2 B{j—% /‘\ /;m,
221 ¥B &S0

2.2,/ Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to
account for business combinations. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair
values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or
liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at

the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured at
either fair value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured
at their acquisition date fair value, unless another

measurement basis is required by IFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

AREBEAWIEE®BER S HFA
R o L —RHT B AR T =
MRERMEREE  RERNK
AR BEAANAERAEE R
HITRENAAEE - IEER
BRERNSARELFELENT
MEEXBBENAAEER RF
15 & 0F B BT IR 2 Al 38 Rl & E
PrAEZBBERKAREE  9IF
BRWEBHP 2 AAEBETE -

AEEREFRKEEERERE
AU BB 7 O SE IR M 2 © B
REREEEEST B TERTSE
AEFRBERERLADIEERE
BEFENRKET FFERER
AR BEXBFES EER
FEAE W BT Rl BRI B EFED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)
2.2.| Business combinations (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-
measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are

recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by
the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the
contingent consideration that is deemed to be
an asset or liability is recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity
is not remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is

accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value
of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded
as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair
value of the net assets of the business acquired in
the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is
recognised directly in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

EXEFTHERBMER

2.2 B AR (&)
221 EFESHE)

2.2.| Business combinations (Continued)

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the transferred asset. When necessary, amounts
reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to

conform with the Group's accounting policies.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do
not result in loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions — that is, as transactions with the
owners of the subsidiary in their capacity as owners.
The difference between fair value of any consideration
paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying
value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in
equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling

interests are also recorded in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HE2002F10283HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

221

222

Business combinations (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained
interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value
at the date when control is lost, with the change in
carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair
value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, a joint venture or a financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may
mean that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to consolidated

statement of comprehensive income.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of

dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee's net assets

including goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 EASHHREMESE)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Associates 2.3 Bg& N T

Associates are all entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control or joint control,
generally but not necessarily accompanying a shareholding
of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments
in associates are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting and are initially recognised at cost. The Group’s
investments in associates include underlying goodwill
identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment

loss.

The Group's share of its associates’ post-acquisition profit
or loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in other comprehensive income is recognised
in other comprehensive income. Dividends received or
receivable from associates are recognised as a reduction
in the carrying amount of the investment. Where the
Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds
its interests in the associate, including any other unsecured
long-term receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive

obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that investments accounted
for using the equity method, including investments in
associates and joint ventures are impaired. If this is the
case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment
as the difference between the recoverable amount of
the investment and its carrying value and recognises the
amount in “Other gains/(losses), net” in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B EHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Associates (Continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary to ensure

consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Gains or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates
are recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. If the ownership interest in an
associate is reduced but significant influence is retained,
only a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to the consolidated statement of financial position where

appropriate.

2.4 Joint ventures

Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint
ventures are initially recognised at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the post-
acquisition profit or loss and movements in other
comprehensive income. Where the Group's share of losses
in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interests in the joint
venture (which includes any other unsecured long-term
receivables that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the joint venture), the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the

joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRKME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 EXRE:

E‘I:

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT BEBE 2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Joint ventures (Continued) 24 S E B

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interests in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
the joint ventures have been changed where necessary to

ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

2.5 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker,
who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified

as the executive directors that make strategic decisions.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the

Group has been focusing on research and development of

2.5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation

€

®)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
RMB, which is the Company’s functional and the

Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation
where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income, except when
deferred in other comprehensive income as qualifying
cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment

hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings are presented in the statement of
comprehensive income, within finance costs. All other
foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the
statement of comprehensive income on a net basis

within other gains or losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b) Transactions and balances (Continued)

©

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried
at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain
or loss. For example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
in comprehensive income as part of the fair value
through profit or loss and translation differences on
non-monetary assets such as equities classified as
fair value through other comprehensive income are

recognised in other comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-
inflationary economy) that have a functional currency
different from the presentation currency are

translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of

financial position;

(i) income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses

are translated at the rate on the dates of the

transactions); and

(i) all resulting currency translation differences are

recognised in other comprehensive income.
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BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

REFTHEBE )

2.6 ST (E)

(b

©

XERBEBHGE)

BANRBEAENINEIFEER
BRAEEANBEERANER
BHE RARBEINGENEENM

BENERZRER/LAER
WaERERN— 8D o flm - 3%

ANRABEFEBEFEH:TAEH
BanBRESHEEKEERAE
WEEN ZERN2ENEFERR
FEKEENEAABENER
HEEFHFAEHESRER 5
—Hn MO BERZRAALBEE
ERHEHZHFAHEHMEZEKED

P 1 70 EL At 22 T R o R

E . AT
DeEEHEIREBTRNME
SEERB(ER AP REBEEBIKR

[

K@%%EMm%ﬁ&W%#
MM T IEBRERIIERER:

il

() BR2HROMBAN KA

BEERBERZMBRRK
BERMBMERKZE

iy BhE2EKERAHKAR
X iR T ER R E (BRI
HEITTRERXZBHABRT
EXRGTZENEENE:
ERBERT WA RRALZIR
REBMMEERKBRE) &

m)%ﬁm%?EMf%EE%
BREMEEKEER -

BHRERARAF
3§ 2022

149



150

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment include buildings, machinery
and equipment, office equipment and furniture, motor
vehicles and construction in progress and are stated at
historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of

the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income during the financial

period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
costs to their residual values over their estimated useful

lives, as follows:

—  Buildings 30 years
—  Machinery and equipment 5-20 years
—  Office equipment and furniture 5-10 years
—  Motor vehicles 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and

adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is

greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised

in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Construction-in-progress represents properties and
equipment under construction and is stated at cost less
impairment. This includes cost of construction, plant
and equipment and other direct costs. Construction-in-
progress is not depreciated until such time as the assets are

completed and are ready for intended use.

2.8 Intangible assets
(a) Software

Acquired software is capitalised on the basis of
the cost incurred to acquire and bring to use the
specific software. These costs are amortised over
the estimated useful life of | to 10 years. The Group
should assess whether there is any indication that

software is impaired at each financial year end.

Software is amortised over the estimated useful lives
of the individual software. The useful lives of individual
software were assessed with consideration of the
contractual term, the current functionality equipped
by the software, using plan and operation needs of the

software.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Intangible assets (Continued)
(b) Research and development expenditures

The Group incurs significant costs and efforts
on research and development activities, which
include expenditures on drug products. Research
expenditures are charged to the statement of
comprehensive income as an expense in the period
the expenditures are incurred. Development costs are
recognised as assets if they can be directly attributable
to a newly developed drug products and all the

following can be demonstrated:

(i) the technical feasibility of completing the
development project so that it will be available

for use or sale;

(i) the Group’s intention to complete the

development project to use or sell it;

(i) the Group’s ability to use or sell the development

project;

(iv) how the development project will generate
probable future economic benefits for the

Group;

(v) the Group's availability of adequate technical,
financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the development

project; and

(Vi) the ability to measure reliably the expenditures

attributable to the development project.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Intangible assets (Continued)

(b) Research and development expenditures

©

(Continued)

The cost of an internally generated intangible asset is
the sum of the expenditures incurred from the date
the asset meets the recognition criteria above to the
date when it is available for use. The costs capitalised
in connection with the intangible asset include costs of
materials and services used or consumed, employee
costs incurred in the creation of the asset and an
appropriate portion of relevant overheads. The Group
generally considers capitalisation criteria for internally
generated intangible assets is met when obtaining

regulatory approval of new drug license.

Capitalised development expenditures are amortised
using the straight-line method over the life of the
related drug products. Amortisation shall begin when
the asset is available for use. Subsequent to initial
recognition, internally generated intangible assets are
reported as cost less accumulated amortisation and

accumulated impairment losses (if any).

Development expenditures not satisfying the
above criteria are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income as incurred and development
expenditures previously recognised as an expense are

not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.

In-licenses and In-Process Research and
Development (IPR&D)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on

initial recognition at cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Intangible assets (Continued)

(c) In-licenses and In-Process Research and
Development (IPR&D) (Continued)

Certain intangible assets are for license of intellectual
properties in development, with non-refundable
upfront payment, milestone payment and royalty
payment. Upfront payment is capitalized when paid.
The milestone payment is capitalised as intangible
assets when incurred, unless the payment is for
outsourced research and development work which
would follow the capitalisation policy in Note 2.8(b).
Royalty payment would be accrued for in line with
the underlying sales and recognised as a cost of
sales. However, if the intangible asset is acquired in a
business combination, it is measured at fair value at

initial recognition.

In-licenses and IPR&D acquired are subsequently

stated at cost less any impairment losses.

For research or development expenditures which
are related to an IPR&D project acquired separately
or in a business combination and incurred after the
acquisition of that project, they shall be accounted for
in accordance with the capitalisation policy in Note
2.8(b).

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

2

EXEFTHEBMER

2.8

©

BREE®
AR ET TR TR (E)

ETEFREEARRAERANZER
BEFA - B BREBAR KSR
BEABTARE - BNRRIAE
FUERE - BERENARELRE
MM BBEREE  BRIEZNFIRM T
2.8(b) T 3 A9 & Ab BR 5% FA 1A SN A B2
TE- BHHEEABKBIZABEHESEE
TR WERBHEEKRAE - A 4
EEBEHRESEREE  BIER
NEERER AL BEE -

P ARIRT Al R TR RO BT B 1R
12 B AR AR AR RUE 5 18 51 B o

HREFIANEHSHKBALNE
SZERREEMNETTHHNZIAR
HARRBA T BB s - EZARIEMIFE2.8(b)
FrE & NME B RSB -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 EASHHREMESE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Intangible assets (Continued) 28 B EE(#)

FF AR EAT TR ()

(c) In-licenses and In-Process Research and (©)

Development (IPR&D) (Continued)

The intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised when ready for use and over
the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired. The amortization period and
the amortization method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial
year end. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
or not ready for use will not be amortised but tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the
cash-generating unit level. The impairment test would
compare the recoverable amount of the in-licenses
and IPR&D asset to its carrying value. The useful life
of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed
annually to determine whether the indefinite life
assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to

finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

In-licenses and IPR&D with finite useful life are
amortised using the straight-line basis over the
commercial lives of the underlying products,
commencing from the date when the products are put

into commercial production.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or are not yet
available for use are not subject to amortisation and are
tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might
be impaired. Other assets are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purpose of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting

period.

2.10 Financial assets
2.10.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following

measurement categories:

(i) those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income, or

through profit or loss), and
(i) those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the

contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other

comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 AXEFTHEBME &)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Financial assets (Continued)

210 E E (&)
2102 R E

2.10.2 Recognition and measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at fair value through profit or

loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model for managing
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
There are three measurement categories into which

the Group classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in other income
using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly
in profit or loss. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated statements of

comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Financial assets (Continued)
2.10.2 Recognition and measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

Fair value through other comprehensive income:
Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where
the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI.
Movements in the carrying amount are taken through
OCl, except for the recognition of impairment gains or
losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and
losses which are recognised in profit or loss. When the
financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or
loss previously recognised in OCl is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income using
the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in finance costs and
impairment expenses are presented as separate line
item in the consolidated statements of comprehensive

income.

Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not
meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are
measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in

profit or loss.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in the consolidated statements of

comprehensive income as applicable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRKME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 EASHHREMESE)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Impairment of financial assets

211 £t E ERE

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a significant

increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of

the receivables.

2.12 Inventories

Raw materials and work in progress are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned
to individual items of inventory on the basis of weighted
average costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to

make the sale.

2.13 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current

assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B EHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Trade and other receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with
the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. For impairment of trade

receivables, refer to Note 2.11.

2.14 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flow, cash and cash
equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits held at
banks, and other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are

subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

2.15 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If

not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method.

2.16 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached

conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 AXEFTHEBME &)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.16 B 5 B (42)

2.16 Government grants (Continued)

Government grants relating to past expenses are
recognised directly in the consolidated statements of

comprehensive income.

Government grants relating to future costs are deferred
and recognised in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income over the period necessary to match

them with the costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to assets are included in non-
current liabilities as “Deferred income” and are credited
to the consolidated statements of comprehensive income
on a straight-line basis over the expected useful lives of the

related assets.

The recognition period of government grants are reviewed,

and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
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2.17 Borrowings 2.17 8 K
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of ERENIRAANBEGIREEES

transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees
paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised
as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down.
In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw down occurs.
To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee
is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and

amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.17 Borrowings (Continued)

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting

period.

2.18 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense for the year comprises current
and deferred income tax, which is recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case,
the income tax is also recognised in other comprehensive

income or in equity, respectively.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in the countries
where the Company’s subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation
and considers whether it is probable that a taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment.
When it is not probable, the Group measures its
tax balances either based on the most likely amount
or the expected value, depending on which method
provides a better prediction of the resolution of the

uncertainty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 EASHHREMESE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.18 BN 5 % 3 %iE P 18 Bi (48)
(b) EZFFEH

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred income tax is not accounted for
if it arises from initial recognition of goodwill or of an
asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss is affected.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability

is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available to utilise those temporary differences and

tax losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, except for
deferred income tax liability where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences is controlled
by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Generally, the Group is unable to control the reversal
of the temporary difference for associates and joint
ventures. Only when there is an agreement in place
that gives the Group the ability to control the reversal
of the temporary difference in the foreseeable future,
deferred income tax liability in relation to taxable
temporary differences arising from the associates’ and

joint ventures' undistributed profit is not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures only to the extent that it is probable the
temporary difference will reverse in the future and
there is sufficient taxable profit available against which

the temporary difference can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 EASHHREMESE)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

2.18 BN 5 % 3 %iE P 18 Bi (48)

(c) Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
where there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
where the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle

the balances on a net basis

2.19 Employee benefits

The Group entities in Mainland China participate in defined
contribution retirement benefit plans organised by relevant
government authorities for its employees in Mainland China
and contribute to these plans based on certain percentage
of the salaries of the employees on a monthly basis, up
to a maximum fixed monetary amount, as stipulated by
the relevant government authorities. The government
authorities undertake to assume the retirement benefit
obligations payable to all existing and future retired

employees under these plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees in Hong Kong who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administrated fund. The Group's employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.

() #E#H

= E A KRBT 1R A 2 B A ER A
BAEBEEENAERBIAITE
NEREERLEMFIHEENBER
(R — 1% 7% # B 3t 2% B AR T B R 3K
TRERTERBUNAEHRE
W MABS EREFEELES
Bl EEMEHREERRA
BEREEE -

2.9 EEREF

AEBEETHEABEBRETENA
iEB2EERBNEE ISR
REHFRAKENGE  XZARE
B¥HemE TADLRZFTEIHK
ERAEHEBRAEEBFIRENRS
B &8 o BT EE BT A AER
BEaEEENTHERAERARKE
KEBRRIKENEE

A EARE R MERTE 2R RO
B it — IR E B R E 2 R KE N ET
g(aEestall) BRAaERS
HREEFENEBREE - KRR
BEEAFENREESLAE AR
EREEINRARENRAERS
KPR - BEBEEFENEERS RN
AEENEE UBUEEBNEDH
B o AEERBRESF S HRE - #
RAN2BEEEME -

BHRERARAF
3§ 2022

165



166

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Employee benefits (Continued)

The Group has no further obligation for post-retirement

benefits beyond the contributions made.

The contributions are recognised as employee benefit

expense when they are due.

2.20 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of

tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the company's equity
instruments, for example as the result of a share buy-back
or a share-based payment plan, the consideration paid,
including any directly attributable incremental costs (net
of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to
the Company’s equity holders as treasury shares until the
shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such ordinary
shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration
received, net of any directly attributable incremental
transaction costs and the related income tax effects,
is included in equity attributable to the owners of the

Company’s equity holders.

Shares held by the Employee Incentive Scheme trust are
disclosed as treasury shares and deducted from contributed

equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRKME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 EASHHREMESE)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Share-based payments 221U RGO R ER N

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to
employees via the Employee Incentive Scheme. Information

relating to the scheme is set out in Note 32.

The fair value of awarded shares granted to employees
under the Employee Incentive Scheme less amount paid by
employees is recognised as an employee benefits expense
over the relevant service period, being the vesting period
of the shares, and the credit is recognised in equity in
the share-based compensation reserve. The fair value of
the shares is measured at the grant date. The number of
shares expected to vest is estimated based on the service
conditions. The estimates are revised at the end of each
reporting period and adjustments are recognised in profit
or loss and the share-based compensation reserve. Where
shares are forfeited due to a failure by the employee to
satisfy the service conditions, any expense previously
recognised in relation to such shares is reversed effective at
the date of the forfeiture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHmRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Revenue from out-licensing contracts

Revenue is recognised to depict the provision of promised
services and transfer of goods to customers in an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects
to be entitled in exchange for those services or goods.

Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step approach to revenue

recognition:

e Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the

contract

»  Step 3: Determine the transaction price

*+ Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the

performance obligations in the contract

*  Step 5 Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity

satisfies a performance obligation

Revenue is recognised when, or as, obligations under
the terms of a contract are satisfied, which occurs when
control of the promised products or services is transferred
to customers. Revenue is measured as the amount of
consideration the Group expects to receive in exchange

for transferring products or services to a customer

(“transaction price”).

A performance obligation represents a good and service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of

distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws

applicable, control of the goods and services may be

transferred over time or at a point in time.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 EASHHREMESE)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Revenue from out-licensing contracts

LRI RESHWE(E)

(Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with using the same approach as for trade receivables. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group's unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is due.
There is normally no significant cost to obtain contract.
A contract liability represents the Group's obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of

consideration is due) from the customer.

The revenue stream of the Group is revenue from out-

licensing contracts.

The Group provides license of its intellectual properties
(“IP”) to customers. The consideration comprises a fixed
element (the upfront payment) and three variable elements
(development milestone payments, commercial milestone
payments and royalties based on future sales). Initially only

fixed consideration is included in the transaction price.
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The amount of the variable consideration for milestone NRHOAZEREBSERBRAENS
payments included in the transaction price is determined BmEERAAERENRGNAGRE
to be zero at inception, based on the most likely amount ERT BEBAZREERTHEE

and the application of the variable consideration constraint,
l.e. such variable consideration is only included in the
transaction price when it is highly probable that no
significant reversal of revenue when the uncertainty is

resolved.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Revenue from out-licensing contracts
(Continued)

The non-refundable upfront payment only relates to the
license. The sales-based royalty will only be included in the

transaction price when actual sales are made.

The control of the license transfers at point in time, when
the customer obtains the right to use the underlying IP of
the license. The revenue from out-licencing contracts is
recognised when the control of the license is transferred.
The sales-based royalties are recognised as revenue when

the subsequent sales are made.

2.23 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the

assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for

capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in

the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 EASHHREMESE)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2245 B A

2.24 Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is included in

the net fair value gains/(losses) on these assets.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost
calculated using the effective interest method is recognised
in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income as

part of other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets the
effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount

of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

2.25 Leases and right-of-use assets

The Group leases properties and land use rights in the
PRC as lessee. The consideration paid for lease are
treated as right-of-use assets, which are stated at cost less
accumulative amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Lease land is amortised over the lease period

of 50 years using straight-line method.

Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 6
months to 5 years, but may have extension options. Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain

various terms and conditions.

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and the
corresponding liabilities at the date of which the respective
leased assets is available for use by the Group. Each lease
payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost.
The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest

on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.25 Leases and right-of-use assets (Continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include

the net present value of the following lease payment:

(i) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed

payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

(i) variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the

commencement date;

(i) amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under

residual value guarantees;

(iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is

reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(v) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the

lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic

environment with similar terms, security and conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRKME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 EASHHREMESE)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Q5 ERFERAREEZ)

2.25 Leases and right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the

following:

*  the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

* any lease payments made at or before the

commencement date less any lease incentives received

* any initial direct costs, and

. restoration costs

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the lease
term on a straight-line basis. Right-of-use assets are subject

to impairment (Note 2.9).

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as
an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases
with a lease term of less than 12 months. Low-value assets

comprise small items of machinery.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a
lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
underlying asset and recognised as expense over the lease

term on the same basis as lease income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HE2002F10283HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial

risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow

and fair value interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group's overall risk management programme focuses

on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to

minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial

performance.

(a) Market risk

()

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when future
commercial transactions or recognised assets
and liabilities are denominated in a currency that
is not the respective group entities’ functional
currency. The Group mainly operates in the PRC
with most of the transactions settled in RMB.
The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, management
of the Group monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant

foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The Group is not exposed to foreign exchange
risk as there are no significant financial assets
or liabilities of the Group denominated in the
currencies other than the functional currency,
except for cash and cash equivalents, restricted
cash and time deposits at bank in USD and HKD
which were primarily received from the investors
as capital contributions as mentioned in Notes 24
and 25.

If US dollars had strengthened/weakened
by 4% against RMB with all other variables
held constant, net losses would have been
approximately RMB6,729,854 lower/higher as
at 31 December 2022, as a result of net foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of net

monetary assets denominated in US dollars.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

()

(ii)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

If HK dollars had strengthened/weakened
by 4% against RMB with all other variables
held constant, net losses would have been
approximately RMBI19,875,523 lower/higher as
at 31 December 2022, as a result of net foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of net
monetary liabilities denominated in HK dollars.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group'’s income and operating cash flows
are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates. The Group has no
significant interest-bearing assets and liabilities,
except for lease liabilities (Note 27), cash
and cash equivalents (Note 25), restricted
cash (Note 25), time deposits (Note 24) and
borrowings (Note 26). Those carried at floating
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk whereas those carried at fixed rates
expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

The Group's interest rate risk mainly arises from
borrowings. Borrowings obtained at fixed rates
expose the Group to fair value interest rate
risk. As at 31 December 2022 and 202, all the
Group's borrowings were carried at fixed rates,
which exposed the Group to fair value interest
rate risk.

Management does not anticipate significant
impact to interest-bearing assets resulted from
the changes in interest rates, because the interest
rates of bank deposits are not expected to
change significantly.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash,
time deposits and wealth management products.
The carrying amounts of receivables, cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash, time deposits and wealth
management products represent our maximum

exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

The Group expects that there is no significant
credit risk associated with cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash, time deposits, and wealth
management products since they are substantially
deposited at or purchased from state-owned banks
and other medium or large-sized listed banks.
Management does not expect that there will be any
significant losses from non-performance by these
counterparties and the loss allowance provision is

considered immaterial.

Management has assessed that during the year ended
31 December 2022, other receivables have not
had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Thus, a [2-month expected credit loss
approach that results from possible default event
within 12 months of each reporting date is adopted
by management. As at 3| December 2022 and
2021, other receivables mainly comprise deposits to
lessors in respect of the Group's leased properties.
The Group expects that there is no significant credit
risk associated with other receivables since the
counterparties have no history of default. Accordingly,
the expected credit loss of other receivables is

considered immaterial.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2022
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3 EREREE®

3. WM EBREEE)
(o) “EMEE

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining
sufficient cash and cash equivalents, the ability to apply
for credit facilities if necessary. The Group finances its
working capital requirements through issue of new

shares, borrowings and government grants.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group'’s

liquidity reserve on the basis of expected cash flows.

The table below analyses the Group's financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the balance sheet to the
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in
the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.
Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying

balances, as the impact of discounting is not significant.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

3 EREREE®

3. sREKREEZ)

(© HEMEEE)

Between Between
Less than I and 2 2and 5
| year years years Total
IF R 1226 2855 et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT ARBT T ARETT
At 31 December 2022 72022F12A831H

Bank borrowings RITER 109,581 51,399 136,422 297,402

Trade and other payables B 5 & E et
KIE 196,143 — — 196,143

Amounts due to related FE 1~ B8 B 5 ;IR
parties 258 — — 258
Lease liabilities HEBE 4,758 3,973 1,643 10,374
Total # st 310,740 55,372 138,065 504,177

At 31 December 2021  A2021512H31H

Bank borrowings RITRE R 14,212 52,409 107,81 | 174,432

Trade and other payables B 5 & E th fE
RIE 185,648 — — 185,648

Amounts due to related &1~ BA Bt 5 SRIB
parties 408 — — 408
Lease liabilities HEBE 2,155 1,441 1,471 5,067
Total st 202,423 53,850 109,282 365,555

3.2 Capital risk management

32 EXREARER
AEENEAESEERNIREREE

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to

safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern

in order to provide returns for equity holders and benefits

for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital

structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the

Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to equity

holders, return capital to equity holders, issue new shares

or sell assets to reduce debt.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.2 Capital risk management (Continued)

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net
debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash
equivalents and restricted cash. Total capital is calculated as
“total equity”, as shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position, plus net debt. As at 3| December 2022
and 31 December 2021, cash and cash equivalents is more
than total borrowings of the Group, therefore, the gearing

ratio is not applicable.

3.3 Fair value estimation

(a) This section explains the judgements and estimates
made in determining the fair values of the financial
instruments that are recognised and measured at
fair value in the financial statements. To provide an
indication about the reliability of the inputs used in
determining fair value, the Group has classified its
financial instruments into the three levels prescribed

under the accounting standards:

Level I: The fair values of financial instruments traded
in active markets (such as trading and available-for-sale
securities) are based on quoted market prices at the
end of the reporting period. The quoted market price

used for financial assets is the current bid price.

Level 2: The fair values of financial instruments that
are not traded in an active market are determined
using valuation techniques which maximise the use of
observable market data and rely as little as possible
on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs
required to fair value an instrument are observable,

the instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the instrument is

included in level 3.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

€

®)

©

(Continued)

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end

of the reporting period.

Valuation techniques used to determine fair

values

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial
instruments include the use of quoted market
prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments or
discounted cash flow analysis. The Group did not
have any financial assets or liabilities measured at fair
value on a recurring basis, with the exception of the
Group's wealth management products and foreign
currency options, which are measured at fair value
through profit or loss and which constitute Level 3
measurements under the fair value hierarchy. The
Group's wealth management products and foreign
currency options are valued based on cash flow
discounted using the expected return based on

management judgements and estimates.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

measured at fair value

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the
Group had no assets and liabilities measured at fair

value.

The following table presents the changes in level 3
instruments for the year ended 31 December 2022

and 2021, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(c) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

measured at fair value (Continued)

FEMBmRMT
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3 SREREE#)

3.3 AREBEMEE)
(© BAREBHEIENESHEERSE
Bl ARALEEE)

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss
RAAREBEREREH
BEIFAEHERNERMEE
Year ended 31 December

BZNAIALEE

2022 2021
20225 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB®TRE ARETE

Opening balance F 1) 4 R —
Additions NE 210,702 193,328
Disposals HE (212,706) (195,062)

Gains recognised in other gains/(losses) REA Y (B 18)

— net il 8 O U 25 3 HR 2,004 777
Net foreign exchange gains HNEE W 75 % B8 = 957
Closing balance FR &R — —

(d) Fair value of financial assets that are not

measured at fair value

The Group considers that the carrying amount of the
Group’s financial assets recorded at amortised cost

in the consolidated financial statements approximate

their fair values.

(d) LHZEAREBESEHNETHMEELN R
LBl
AREBER BN W HR IR H
RARENARESREENREE
HERNREBEMRE °

BHRERARAF
3§ 2022

181



182

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical

experience and other factors, including expectations of

future events that are believed to be reasonable under the

circumstances. The estimates and judgements that have a

significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are

addressed below.

(@)

(b)

Development expenditures

Development expenditures incurred on the Group's
research and development activities, including conducting
preclinical studies and clinical trials, manufacturing
development efforts and activities related to regulatory
filings for the Group's drug candidates, are capitalised as
intangible assets only when the capitalisation criteria set
out in Note 2.8(b) is met. Expenditures that do not meet
these capitalisation principles are recognised as research
and development expenses. During the year ended 3l
December 2022, the Group's research and development
expenditures incurred did not meet these capitalisation

principles for any products and were expensed as incurred.

Impairment testing of intangible assets not
ready for use

Intangible assets not ready for use are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that they might be impaired. The Group obtained
in-licenses and IPR&D through separate acquisition
or business combination to continue research and
development work and commercialise the products, which

are classified as intangible assets not ready for use.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset'’s
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash

flows (cash-generating units).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(b) Impairment testing of intangible assets not

©

ready for use (Continued)

The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is
based on available data from binding sales transactions in
an arm'’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the

asset.

The fair value was estimated using the discounted cash
flow approach. Significant estimate on assumptions, such as
success rate of commercialisation, market penetration rate,
revenue growth rate, forecasted percentage of costs and
operating expenses, and post-tax discount rate, is required
to be made by the directors in applying the discounted cash

flow approach.
For details of the impairment testing, refer to Note 16.

Deferred income tax

The Group recognises deferred tax assets based
on estimates that is probable to generate sufficient
taxable profits in the foreseeable future against which
the deductible losses will be utilised. The recognition
of deferred tax assets mainly involved management’s
judgements and estimations about the timing and the
amount of taxable profits of the companies who had tax
losses. During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect
of these accumulated tax losses and other deductible
temporary differences based on the fact that all drug
candidates of the Company were in earlier research and
development stage and the future taxable profits would be

uncertain.

FEMBmRMT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

4 BERETHTRAE

(b) RAHERANEFLEERERA

©

()
DA BRI E R AT IR IR 5
AEATRMENRHER SO
P o LR T B B A
B RAEE -

ARBEEARSREMIVEAME
EEERBAEeREMBAZIRAY
BREBETEKRMGE - PIIBERCAIK
PR -MHLER  WHERE K
7R R 48 2 B ST FEURIE LE A R B 1% BE 3R

;i_i o

AR R A B R IE A 2B 6 o

EEFTEB
REBMBEARARKRRRAIGEELER
29 e SR T s A AT FR P K 85 BT AR B 1B
RRERELEHIEEE - EXHIBEEE
BREESREBEHCAMEBEBIE
BN B HY B AR B s A s Ik 2 RE A9 7
BT R fh st o B Z=2022F K 202112 A3
HIEFE BARARRMBEEHEY
BN FHHEREERPRRRERB G
FIAHERE - WESZF R NIEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B EHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(d) Write-down of inventories to net realisable
value

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value is made
for those inventories with a carrying amount higher than
net realisable value. The assessment of the net realisable
value of inventories involves high degree of estimation
uncertainties and judgement subjectivity associated with
usage of the inventories, estimated selling prices, future
sales quantities and related processing fees and selling
expenses. Where the actual outcome or expectation
in future is different from the original estimate, such
differences will have impact on the carrying amounts of
inventories and the write-down/write-back of inventories in

the period in which such estimate has been changed.

(e) Useful live of property, plant and equipment

The Group's management determines the estimated
useful lives, and related depreciation charges for the
Group'’s property, plant and equipment with reference to
the estimated periods that the Group intends to derive
future economic benefits from the use of these assets.
Management will revise the depreciation where useful lives
are different to that of previously estimated, or it will write-
off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned or sold. Actual economic
lives may differ from estimated useful lives. Periodic review
could result in a change in depreciable lives and therefore

depreciation charges in future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 SEGMENT AND REVENUE
INFORMATION

(@)

(b)

Description of segments and principal
activities

The Group is principally engaged in the research
and development of new drugs. The outcome of the
Group’s research and development activities will be
given preference to be used by the Group for its own
commercialization. There is one team managing and
operating all revenue streams. Accordingly, management
considers there is only one segment and hence no segment

information is presented.

License agreement with customers

In July 2021, the Group entered into an agreement with
a pharmaceutical company (customer A) for out-licensing
one of its bio-pharmaceutical license to customer A for
development and commercialization for a period of 10
years. The agreement includes non-refundable upfront
payment, development milestone payments, commercial
milestone payments and sales-based royalty upon
commercialization. As at 31 December 2021, the Group
has fulfilled the performance obligation at a point of time
and therefore, the upfront payment of RMB30,189,000
received was recognised as revenue during the year ended
31 December 2021. During the year ended 31 December
2022, the Group did not receive any payment under the

agreement.

In August 2021, the Group entered into an agreement with
another pharmaceutical company (customer B) for out-
licensing one of its bio-pharmaceutical license to customer
B for development and commercialization. The agreement
includes non-refundable upfront payment, development
milestone payments and commercial milestone payments
upon commercialization. As at 31 December 2021, the
Group has fulfilled the performance obligation at a point of
time and therefore, the upfront payment of RMB4,042,000
received was recognised as revenue during the year ended
31 December 2021. During the year ended 31 December
2022, the Group did not receive any payment under the

agreement.

FEMBmRMT
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5 oRHREEER

()

(b)

DEHEIMR FEER

ARBEBREFRHE - AEEH
BEDHR RS AREHEHE S
$BAEM - A XEFERR
BE2HUASKR - Bt ERER
BEE— S BUBEE255E
BH o

HEEFWGT I H=E

20215 7H  REEE -—KBENQF]
(BREA)BREFPALINEEE R —IF
Y BB R] AR B R A LA S
ik - BEIOF - ZpEBRETAR
EEMNR HRABREEROR BER
BEBNRERAEELEERHEED
R AR - K021 128318 - A&
EEkEEERTEARE Bt
REZ2021F12 8318 IEFE - ATUER
B & - 3 A R 530,189,000 7T FE 32 & U
= o HE202F2A3I8LLFE - A&
= 3 A AR IR 1 s W B AT K o

20215 8H  AEEH S —RKREHEN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

5 SEGMENT AND REVENUE
INFORMATION (Continued)

(b)

©)

(d)

License agreement with customers
(Continued)

Details of the Group's accounting policy on revenue

recognition is disclosed in Note 2.22.

Disaggregated revenue information is as
follows:

PR = ER (&)

(b) SREF A ()

BEAEE WS TERE 5T R A
2227 I FE o

() W= ERBPEAMT:

Year ended 3| December

BZNAIALEE

2022 2021
20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARETT

Timing of revenue recognition: W 58 B AR B A
At a point in time R — By BT 3
— Revenue from out-licensing contracts — N RS W R — 34,231

Unfulfilled long-term contracts

The out-licensing contract with customer A includes
upfront fee of RMB32,000,000 (including tax), development
milestone payments of RMB78,000,000 (including tax) in
aggregate. The contract also includes commercial milestone
payments and sales-based royalty. Upfront fee was
recognised as revenue for the year ended 31 December
2021. The remaining milestones and sales-based royalty
are not included in the transaction price based on the
most likely amount and the application of the variable
consideration constraint. As a result, as at 31 December
2021, there is no transaction price that would be allocated
to unsatisfied performance obligations after considering the

constraint.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 SEGMENT AND REVENUE
INFORMATION (Continued)

(d) Unfulfilled long-term contracts (Continued)

()

The out-licensing contract with customer B includes
upfront fee of USD500,000 (approximately RMB3,188,000,
exclusive of all applicable tax), development milestone
payments of USD1,000,000 (approximately RMB6,376,000,
exclusive of all applicable tax) in aggregate. The contract
also includes commercial milestone payments. Upfront
fee was recognised as revenue for the year ended 3l
December 2021. The remaining milestone payments are not
included in the transaction price based on the most likely
amount and the application of the variable consideration
constraint. As a result, as at 31 December 2021, there is
no transaction price that would be allocated to unsatisfied

performance obligations after considering the constraint.

Geographical information

Geographical information of revenue by location of
customers for the years ended 3| December 2022 and

2021 is as follows:

FEMBmRMT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

5 oFRRFZER &)

d) XBAEHANE)

(e)

HEFPRBHMHINIESNBESHER
K& 500,000 7T (#) A R #3,188,000
T ANEMAEATIE)  RERER
FR1,000,0003% 7T (49 A &% 6,376,000
T NEMBEABIE) c ZENNE
ERERERBMAR aREAER
HEXFNABIBLFEFERR AR
H e FHRERBYABREERESRE
ARERIBERERAZERERFINRS
BEAP o At - 2021128318 @ &
ZREBHI%  SEGESEERET
BHOEBHRFERS -

=g
HE2002FK202IFE A3 IEFEER
BEPFNEBEE SR MIBERMT

Year ended 31 December

BZNRAIBLEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBEFTT
China R — 30,189
Others Hi — 4,042
— 34231
MREEERAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

5 SEGMENT AND REVENUE 5 ZERBSEERE
INFORMATION (Continued)
(f) Information about major customers f) TEEFEFEH
The major customers which contributed more than 10% HE2002F R2020F12A3IBEFER
of the total revenue of the Group for the years ended 3| BASERAKRDEBERIOCNEERR
December 2022 and 2021 are listed as below: wm:

Year ended 31 December

BZ1RA3IBLEE

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMR'000
AR®ETRT AR®BTT
Customer A ZEA — 30,189
Customer B Z 5B —_ 4,042
— 3423
6 OTHER INCOME 6 HMW A

Year ended 31 December

BZ1NA3IALEE

2022 2021

20225 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T AR®ET T

Government grants (Note (a)) BT # Bh (B 5 ) 11,683 16,543
Interest income from bank balances IRITH R F B A 6,666 8,809
Interest income from time deposits E B RA B KA 216 3,240
Rental income HE WA — 5
Others H A 47 714
18,612 29311
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NOTES TO THE CONS

6 OTHER INCOME (Continued) 6

(@) The government grants and subsidies related to income @)

have been received to compensate for the expenses of the
Group’s research and development. Some of the grants
related to income have future related costs expected to be
incurred and require the Group to comply with conditions
attached to the grants and the government to acknowledge
the compliance of these conditions. These grants related
to income were recognised in profit or loss when related
costs are subsequently incurred and the Group received
government acknowledge of compliance.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property,
plant and equipment are included in non-current liabilities
as deferred income and they are credited to profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the
related assets.

7 EXPENSES BY NATURE

OLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBmRMT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

Hl A (#)

A& E B U EE U A B RO BT 8 B
KARh - N EAREB O AT -
Mo BWABENHBEEERKE
HERARRABEKR AR EZRAEEEST
MM ENREEBTERTaZE
fRfr - ERRELHBKARAEE
EHFERNT A REE - ZFR2KA
ERNMBRNIERPRER -

BEAGEER A JEAIER B BIE -
A 72 AR A 2 TR A EF BP0 LA B BT

ARz

7 EMEE WX
Year ended 31 December

BZNAIBLEE

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARBTET

Clinical research expenses bR PR B 55 7 X 410,028 448,870

Employee benefit expenses (Note 10) & 848 A5 < (FiF 5 10) 252,225 159,748

Materials and consumables used BFE BV R R FEM 113,102 147916
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value )5 17 & & 7] & 38 F (&

(Note 21) (Pt aE21) 92,986 —
Outsourced research and development costs IR N 35,787 59,419
Utilities and office expenses KEBRB AR 33,251 35,856
Professional fees HEBH 9,232 9,200
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M- BEIRBITE

(Note 14) (M 5E14) 12,678 6,729
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note |5) FREEERE (TS 5,604 3,837
Less: amounts capitalised in property, plant and B E - BERRERE

equipment Bty & (45) (199)
5,559 3,638
Auditors’ remuneration 1% S RN BN & 3,400 3,356
Rental expenses HeMxZ 1,217 1,365
Bank charges RITE A 421 190
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note |6) B EEEE 6 151 143
Others HAh 10,512 9,459
Total marketing costs, administrative expenses BN  ITHRAX K
and research and development costs O YN 980,549 885,889
PAEXARAT

3R 2022

189



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B EHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

8 OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES) — NET

8

Hittgzs (& 18) 8

Year ended 31 December

BZNAIALEE

2022
20225

2021
20214F
RMB'000
ARBETT

RMB’000
ARBTR

Gains on disposal of financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss (Note 23)

HERAREEFERE
EHtAEHREN

T B & B ek (Y RE23) 2,004 777
Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) SNEW (BB F 5 16,329 (17,625)
Losses on disposal of property, plant and HEME  BEKRZER
equipment BB (620) (106)
Others HAh (305) (300)
17,408 (17,254)
9 FINANCE COSTS 9 HMBRA
Year ended 31 December
BENANBLFE
2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTET
Interest expenses on borrowings R SN 10,109 6,723
Less: borrowing costs capitalised in property, plant & : ¥ % ~ B & &
and equipment (Note (a)) &R ERK
B A (B 3 ) (2,371) (4,400)
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBBNMERX 449 171
Finance costs BN 8,187 2,494

(@) The capitalisation rates used to determine the amount of
borrowing costs are 4.27% and 4.51% for 2022 and 2021
respectively.

@ M2022F R221F - AR E T E K
AR ® BEE R XD Bl R4.27% K&
4.51% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRKME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION)

10 BEERMRAX(BEEEME)

Year ended 31 December

BZ1RA3IBLEE

2022 2021

20224 20215

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARMTET ARETT

Salaries, wages and bonuses e ITENEA 136,238 109,156
Contributions to pension plans (Note (a)) RAREFEIHR(MT@E) 11,883 6,376

Housing funds, medical insurance and other social ¥ FEAE S - BERR &

insurance (Note (b)) H fth 1+ & R B (B 5 (b)) 8,468 6,869
Share-based compensation expenses (Note 32) VA RR 19 75 25 1t 9 357 BN 9 =<

(Bt 5£32) 95,636 37,347

252,225 159,748

@) BEFEEERARNAE AEEA
b 1 { B % 5% B B 3R K 2t Bl 4

(a) As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the

Group contributes to state-sponsored retirement schemes

for its employees in the PRC. The Group's employees
make monthly contributions to the schemes at certain
percentages of the relevant income (comprising wages,
salaries, allowances and bonuses, and subject to maximum
caps), subject to certain ceiling and has no further
obligations for the actual payment of postretirement
benefits beyond the contributions. The state-sponsored
retirement schemes are responsible for the entire post-
retirement benefit obligations payable to the retired

employees.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no forfeited
contributions were utilised by the Group to reduce its

contributions for the current year (2021: Nil).

Ko AEBREREBURABETL
B Fe RMMEA BEER)—
EPIBAmGEIHER - X —E £
BRAMR - B 5088 A SRR IR
BANERNRL BE—FTEE °
REENRAAEEERNERKESR
WA ERKRBREHMEME -

HZE2002FNA3NHIEFE » REBEH
42155 A B A R UL 9 £ 31 DRI R R
FEAHKQO2E £) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B EHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION) (Continued)

(b) Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to
participate in various government-supervised housing funds,
medical insurance and other employee social insurance
plan. The Group contributes on a monthly basis to these
funds based on certain percentages of the salaries of the
employees, subject to certain ceiling. The Group's liability
in respect of these funds is limited to the contributions

payable in each year.

(c) Five highest paid individuals
For the year ended 3| December 2022, the five individuals
whose emoluments were the highest in the Group include
two directors (2021: one director), whose emoluments
are reflected in the analysis presented in Note 38. The
emoluments payable to the remaining three (2021: four)

individuals were as follows:

10 EERAAI(BRESME) )

(b)

(©)

AEERTFENEEEESEZIAR
BRFEMNEELES BRERK
Hifg B @RS - AEEEA
ERESFENETAOL  ALF
Ee#fy B—F LR - AEEH U
FERSAENBE USFERMNH
HRBR -

hEREHFMAL
HE20NFRANHLEFE - AEBHR
ZEm AT BERSRES Q02
F:—REF) HHEMRH 32T
BT RM o BRI T=22 (20214 :
E)ATHE BT

Year ended 31 December

BZNAIALEE

2022 2021
20225 20215
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TT
Basic salaries, housing allowances, other EXR%G®  FHEER-
allowances and benefits in kind H 2 RIFSE
) 2 6,976 11,591
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 742 2,017
Contributions to pension scheme RIKEFHEI R 109 134
Share-based compensation expenses (i) LA P& 1 7 25 it &) i B
-0 18,969 14,485
26,796 28,227
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION) (Continued)

(c) Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

The remaining highest paid individuals fell within the

following bands:

FEMBmRMT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

10 EERAAI(BRESMHE) )

() EEREFMALE)
BRTERTMATBUATHHEE :

Year ended 31 December

BZNABLEE

2022
20225

2021
20214

Emolument bands

HKD4,500,001 — HKD5,000,000
HKD$,000,001 — HKD#,500,000
HKD#6,500,001 — HKD7,000,000
HKD7,500,001 — HKD8,000,000

¥ i &5 =

75 #54,500,001 — % #&5,000,000
75 #6,000,001 — 7 6,500,000
75 #6,500,001 — 7% 7,000,000
7 #7500,001 — 7 #8,000,000

HKDI5,000,001 — HKD15,500,000
HKD17,000,001 — HKDI7,500,000

75 #15,000,001 — 7 #15,500,000 —
75 #517,000,001 — 7 #17,500,000 I —

(i)

During the years ended 3| December 2022 and
2021, restricted share units were granted under the
Employee Incentive Scheme to highest paid employees
in respect of their services to the Group, further
details of which are included in Note 32 to the
financial statements. The fair values of such granted
restricted share units, which have been recognised
in the statement of comprehensive income over
the vesting period, were determined as at each of
the grant dates and the amounts included in the
financial statements for the current year are included
in the above non-director highest paid employees’

remuneration disclosures.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the share price is

lower than the exercise price for tranche B.

() BE2002FR202F12A31BIEFE -
REEEHBFERKRERAEEIRE
1 9 AR 75 100 B 1= 3 B A 3% 2 R A
ROEBEL BFRAE—THBHNUBE
R FE32 o Z B ARSI A
BUAABERGEBHRAERSE2E
WeERTHER  HRERTHEEE -
BEXRFERBRRTEENSECDH
ALBFEERSHFMETH MR
B

A2022F 202112 A318 » BREER
HXBRITTE(E o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B EHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

I INCOME TAX EXPENSE Il FIEHER

Year ended 31 December

BZNAIALEE

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTET ARETET
Current income tax expense BNEA PR 1S &
— Current tax on profits for the year — F R MBI E R IR 1,077 —
— Underprovision in prior year — F—FEBETR 8 —
Deferred income tax expense BEMSHER — —
1,085 —
(i) Income tax expense (i) FIBEHER
The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on AEBEARKREEKE RRITE &K
profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which ) BARE R P EE A S BR ALY 4 A
members of the Group are domiciled and operate. REBEEHMMEN -
Cayman Islands BEHE
Under the current laws of the Cayman lIslands, the BEFREFHSRITEARE  KXRFHBA
Company is not subject to tax on income or capital gains. B EHRHERRRD -
Hong Kong &
Kintor Science Limited, Koshine Pharmaceuticals Limited Kintor Science Limited * Koshine
and Kintor Pharmaceuticals Hong Kong Limited were Pharmaceuticals Limited 5 7 ¥ %% % & &
incorporated in Hong Kong in 2018 and are subject to Hong BRAAN0I8FEETBFEMBL
Kong profits tax at the rate of 16.5% (2021:16.5%). Since B ZB1216.5% (2021 4F : 16.5%) & %t % 2%
these companies did not have assessable profits during the MBEBNEN - HRZFRRINEE
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no Hong Kong 2022F K 2021 5F 12 A31 B 15 5 3 f% g
profits tax has been provided. AP W R E BN ERIED

B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

Il FrSHRER®)
(i) FAISHERE

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

(i) Income tax expense (Continued)

United States of America

Kintor Pharmaceuticals Inc. was incorporated in the United
States of America and is subject to federal and state income
tax rate of 23.5% (2021:23.5%).

Ireland

Kintor Pharmaceutical Ireland Limited was incorporated in
the Ireland in 2021 and is subject to corporate income tax
rate of 12.5% (2021:12.5%). Since Kintor Pharmaceutical
Ireland Limited did not have assessable profit during the
year ended 31 December 2022 and 202I, no corporate

income tax has been provided.

The Mainland of China

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC and
the respective regulations (the “CIT Law”), the subsidiaries
which operate in the Mainland of China are subject to CIT
at a rate of 25% (2021:25%) on the taxable income.

EFEERE

Kintor Pharmaceuticals Inc. 7E 3= B 5 fift A
0 B1R23.5% (20214F 1 23.5%) B B &
o A Bee FB K M P AS B ©

EHH

Kintor Pharmaceutical Ireland Limited 73
2021 FHEE BB EM KL - BIZI12.5%
(20214F : 12.5%) By B¢ K B 4 1 3 PR 15
o B B Kintor Pharmaceutical Ireland
Limited 7 & £ 20224 22021 5F 12 A31H
IEFEWEERTG A - B Bt
FISTEL R -

HA B A
RIBPFEARIMECEMERH AR
FAER(CEMEFRZED  EFER
AR BB B A BB IR FERR T U A Y
25% (20214 : 25%) AN (> ¥ P15 F7 »

BHRERARAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

Il INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continved) I FrEBER®
(i) Income tax expense (Continued) () MERERE)
The Mainland of China (Continued) B £ 3 (4E)
The income tax on the Group’s loss before income tax REBBRMERAIBIENMENRA R
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using RE R EARA S B BUE E R
the enacted tax rate in the PRC applicable to the Group as AESENEREE  FBOT:
follows:

Year ended 31 December

BZNRAIBLEE

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB®TRT ARETE
Loss before income tax BRPTIS BRI E 18 (953,284) (842,095)
Tax calculated at the applicable RERNE%TER
tax rate of 25% IR (238,321) (210,524)
Difference in overseas tax rates NI R E R (2,914) 100,338
Tax losses not recognised as deferred tax AERRBELCHIBEE
assets M IEE B 153,163 151,712
Temporary differences not recognised as AMERBELERIEEE
deferred tax assets MERFER 103,638 935
Ultilisation of previously unrecognised tax A LRI AR AN IA
losses &8 (49) —
Super deduction in respect of research and HERE@E Mt
development expenditures HUR (46,914) (51,609)
Expenses not deductible for income tax NI gt P15 B H0 BR B9
purposes il 25,471 10,396
Income/(loss) not subject to taxation BETHBHBA S
(&18) 7,003 (1,248)
Difference with prior year income tax annual F—FEMREREERE
filing Rk ZE 5 8 —
Income tax expense FEHER 1,085 —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBmRMT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

Il INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continved) I FF8HRERE)
(ii) Tax losses (i) BLIEEE
The tax losses that are not recognised as deferred tax WHERERRELCHBEEENTIEBIE
assets are analysed as follows: DM

Year ended 31 December

BZ1RA3IALEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB®TRE ARETE
Expire year FEHFE
2022 20224 — 62,246
2023 20234 157,194 157,194
2024 20244 362,196 362,196
2025 20254 493,137 493,137
2026 20264 591,854 592,048
2027 2027 581,742 —
Indefinite = HA IR 46,882 22,172
2,233,005 1,688,993
12 DIVIDEND 12 RE
No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during BENFR20IFRAINBIEFE A
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 202I. AW &K S E IR E IR B -

WAEREERA D
3R 2022 L



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

I3 LOSS PER SHARE 13 BRER

Basic loss per share EXERER

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable ERXBREBDIEBBARARGIEAR ARG
to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of E5 18 BR ABL 22022 2021 F 12 A3IH LEF
ordinary shares outstanding during the year ended 3| December EEBHTEBERBEMESHEE
2022 and 202, excluding 20,119,665 shares (202I: 23,613,590 FF A H20,119,6658% (2021 4F : 23,613,590% ) %
shares) held for the employee incentive scheme (including MEFEEALAHAEEEEERMEETH
18,107,699 shares (2021: 21,252,231 shares) arising from the 18,107,699 /% (2021 4F : 21,252,231%) A% 15) =
relevant capitalisation issue of initial public offering). MEFEHBEE -

Year ended 31 December

BZ1RA3IBLEE

2022 202 |
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARB®TRT ARETE
Loss for the year FREBE (954,369) (842,095)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in BEEITEBERMNETEEH
issue (in thousand) (AT IS 376,566 356,393
Basic loss per share (in RMB) EREGREEUAARES) (2.53) (2.36)
Diluted loss per share FERSREE
Diluted loss per share is same as basic loss per share as there is AR EE20202F 202112 A3IB IEFE#
no dilutive potential ordinary shares during the years ended 3| BEMBEEESER MWESRERER
December 2022 and 2021. AEREEER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBmRMT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 )% - BERRE
Office
Machinery equipment
and and Motor Construction
Buildings equipment furniture vehicles in progress Others Total
BWARE
B BERRE REE RE  HEIR Hit @t

RMBOOO ~ RMB000  RMBOO0 ~ RMBO00  RMBOOD  RMBO00  RMB000
ARBTT ARBTR ARETT ARBETR ARETT ARETR ARETRL

At | January 2022 202251418

Cost DR 57,662 36,147 8,603 2,029 125,744 7,625 237,810
Accumulated depreciation 2iHTE @655  (8,126)  (1,709) (962) - 612) (14,124
Net book amount REFE 55,007 28,021 6,894 1,067 125,744 6,953 223,686

Year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ10228

12A3IALLEE
Opening net book amount FORERE 55,007 28,021 6,894 1,067 125,744 6,953 223,686
Additions RE - 9,645 591 - 17,499 2,322 30,057
Transfers B 31,569 936 142 207 (36,834) 3,980 -
Disposals & - (1)) (22) - (752) - (815)
Depreciation charge (Note 7) FEBM K7 (2,351) (5,705) (1,414) (322) - (2,886) (12,678)
Closing net book amount FEREHEE 84,225 32,856 6,191 952 105,657 10,369 240,250
At 31 December 2022 ®2022% 124318
Cost B A 89,231 46,687 9,314 2,236 105,657 13,927 267,052
Accumulated depreciation 2iHE (5,006) (13,831) (3,123) (1,284) = (3,558) (26,802)
Net book amount BERE 84,225 32,856 6,191 952 105,657 10,369 240,250
At | January 2021 ®W20215181R
Cost PR 57,662 22350 5516 2018 92292 2417 182,255
Accumulated depreciation 2ihE (609) (5612) (669) (651) — (102) (7643)
Net book amount REFE 57053 16738 4847 1367 9229 2315 174612

Year ended 31 December 2021 HZE2025

NRASIALEE
Opening net book amount FNEEEE 57,053 16,738 4847 1367 92292 2315 174,612
Additions RE — 14,164 3,087 I 33452 508 55922
Disposals HeE — (19) — — — — (119)
Depreciation charge (Note 7) HEER (M7 (2046) (2762) (1040) 311 — (570) (6729)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 55,007 28,02 6,894 1,067 125,744 6953 223,686
At 31 December 2021 ®2021512R318
Cost A 57,662 36,147 8,603 2029 125,744 7,625 237810
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (2,655) (8,126) (1,709) (962) — (672) (14,124)
Net book amount REFE 55,007 28,021 6,894 1,067 125,744 6953 223,686

BHRERARAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 Y15 - BMERREE)
(Continued)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment has been charged ME BEREEBEOITEN GG 2EKE
to the consolidated statements of comprehensive income as XA FBEOT
follows:

Year ended 31 December

BZNA3IBLEE

2022 2021

20225 20214

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARB TR ARBTFT

Research and development expenses B 2 7 2 7,414 3,872
Marketing expenses 5 & HMA X 65 13
Administrative expenses THAX 5,199 2,844
12,678 6,729

200 KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=a

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

I5 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 15 ERAEEE
Leased Land
properties use rights Total
HEWE TiERAE # st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTIT AR®BTT ARETT
At | January 2022 7202261 81H
Cost [N 10,242 35,073 45315
Accumulated depreciation REFE (5,289) (1,412) 6,701)
Net book amount ARMEFE 4,953 33,661 38,614
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A31H
LFEE
Opening net book amount FHEREFE 4,953 33,661 38,614
Additions RE 9,217 — 9,217
Depreciation charge (Note 7) wEBA(WE?) (4,902) (702) (5,604)
Closing net book amount FEREAMFE 9,268 32,959 42,227
At 31 December 2022 7"20225F12A31H
Cost X AR 19,459 35,073 54,532
Accumulated depreciation RN E (10,191) (2,114) (12,305)
Net book amount REFE 9,268 32,959 42,227
At | January 2021 202151818
Cost DN 7,228 9,929 17,157
Accumulated depreciation E il (4,378) (711 (5,089)
Net book amount MR EF B 2,850 9218 12,068
Year ended 31 December 2021 E E£2021F12A31H
LEE
Opening net book amount FYREFE 2,850 9218 12,068
Additions RNE 5239 25,144 30,383
Depreciation charge (Note 7) WEERMFE? (3,136) (701) (3.837)
Closing net book amount FAREREFE 4953 33,661 38,614
At 31 December 2021 72021512 A31H
Cost (DN 10,242 35,073 45315
Accumulated depreciation Ritine (5,289) (1412) (6,701)
Net book amount R FE 4953 33,661 38,614
BREEER AT

F 3R 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B EHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets has been charged to the

consolidated statements of comprehensive income as follows:

I5 FRAEEE®)

ERAREENFTENGE 2EKERAH
B - FHBmT

Year ended 31 December

BZNRA3IBLEE

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETE ARETET
Research and development expenses Bt 3 7 2 1,993 745
Administrative expenses THAX 3,611 3,092
Less: amounts capitalised in property, plant and WoRE - BERRE
equipment BB &8 (45) (199)
5,559 3,638

Land use rights represents the land use rights granted by
the PRC government authority on the use of land within the
pre-approved lease period. The original lease terms of the
land use rights of the Group held in the PRC are 50 years.
As at 31 December 2022, certain land use right, buildings
and construction in progress were pledged for the Group's
borrowings amounting to RMB91,500,000 (Note 26) (3l
December 2021: RMB96,500,000).
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16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REPBRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

16 BILEE

BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

Software In-licenses IPR&D Total
ETPH
B 5] 3% 2 # st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETRT
At | January 2022 M2022F 1818
Cost DN 1,057 79,618 155,272 235,947
Accumulated amortisation ERE 1 (326) — — (326)
Net book amount RHEEE 731 79,618 155,272 235,621
Year ended 31 December 2022 8 220225 12831H
ILEE
Opening net book amount FYEESFE 731 79,618 155,272 235,621
Additions NE 178 —_ —_ 178
Amortisation charge (Note 7) B 8 > (P E7) (151) — — (151)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 758 79,618 155,272 235,648
At 31 December 2022 #2022 12H31H
Cost X A 1,235 79,618 155,272 236,125
Accumulated amortisation 2T E (477) —_ — (477)
Net book amount REFEE 758 79,618 155,272 235,648
At | January 2021 M202151 818
Cost N 530 54,141 155272 209943
Accumulated amortisation Rt #A (183) — — (183)
Net book amount REFEE 347 54,14 155272 209,760
Year ended 31 December 2021 B Z£20215F12A8318
LFE
Opening net book amount FREFE 347 54,141 155,272 209,760
Additions (Note (€)) RE () 527 25477 — 26,004
Amortisation charge (Note 7) #5537 1 (P 517) (143) — — (143)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 731 79618 155272 235,621
At 31 December 2021 R2021%F12831H
Cost DN 1,057 79,618 155272 235947
Accumulated amortisation REEH (326) — — (326)
Net book amount FHEEE 731 79618 155272 235,621
MREEERAT

F 3R 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 16 BREE )

Amortisation of intangible assets has been charged to the

consolidated statements of comprehensive income as follows:

BEAENBHENEA RERERAN
% BB

|

Year ended 31 December

BZNRA3IBLEE

2022 2021

20224 20214F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T AR®ETTT

Research and development expenses Bt 3 7 2 38 102
Administrative expenses THAX 113 41
151 143

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 202, the
Group's development expenditures incurred did not meet the
capitalisation principles for any products and were expensed as

incurred.

Intangible assets not yet ready for use are tested annually based
on the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU")
to which the intangible asset is related. The appropriate CGU
is at the product level. The recoverable amount of each CGU
was determined based upon the fair value less costs of disposal.
The fair value was estimated using the discounted cash flow
approach. The fair value measurement hierarchy of in-licenses
and IPR&D was level 3. The estimated revenue of in-licenses
and IPR&D is based on management’s expectations of timing of
commercialisation, market penetration rate and success rate of

commercialisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The percentage of costs and operating expenses to revenue is
the percentages over the revenue forecast period. It is based
on the current margin levels of comparable companies, with
adjustments made to reflect the expected future price rises in
labour and relevant equipment. The market penetration rate
was used based on the expected sellings conditions considering
the features of marketing and technology development. The
discount rate used is post-tax and reflects specific risks relating
to the relevant products. The success rate of commercialisation
was determined based on practices of pharmaceutical industries,
development of technologies and related regulations from

administrations.

(@ On 31 May 2017, Suzhou Kintor obtained an exclusive
global license with a package of technology and patents
to develop and commercialize GTI708F. GTI708F is an
inhibitor of the hedgehog signal transduction pathway.
Suzhou Kintor made an initial RMB3,044,000 non-
refundable upfront payment in 2017, and made a payment
of RMB3,500,000 in 2019 and another payment of
RMB3,500,000 in 202! based on the supplemental
agreement with the transferor. Total payment up to 3l
December 2022 amounted to RMBI0,044,000. Suzhou
Kintor is obligated to make payments aggregating
RMB20,000,000 and USD25,000,000 upon the
achievement of certain development milestones. Suzhou
Kintor is also obligated to make certain payments upon the
achievement of certain commercial milestones and royalty
payments at the applicable royalty rates based on net sales

of the products.

The intangible asset is not ready for use and the Group is
continuing research and development work. Based on the
research and development process and experience of the
approval process, management estimates that GT1708F will
be able to generate revenue from 2028 to 2033 with the

first four years climbing, the last two years stable.

An independent valuation was performed by an
independent appraiser, to determine the recoverable
amount of the CGU for GTI708F.

e B S SRR Y A
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

16 BEEE &)

B DA R R RSB s A o He Ty i s
BRAHANBEDL - HEERAEL B AT
BITMBERKFLEHFABRARKRET K
MHEARENTA R REBRE - FIERAN
M52 ERTEEE TS = 5 M B &
M BURERTAHIAHEE R - AEMEL
RAEGBEDE YRREBABEREBED
RrERE - BE(CHR I REUR R BLEETT
ENER  RMmEELEEIM[NMERE
M e

@ F2017F5831H - BHMAEHBRERE—4A
BMEEMNNZIRBRTA - A%
X & % 1t GTI708F » GTI708F & — &
hedgehog 15 5% 8 B iR 1 #D I H o &R M
F #0 7RA20174F 3 1+ A R #3,044,0007T
MEETNRERNR  WREEE
BHNHE R HER09F AR
3,500,000 R0 FHZMH S —E AR
#3,500,0007T ° HE2022F 12 A31HHY
S aga A A R¥10,044,0007T © &R
FAETERE THEREBEIN
# 5+ A R #20,000,0007T 525,000,000
ELHRIE - BRINFAHEMNBEEKS
THEXERBEIMNE THE KR
BEMNFHERRERNETER
BEXINEAERAEE -

ZEMEEMREDAFEAMKE K
SEEFTREEMEITE - REME
MIERBHAENLR  EEEME
GTI708FA2028F £ 2033 F #5 B S EE A
e BUFREH  EMFE2HRE

T8 -

WY HERBYAEMETT  UET
GTI708F R & EA BN AR KE £ %58 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(@) (Continued)
The key assumptions used for fair value calculation as at 3|
December 2022 and 202! are as follows:

16 BIEEE#)

@

(&

720224 %2021 12 A3IB A R EE R
HARRANEERRNOT

As at 31 December

Post-tax discount rate i1 AL IR K

Revenue growth rate for the stable period BREHKREREK
Revenue growth rate for the declining period %% R Hi A U 5 18 & &

Market penetration rate g 23K
Success rate of commercialisation BEABKINE

AI12831H
2022 2021
20225 20214
20.0% 20.0%
2.3%~15.3% 2.5%~15.7%
NAT #E A -1.4%
0.5%~8.3% 0.5%~8.3%
8.0% 7.6%

Percentage of costs and operating expenses i AN LA [z 4% & I 2 G b 42.6%~128.8%  42.6%~128.8%
Recoverable amount of CGU (in RMB’000) ReEEBMHAYE
2R (ARBFIT)

44,649 12,255

Based on the result of impairment assessment, there was

no impairment as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The recoverable amount of the CGU of GTI708F is
estimated to exceed the carrying amount of the CGU as
at 31 December 2022 by RMB34,605,000 (31 December
2021: RMB2,211,000). Considering there was still headroom
based on the assessment, the Directors and management
believe that a reasonably possible change in any of the
key assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying

amount of the CGU to exceed its recoverable amount.

(b) On 2 January 2019, Suzhou Kintor obtained an exclusive
global license to develop and commercialize c-Myc
inhibitor. Pursuant to the contract entered, Suzhou Kintor
made an initial RMB3,000,000 non-refundable upfront
payment. Suzhou Kintor is obligated to make payments
aggregating RMB27,000,000 and USD10,000,000 upon the
achievement of certain development milestones. Suzhou
Kintor is also obligated to make certain payments upon the
achievement of certain commercial milestones and royalty
payments at the applicable royalty rates based on net sales
of the products.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

The intangible asset is not ready for use and the Group
is continuing research and development work. Based on
the research and development process and experience of
the approval process, management estimates that cMyc
inhibitor will be able to generate revenue from 2030 to
2039 with the first six years climbing and the last four years

stable and declining.

An independent valuation was performed by an
independent appraiser, to determine the recoverable
amount of the CGU for c-Myc inhibitor.

The key assumptions used for fair value calculation as at 3|
December 2022 and 202! are as follows:

FEMBmRMT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

16 BIEEE#)

(b)

(%)
ZEREEMAKEDFAME K
SEFREBHEIE REHE
MERERRENLSR  BEEME
-Myc 3 1 ) 720304 Z= 20394 1% 4E %4
EEWE BAFHER BOEFE
BETERREBY -

B EEB T EEMET LR
MycH 51| 4 B 4 SR AT Ik £
% o

720224 %2021 12 A3IB A R EE R
HARRANEERRMOT

As at 31 December

R12A318
2022 2021
20224 20215
Post-tax discount rate iz BhIR = 20.0% 20.0%
Revenue growth rate for the stable period BE MK EIERE 2.2%~7.9% 3.29%~9.0%
Revenue growth rate for the declining period 3R Hi #) Ui 25 3% & & -8.0%~-1.5%  -17.0%~-0.5%
Market penetration rate M52 5 X 0.1%~4.4% 0.19%~4.4%
Success rate of commercialisation EEXN -0l R%ES 7.6% 7.2%
Percentage of costs and operating expenses PR REERIGE  48.1%~129.8%  48.1%~129.8%

Recoverable amount of CGU (in RMB'000) BeEEBMAA G

B (ARET T 4,231 22319

Based on the result of impairment assessment, there was

no impairment as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The recoverable amount of the CGU of c-Myc inhibitor is
estimated to exceed the carrying amount of the CGU as at
31 December 2022 by RMBI,231,000 (31 December 202I:
RMB19,319,000).

BRI R E R 45 R - 7020224 2021
F1A3NBILERE -

72022412 A318 + Myc 3 # B 5 37
CEABMTKRBESEHBIRRS
EEBEMNKREAERD AR 231,000
L (202112 A318 + A B #19,319,000
JT) °

BHRERARAF
3§ 2022

207



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

©

On 14 February 2018, Suzhou Kintor obtained an exclusive
global license to develop and commercialise ALK-1 antibody
with an upfront payment of RMBI14,085,000. Suzhou Kintor
is obligated to make milestone payments aggregating
USD13,000,000 in respect of development and receipt
of marketing approval in China (which includes Hong
Kong, Macao and Taiwan), additional milestone payments
aggregating USD33,000,000 for other countries, a further
one-time milestone payment of USD5,000,000 for a second
indication anywhere in the world, certain payments at the
applicable achievement of certain commercial milestones
and royalty payments at the applicable royalty rates based

on net sales of the products.

The intangible asset is not ready for use and the Group is
continuing research and development work. Based on the
research and development process and experience of the
approval process, management estimates that ALK-1 will
be able to generate revenue from 2027 to 2035 with the
first five years climbing and the last four years stable and

declining.

An independent valuation was performed by an
independent appraiser; to determine the recoverable
amount of the CGU for ALK-1 antibody.

The key assumptions used for fair value calculations as at 3l
December 2022 and 202! are as follows:

16 BEEE &)

©

720182148 - gRM AR UA R
14,085,0007T &) TE A 5RER 15 B 2 R i %
LALK- 1 BB 2 BB R ] © & M F
MEEBRETFR(RESRH - B
FEAE)REEYRES T E
1 4858 /5 13,000,0003% JT K B F2 RE +f
Mo BEMBIKRELEINERE R
#8%5133,000,0003€ 7T * BEAERKEM T
SRR —BEBERSEL —RMEER
B8 15 315,000,000 7T + R 1K = S A F
HEBETHEENE THXEREN
SHETER WiREANESHFER
BEXINETFEARE -

ZEMEEMREDAFEAMKE K
SEEFTEEMZITE - REME
MIERBHRAENLR  EEEME
ALK-1 7220274 Z 20354F #5 RE S B A IR
wm o BNFRER  BUF2BRRTE
RFRBE o

B EERBEEMET  UEBTE
ALK-IIMBBIR S EA BN A RE &
B o

R20224E K2021E 12 A3IB A A EEE
BB ETERRWOT:

As at 31 December

Post-tax discount rate
Revenue growth rate for the stable period
Revenue growth rate for the declining period

ik BE T &
18 5 A0 ek 1
2R A0k B

RI12831H
2022 2021
20224 20214
20.0% 20.0%
22.9% 2.1%~234%

-6.3%~-0.6% -6.8%~-4.2%

Market penetration rate M523 X 0.3%~15.0% 0.3%~15.0%
Success rate of commercialisation EEIA:0 PR 33.3% 13.5%
Percentage of costs and operating expenses PR R ERIGE  41.2%~110.3%  41.1%~110.3%
Recoverable amount of CGU (in RMB'000) ReELBEMHAKRD

B (ARETIT) 274,095 46215

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

©

@

(Continued)
Based on the result of impairment assessment, there was

no impairment as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The recoverable amount of the CGU of ALK-I is estimated
to exceed the carrying amount of the CGU as at 3l
December 2022 by RMB260,010,000 (31 December 202I:
RMB32,130,000). Considering there was still sufficient
headroom based on the assessment, the Directors and
management believe that a reasonably possible change in
any of the key assumptions would not cause the aggregate
carrying amount of the CGU to exceed its recoverable

amount.

The IPR&D represented KX-826, an androgen receptor
antagonist, amounted to RMBI55,272,000, as a result of the

business combination of Suzhou Koshine.

The intangible asset is not ready for use and the Group is
continuing research and development work. Based on the
research and development process and experience of the
approval process, management estimates that KX-826 will
be able to generate revenue from 2025 to 2030 with the

first five years climbing and the last one years stable.

An independent valuation was performed by an
independent appraiser; to determine the recoverable
amount of the CGU for KX-826.

The key assumptions used for fair value calculations as at 31
December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

FEMBmRMT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

16 BEEE &)

©

@

(%)
BRI R E R 45 R - 7020229 %2021
FNA3NBEILERE -

PR2022F 12 A31H  ALK-IH9 IR & BE &
BUAWESBHARASELESEN
BRI B 48 1 A R #260,010,0007T (2021
F12A318: A R #32,130,0007T) - 2
RIBBFENERANEE M &
EREEERE  ANEERENE
By T e83UReELEBEMN
MEEEBEAATKREESE -

EITHOIMBRIEHNAENERS O
EARN SR A AR|55272,0007T #)
KX-826 (—TE M =X EHEMA) -

ZEFMEERMREDAFEAMKE K
SEFTEEEMEBTITE REME
MIERBHERENLR  EEREMG
KX-826A2025%F 20304 15 6t #0 EE £

e BERFERENT R-F28RE
EBE -

B EERB L GEMET  UEBTE
KX-8263R & E £ BN A K E ¢ 5 -

R2022F K2021E 12 A3IB A R B EE
EFEANTEREKRWOT:

BHRERARAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

16 BIEEE#)

d) (Continued) d #&)
As at 31 December

RI12A31H
2022 2021
20225 20215
Post-tax discount rate TH1& Bh IR X 18.0% 18.0%
Revenue growth rate for the stable period BEHRO W RERE 5.4%~24.4% 5.5%~26.9%
Revenue growth rate for the declining period = iR Hi 9 Ui 25 1 K& = NA T iE A -4.7%
Market penetration rate %528 X 0.09%~7.5% 0.09%~7.5%
Success rate of commercialisation [SEZA:0RUES 66.5% 63.0%

Percentage of costs and operating expenses X ALA R B &E G L 47.2%~151.4%  47.2%~151.4%
Recoverable amount of CGU (in RMB'000) ReEEEMHAIYHE

TR(ARETT)

451,319 539,706

Based on the result of impairment assessment, there was

no impairment as at 3| December 2022 and 2021.

The recoverable amount of the CGU of KX-826 is
estimated to exceed the carrying amount of the CGU
as at 31 December 2022 by RMB296,047,000 (3l
December 2021: RMB384,434,000). Considering there
was still sufficient headroom based on the assessment,
the Directors and management believe that a reasonably
possible change in any of the key assumptions would not
cause the aggregate carrying amount of the CGU to exceed

its recoverable amount.

(e) On 20 August 2020, the Group obtained an exclusive
license to develop and commercialize PD-LI/TGF-f3
molecule. Pursuant to the contract entered, the Group
made an initial USD4,000,000 non-refundable payment in
2020 and a milestone payment of USD4,000,000 in 2021.
The Group is obligated to make payments aggregating
USDI15,000,000 upon the achievement of certain
development milestones. The Group is also obligated to
make royalty payments at the applicable royalty rates based

on net sales of the products.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

©

R RE &R - 720224 %2021
F12A3IB I ERIE -

20229 12 A31H © KX-826MIR & EA
BAAKESEEFTRASELEN
BRE B &8 A K #296,047,0007T (2021
F12A318 : A R#384,434,0007T) - 2
RBEFEDERANEEER &
EREEERE  ANEZERENE
B 8B eEAEUD
REEEBEBEEATKREESEE -

1202048 H208 + AL BEESHE R
R E(EPD-LI/TGF-B 5 THIB KT A ©
BEBEFTIHEL AEER2020F X
14,000,000 T B ET AR EH K
I 720214 3 £44,000,0003 T 7 2 12
MR - AEEETEKRE THER
FRRE 1% S 5 48 %8 515,000,000 TTHY X
HoAEENMEAREBEMNNFHER
REANBTEAEBXRINEST®
A#ES -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBmRMT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continved) BEEE®
) (Continued) e (#&)
The intangible asset is not ready for use and the Group ZEEERMAREDPIEAME - K

is continuing research and development work. Based on
the research and development process and experience of
the approval process, management estimates that PD-LI/
TGF-8 molecule will be able to generate revenue from
2028 to 2039 with the first seven years climbing and the

last five years stable and declining.

An independent valuation was performed by an

SEFTEEEMEBEITE REME
MENREHRENLS  EBEM
PD-LI/TGF-B % F 12028 4F = 20394 #%
BEMELAREZ BEFHEA &R
FERRBERRRBE -

B AERBAEMNET  AEE

independent appraiser, to determine the recoverable PD-LI/TGF-8 2 FIREE A B A AU
amount of the CGU for PD-LI/TGF- molecule. B 5 & o
The key assumptions used for fair value calculations as at 31 )\5’\\2022$ 202152 A3IB A A BER

December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

BAERANEZEBRKWT

As at 31 December

RI12A31H
2022 2021
20225 20215
Post-tax discount rate i 18 8L 38 = 20.0% 20.0%
Revenue growth rate for the stable period ROk EERE 0.3%~11.7% 0.4%~11.8%
Revenue growth rate for the declining period ZFRHIAM WK 518 KX -10.9%~0.2% -10.9%~0.3%
Market penetration rate mB2EX 0.6%~16.0% 0.6%~16.0%
Success rate of commercialisation EEXNE:P RIS 8.0% 7.6%
Percentage of costs and operating expenses il 2N DA Sz 4% & 5 S 4 bt 40.4%~100.5%  40.3%~100.5%

Recoverable amount of CGU (in RMB'000) IR & A B Ay AJ Ug [E]

EBRARET T 115,612 54,614

BRI R E R 45 R - 7020224 2021
F1A3NBILERE -

Based on the result of impairment assessment, there was

no impairment as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The recoverable amount of the CGU of PD-LI/TGF-B is
estimated to exceed the carrying amount of the CGU as
at 31 December 2022 by RMB63,123,000 (31 December

2022512 A31H » PD-LI/TGF-B 9 FH]
BeEEBEM KB 2BEMHFRIES
EAEEMRMEER L A RE63,123,0007T

2021: RMB2,039,000). Considering there was still headroom
based on the assessment, the Directors and management
believe that a reasonably possible change in any of the
key assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying

amount of the CGU to exceed its recoverable amount.

Q021412 A318 :+ A R #2,0390007T) °
ENRETEDEEEEN  EFN
EEEBRAE TANEERRINEIER]

EEPIrEEFRCELENNAMK
HEBHEAKESE -
PR ARA T

3R 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

17 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 17 R—FREEQRTINKRE

Year ended

31 December

2022

BZ2022%F

12A31BLLFE

RMB’000

AR T

Share of net assets, unlisted DIEEEFEGELT) 17,432
As at | January RIAIH —_
Additions NE 18,000
Share of loss for the year DIEFANEE (568)
As at 31 December RI12A31H 17,432
The particulars of the associate of the Company at 31 December AR w B E ARl (FE L) 7202212 A31H

2022, which is unlisted, are set out as follows: MEBEET:

Attributable
equity interest

to the Group
Issued and as at
Place of Registered fully paid 31 December
Company name incorporation capital capital 2022  Principle activities
20225
12A318
ERTR Y
REER ok A 3 e H2RER HRRF EitkE FEED
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT AR®TxR
Suzhou Industrial Park Kintor Zhidao ~ Suzhou 211,000 63,700 28.26%  Engaging in equity investment
Equity Investment Partnership and asset management
(Limited partnership)*
(“Zhidao Partnership”)
FNIXERFAAIERERE N RERERE EEEE
EBLEXERANIHES
BEE])

e The English name of the company registered in the PRC represents b AR EFMEXEE  WEFEEMHAE
the best efforts made by the management of the Company in directly CHEXABRARFEEERERABNHAF
translating the Chinese name of this company as no English name has been PXEWNEERE -
registered.

Zhidao Partnership is a private company and there are no HBaBELER—RILARAE - HRMHI

quoted market prices available for their shares. BHSWME -

212 KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBmRMT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

17 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 17 R—RBEQATNRESD

(Continued)

Zhidao Partnership is held through the subsidiary of the HEARCETRBAEEMNE QA &
Group, Suzhou Tuochuang Investment Co., Ltd (“Suzhou MABIRI IR ERR 2B ([EIMNBEID #
Tuochuang). Suzhou Tuochuang is a limited partner. Pursuant Ao ﬁd‘”% IREREBA - RIESEW
to the partnership agreement, the investment committee of wBEBAELENREZEEHMNER
Zhidao Partnership has four representatives. Suzhou Tuochuang REK - REZEBEREMBHFMNAEIRK
has two representatives, the other limited partner has one x HAREGBARKR—EBHTER
representative, and the executive partner has one representative AR - BuE A%ﬁé%ﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁfﬁiﬂﬁ?ﬁ
in the investment committee. All investment activities of BRVR=ZHREZESEREXR—HAE

Zhidao Partnership should be agreed by no less than three

representatives of the investment committee in consensus.

Set out below is the summarised financial information for Zhidao IATHINEAERZEARNBGEEREE
Partnership which is accounted for using the equity method: MBERBRE:

Zhidao Partnership: HEBEEREE:

Summarised statement of financial position: B 3% iR R R =

Year ended
31 December

2022
B ZE20225
RAIBLEEE
RMB’000
ARET T
Current )

Total current assets }uu BB E L Tﬁ 61,690
Total current liabilities mEaER _—

Non-current JER B
Total non-current assets ETMENE E 4 TE —
Total non-current liabilities MEBEER _—
Net assets BEFE 61,690

WAEREERA D
3R 2022 21



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B EHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

17 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE
(Continued)

Summarised statement of comprehensive loss

17T R—ZXBEQATNKRE#E)

PEHEBEERBE

For the period
from

14 March 2022
(date of
incorporation)
to 31 December
2022

2022438148
(FMRZBEHZE
202212 A31H
A

RMB’000
AR¥T T

Administrative expenses

Loss before income tax expense
Income tax expense

Loss for the period

TR X

BRPT ST E M AT E 18
SHER

HIA &8

2,666
(2,010)

(2,010)

Share of loss of the associate 7

1 B = N A B 18

I

(568)

18 INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE

I8 R—KREE D

XA

Year ended
31 December
2022

H F20226F
1I2A3IHILEE
RMB’000

AR T

Share of net assets, unlisted
As at | January

Additions

Share of loss for the year
As at 3| December

DIEEEFEGELM)
RIAIH

=1

D IEFEREE
128318

kst The amount is less than RMB1,000.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED

e ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18 INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE
(Continued)

The particulars of the joint venture of the Company at 3l

December 2022, which is unlisted, are set out as follows:

FEMBmRMT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

Attributable
equity interest

to the Group

as at
Place of Registered Issued and fully 31 December
Company name incorporation capital paid capital 2022  Principle activities
720225
12A318
ERTR &
REER &t A A 3 e B aERER BRRF EBhERE FEID
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT AR®TxR
Suzhou Industrial Park Zhiyue Suzhou 2,050 1,025 50.00%  Enterprise management;

Enterprise Management Center

(Limited partnership)* (“Zhiyue")
FNTIXERBEORERRL FHMN

(BRAB)(HE))

e The English name of the company registered in the PRC represents
the best efforts made by the management of the Company in directly
translating the Chinese name of this company as no English name has been
registered.

Zhiyue is a private company and there are no quoted market

prices available for their shares.

Zhiyue is the general partner of Zhidao Partnership. Zhiyue
is held through Suzhou Tuochuang, the subsidiary of the
Group. Pursuant to the partnership agreement, there are two
partnerships of Zhiyue. Suzhou Tuochuang is a limited partner.
The vote shall be based on the proportion of the capital
contribution actually paid, and decisions shall be approved by

more than two-thirds of the votes.

enterprise management

consulting

TEEE: CXEEHS

* o BRI EEMRXEE EﬁZEEF'EHﬁE’JQT
ZRXELBRARDNEREREZRABNHEA
PXARBEOEEBE

BB A —KILARE - HER I 8T 5 W
EO

HURBEBEERLEENEBRARA - Bl
TBEBAEENBARGMAERESE - B
EEBHE BBEERBABA - BN
BIRBREBA - RRERRRBEREH
HELOIHE SR =D2 A ENEH

BHRERARAF
3§ 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

18 INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE 18 R—XEELENRE®
(Continued)
Set out below are the summarised financial information for AT EH IS AEREAROSUE I B E &
Zhiyue which is accounted for using the equity method: M
Zhiyue: B
Summarised statement of financial position: BBRREEE

Year ended

31 December

2022
B Z2022F
RA3IALEE
RMB’000
AR T T
Current Vi)

Total current assets mEEELE 25
Total current liabilities mEBAERaRE —

Non-current JERED
Total non-current assets FERBEERE 1,000
Total non-current liabilities IEmBAERE —_—
Net assets BEFE 1,025

216 KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBmRMT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

18 INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE 18 R—XEELENRE®
(Continued)
Summarised statement of comprehensive loss: PEHEBERME:

Year ended

31 December

2022

#Z20225F

12A31H

LFE

RMB’000

ARMT T

Administrative expenses THAX =

Loss before income tax expense BRATISHERAIERE —*

Income tax expense FriSHi & M —*

Loss for the period HANEE —*

Share of loss of the joint venture DIEEEREER —*
*  The amount is less than RMBI,000 * ZEIRARKEI0007T
19 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 19 HtbERBEE

As at 31 December

RI128318
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T AR®ET T
Value-added tax recoverables AT NI (E 8,998 39,390
Prepayments for property, plant and equipment M - BB &R
B R IE 2,199 4783
11,197 44,173

WAEREERA D
F 3R 2022 21l



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B EHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

20 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY

20 RERE S THWEMTIA

Financial assets at

amortised cost
RBEAATENEREE
As at 31 December

RI12A31H

2022 2021
20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARETT

BEMBRRRNEE

Assets as per statements of
financial position

Other receivables and deposits excluding non- Hth fE R 1E R IR &

financial assets (TEEFemEE) 3,607 2,629
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEED 865,081 930,149
Time deposits E B TE R 10,223 125,071
Restricted cash ZRHE2 5,641 |,658

884,552 1,059,507

Financial liabilities at

amortised cost
RBEALTENSRAE
As at 31 December

R12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB®TRT ARETE
Liabilities as per statements of RBBRRERNEE
financial position
Borrowings - 276,500 154,900
Trade payables, other payables and accruals B R RIE - B
excluding non-financial liabilities ERRIB R EFE R
(TEEFERAE) 196,143 185,86
Lease liabilities HERE 9,886 4833
Amounts due to related parties JE 1<t B Bt 75 3R 1E 258 408
482,787 346,002

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REPBRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

21 INVENTORIES 7E
As at 31 December
®I12A31H

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARET T
Raw materials 603,503 346,285
Work in progress — 5,077
603,503 351,362

During the year ended 31 December 2022, certain COVID-19
medical products have been manufactured with the Group's
progresses on the related research and development project.
As it was still in the process of obtaining the relevant regulatory
approvals as of 31 December 2022, such pre-launch inventories
were written down to their net realisable value and the
write-down of RMB92,986,000 has been recognised as an
expense (included in "Research and development costs’) during
the year ended 31 December 2022.

22 OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

REZ200NFENANBILFE  BEAE
ErEEmEEERSER  RMEE
&/ T COVID-19%% & - & 20224 12 A3I
H BHRZEERNERFFHBEE
AMEE 2SR LETANAEGTEER
WOR Z ] 2R FE - MAMRNARK
92,986,0007T B 1A &L 22022 12 H31H IEF
EHRABRAXGIATHEKR] -

f&@l‘&a’)\ B’Z%&ﬁﬁ’a’k

PREPAYMENTS
As at 31 December
RI12A31H

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB®TRE ARETE
Prepayments to suppliers TE A FE R R 19,814 115,026
Deposits & 1,652 1,509
Advances to employees m & 8 8% 24 428
Others 1,931 692
23,421 ['17,655

As at 31 December 2022 and 202I, the carrying amounts of
other receivables and deposits were denominated in RMB and

approximated their fair values.

202245 K 20214512 A318 - Efth jE U 3%
MZEeWERENARBAEREERS
BEMESA

A
AN
L

BHRERARAF
3§ 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHmRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

23 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include

the following:

23 BAREEFEARZBHHA
HMESENEREE
() BARBEFEERLSPHALNE
ENERAEREATSE:

Tk

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20215
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE AR%®TT
At the beginning of the year REH — —
Additions NE 210,702 193,328
Disposals & (212,706) (195,062)
Gains recognised in other gains/(losses) — net R EAM U 25 (E518)
i 3R O Wk 2 % BB 2,004 777
Net foreign exchange gains HNEE U 5 % BE — 957
At the end of the year RER = —
The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss RAABEAEEEZHFAAENE

represent wealth management products and foreign
currency options. The returns on the investments were
not guaranteed. Hence, their contractual cash flows do
not qualify for solely payments of principal and interest and

were measured at fair value through profit or loss.

The fair values were based on cash flow discounted using

the expected return based on management judgement and

are within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

BT RE E R M E @ MMNEH
e UM REBRERR - ALt HA
MBRERETAERBERABNR -
WIRARBEFEEEZHTAEY

B o

RABEDIRERABENEEEHE
MEHAERERERENRERETE
VBRARBERERNEIR-

(ii) Risk exposure and fair value measurements (i) A ORAAEBETE

Information about the methods and assumptions used in

determining fair value is set out in Note 3.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 TIME DEPOSITS

FEMBmRMT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

24 THER

As at 31 December

RI12A31H
2022 2021
20225 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETET ARETET
Time deposits (a) E H7F K ()
— RMB — AR®E 10,000 —
— HKD — BT — 124,275
10,000 124,275
Accrued interest (b) J& &t A 2 (b) 223 796
10,223 125,071
(@  Time deposits held by the Group as at 3| December 2022 bear interests @ AEEMNERANBRENERERIZGSF
at 3.5% (2021: 1.26%) per annum with a duration of over three months. 3.5% (20214F : 1.26%) BRI EETE - BiIRR A=1EA
LA E -
(b)  The interest on financial instruments accrued based on the effective by ERERAELZEFANESHIATSEBESE

interest rate method has been included in the balance of the
corresponding financial instruments.

HESRE TANERES -

BHRERARAF
F3§ 2022
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25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND B EERBEESEEYURZRA
RESTRICTED CASH BE

As at 31 December

RI12A318
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AREBTT
Cash at bank and on hand RITRFRRE 820,855 806,736
Time deposits and highly liquid investments with ~ fJ#8 BAPR & =18 A A H T
initial terms within three months HERESRDUERE 49,867 125,071
Less: restricted cash (a) B XBREIIRE @) (5,641) (1,658)
Cash and cash equivalents RekRaeFEEY 865,081 930,149
Cash and bank balances denominated in: NTIEEHFENEREER
RAITHE &4
— RMB — AR 184,609 112,711
— USD — %7 182,259 148,898
— HKD — BT 497,602 664,722
864,470 926,331
Accrued interest (b) & 5t 7 B (b) 611 3818
865,081 930,149
@@ As at 31 December 2022, the restricted cash was RMB5,641,000 (3! @ H2022F12A318 - XRHIIRE A RHES641,000
December 2021: RMBI,658,000), which was placed in banks to purchase 7L (202112 A31H + A R #1,658,0007T) 1F I 7
wealth management products. BITUBERMER °
(b) The interest on financial instruments accrued based on the effective (b HEREBAMXZEGFHERIAMNBERSE
interest rate method has been included in the balance of the HESR T AMNBRIER -

corresponding financial instruments.

299 KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022



26 BORROWINGS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRKME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

26 B

As at 31 December

RI12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETET ARETET
Non-current FF BN A5
Long-term bank borrowings (Note (a)) RHEIR 1T B R (P 5% @) 177,600 147,500
Current BN &R
Short-term bank borrowings (Note (b)) 52 HAR 1T B (MY = (b)) 40,000 —
Long-term bank borrowings (Note (a)) R HASR 17 & (P &% ) 58,900 7,400
98,900 7,400
Total BEt 276,500 154,900
The maturity date is as follows: BEZHBMOT
As at 31 December
RI12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTET ARETET
Less than | year or repayment on demand IF ARSI BREE 98,900 7,400
|-2 years | ZE25F 44,200 46,100
2-5 years 2ESEF 133,400 101,400
Total #B T 276,500 154,900

The carrying amounts of borrowings were denominated in RMB.

ERNEREEAAREE-

BHRERARAF
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26 BORROWINGS (Continued)

@

(®)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had long-term
bank borrowings of RMB91,500,000 which were secured
by certain land use right, buildings and construction in
progress and unsecured long-term bank borrowings of
RMB145,000,000. Borrowings of RMB47,000,000 bore
a fixed interest rate at 4.90% per annum, borrowings of
RMB44,500,000 bore a fixed interest rate at 4.75% per
annum, borrowings of RMB46,800,000 bore a fixed interest
rate at 3.95% per annum, borrowings of RMB48,200,000
bore a fixed interest rate at 4.05% per annum, and
borrowings of RMB50,000,000 bore a fixed interest rate
at 4.00% per annum. RMB58,900,000 of these loans should
be repaid by 31 December 2023, while the remaining
should be repaid by instalments during the period from 10
February 2024 to 23 March 2026.

As at 3|1 December 2021, the Group had long-term bank
borrowings of RMB96,500,000 which were secured
by certain land use right, buildings and construction in
progress and unsecured long-term bank borrowings of
RMB58,400,000. Borrowings of RMB49,000,000 bore
a fixed interest rate at 4.90% per annum, borrowings
of RMB47,500,000 bore a fixed interest rate at 4.75%
per annum, borrowings of RMB38,400,000 bore a fixed
interest rate at 3.95% per annum and borrowings of
RMB20,000,000 bore a fixed interest rate at 4.05% per
annum. RMB7,400,000 of these loans should be repaid by
31 December 2022, while the remaining should be repaid
by instalments during the period from |5 March 2023 to 23
March 2026.

As at 31 December 2022, Suzhou Kintor had unsecured
short-term bank borrowings totalling RMB40,000,000
(2021: nil) which bore a fixed interest rate at 4.00% per

annum and were due for repayment in 2023.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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26 BER(E)

@)

(b)

R2022%F 2 A318 - AEBHKBIR
1718 F A A K #91,500,0007T  BA 3B
AT ERAE BFRERIRE
EH BEEERPRTERABARE
145,000,0007T ° A & #47,000,0007T Y
BRIETFF490%H E EFIEFE A
[ #44,500,0007T & & SR 1R & F4.75%
B & E Fl X 5 8 A R %46,800,000
T B & 3R & F3.95% &) & 7 F K 5
B AR #48200,0007T WY& IR T F
405% M EE R EXEFE U REARE
50,000,0007T Y f& F 1% & F4.00% HY
EHMEGFE - ZZEXRFHNARK
58,900,0007T 78 M2023F 12 A318 2 A
BE - MR T E» BM202452H10H8
F026F3AHEHE D HIEE -

R2021ERA3IE  AEE/M KB IR
718 R B A R ¥96,500,0007T © BA 2B
ST RAE BFREEIREE
EH: EEERPRTERBARE
58,400,0007T ° A K #49,000,0007T &J
ERIBE T F490%H E E F EFTE A
[R #47,500,0007T & 18 3K 12 & F4.75%
B & A X5 8 - A R 38,400,000
HE FIR T E395% M B F Rt A
AR A R #20,000,0007T BB IR &
405% B EEMEFTE - ZEEHRFH
A R #7400,0007T 78 7A20224F 12 A31H
ZAIMEE - MR HHAER2023F3AH
ISHZE 202638238 I D HEE -

PR20224F 12 A31H + &R N B R A E K
RHR 1T B R A FTA R #40,000,0007T
Q02 : T) » &7 F4.00%H & & F
KREBE  ZAR2023F R HIEE -



27 LEASE LIABILITIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRKME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

27 HEERE

As at 31 December
MI12831H

2022 2021
20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARB®TRT ARETE

Minimum lease payments due

THMEA RN SEEE
E:

— Within | year — IR 4,758 2,155
— Between | and 2 years — | =25 3,973 1,442
— Between 2 and 5 years — 2E55F 1,643 1471
10,374 5,068
Less: future finance charges B R E A (488) (235)
Present value of lease liabilities HEAGERE 9,886 4833
Portion classified as current liabilities NEARBEBENIS 4,435 2,069
Portion classified as non-current liabilities DERIERBEENT S 5,451 2,764
The present value of lease liabilities is as HERBEWRENT:
follows:
— Within | year — IFA 4,435 2,069
— Between | and 2 years — | 225 3,828 1,352
— Between 2 and 5 years — 2E54F 1,623 1,412
9,886 4,833
BHREXERAR

3R 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B EHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

27 LEASE LIABILITIES (Continved) 27 HEEE®)

The following table sets forth the discount rate of our lease TREFNHEBERAATAEMALIIRX:
liabilities as the dates indicated:

As at 31 December

RI12A31H
2022 2021
20225 20214F
Lease liabilities HE&RE 4.43% 449%
The Group leases various properties and land use right for AEERHEREHEREY R M L HER
operation and these liabilities were measured at net present o ZEEERRNEHARMAINNEE
value of the lease payments during the lease terms that are not NPOFHEETE -
yet paid.
The loss and total comprehensive loss shows the following BEATHBEEARERUTEEEEH
amounts relating to leases: 0 & 58

Year ended 31 December

BZ1RA3IALEE

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTRE AR¥TT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FTREEENITEER
Leased properties HEWE 4,902 3,136
Land use right 4 3 R 702 701
5,604 3,837
Interest expense (included in finance costs) B R 2 (Gt A B 15 A ZX) 449 171
Expense relating to short-term leases HEEHEEFENRAX (GTA
(included in administrative expenses) THAX) 1,217 1,365
The total cash outflow for leases for the year ended 3| HZE2002FNA38LEFE HEELEMNR
December 2022 was RMB5,830,000 (2021: RMB30,289,000). AR A K ¥5,830,0007T (2021 4F :

A F #30,289,0007T)
Information about right-of-use assets is set out in Note 5. ERERAEEENENERMTIS -

226 KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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28 DEFERRED INCOME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRKME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

28 EFEUW A

Government grants
Reimbursement of capital

BUAT # BY
1B E AR (M @)

As at 31 December
MI12831H

2022
20225

RMB’000
AR®ETR

2021

20214
RMB'000
AR¥T T

expenditures (Note (a)) 3,114 3,909
Reimbursement of future expenses (Note (2)) MERKRAXZ(HFEE) 16,838 100
Total Mt 19,952 4,009

@@  Government grants as reimbursement of capital expenditures and future @ FRAHEETNAIRAKAINBENHMIZR

expenses are subsidies received for compensating the Group’s future
production and research and development activities with regards to

certain projects.

The amount of government grants that credited to the statement of

comprehensive income is disclosed in Note 6.

29 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

29 ESREMENKE

Payables for materials and consumables

¥ e #E M EE A 1O B N 3R OR

MEARERE TIHE BRI RKEE RN #
7 B i U B O 475 B o

FEAZHEM SR BUT B & BN E 6B FR

As at 31 December
®I12A318

2022
20224

RMB’000

AR®BTR

2021
20214F
RMB'000
AR T T

(Note (a)) (M3 @) 101,948 128,256
Payables for service suppliers (Note (a)) J& 1~F PR 75 £ FE 78 R IR

(P 5 @) 78,453 44,700

Salary and staff welfare payables ENHeRETEA 16,131 21,905

Payables for property, plant and equipment Y% - B R EENRIE 4,810 7223

Payables for audit services BRI E LW BN IR 3,400 3,000
Payables for individual income tax and other J&E A E A PIT A5 250 Ko H At ¢ TR

taxes 1,899 2,097

Payables for interest expenses JE& A~ A B 2 361 213

Others HAi 7,532 2,469

214,534 209,863

FRAEXERAA

3R 2022
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

29 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 29 ESRHEHMENRER)

As at 31 December 2022 and 202I, all trade and other payables MR20202F R202IF12A3I18 - AEEMREE

of the Group were non-interest bearing, and their fair values SR EMEMNRIEL TR BEHREH

approximated their carrying amounts due to their short BRE HARBEEAKREEMRS °

maturities.

@ As at 31 December 2022 and 202I, the ageing analysis of @ M2022F K2021F12A318 » ME Kk #E
payables for materials and consumables and payables for T4 7 A B B AN SR TR K B AN AR 75 L FE 7
service suppliers based on invoice date are as follows: RIEERBEZAHNERE AT

As at 31 December

RI12831H
2022 2021
20225 20215
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTRE ARMTT
— Within | year — IFR 180,401 172956
30 DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES 30 IRLEFTEHEME

As at 31 December
®I12A31H

2022 2021
20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARETT

The balance comprises temporary differences RHBRBEATIEEED
attributable to: TREE R

Intangible assets appraisal arising from business *¥BEHELANETREE
combination AT 1A 155,272 155272
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30 DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBmRMT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

30 IEEFIBBERE®)

(Continued)
As at 31 December
®I12A318
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARB T AR T T
Deferred income tax liabilities: RIEMESREE:
To be recovered after 12 months R R{E A & Yz = 38,818 38818
SHARE CAPITAL 31 RA

Share capital of the Company

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 16
May 2018 with an initial authorized share capital of USD50,000
divided into 500,000,000 shares with a par value of USD0.000I

each.

KR FRA

,f/'\ ®

Number  Nominal value

RARH0ISESARERHSHES M
S0 W) iR A E AR AN ABS50000k T &
/500,000,000 % & % E {80.00013 7T A9 f%

Equivalent

nominal value

of shares of shares USD of shares

ROBE KROEEEXT KROZEEE

RMB

AR

As at | January 2022 20221 AI1H 387,589,600 38,759 273,007

Issuance of shares (Note (a)) BTl (M5 @) 59,910,000 5,991 41,626

As at 31 December 2022 7202212 A31H 447,499,600 44,750 314,633

As at | January 202 20211 A 18 369,389,600 36939 261417

Issuance of shares (Note (b)) BT (52 (b)) 18,200,000 1,820 11590

As at 31 December 202 202112 A318 387,589,600 38759 273,007
BRBEEERAT

3R 2022
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31 SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Share capital of the Company (Continued)

(@ On 7 September 2022, the Company issued 19,910,000
ordinary shares with par value of USDO0.000I each at
a price of HKDI3.94 per share, raising approximately
HKD277,545,400 with net proceeds of HKD272,999,622,
after deducting related issuance expenses. Accordingly,
19910,000 ordinary shares with par value of USDO0.000I
each are issued and RMBI3,768 are credited to share
capital, and remaining amounts, after netting of issuance

expenses, are credited to share premium.

On 16 December 2022, the Company issued 40,000,000
ordinary shares with par value of USDO0.000I each at
a price of HKDI12.94 per share, raising approximately
HKD517,600,000 with net proceeds of HKD509,122,488,
after deducting related issuance expenses. Accordingly,
40,000,000 ordinary shares with par value of USDO0.000I
each are issued and RMB27,858 are credited to share
capital, and remaining amounts, after netting of issuance

expenses, are credited to share premium.

(b) On 2 June 2021, the Company issued 18,200,000
ordinary shares with par value of USDO0.000I
each at a price of HKD64.50 per share, raising
approximately HKDI,173,900,000 with net proceeds
of HKDI,160,333,000, after deducting related issuance
expenses. Accordingly, 18,200,000 ordinary shares with
par value of USDO0.000! each are issued and RMBI1,590
are credited to share capital, and remaining amounts,
after netting of issuance expenses, are credited to share

premium.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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31 BA&(#)
EATRA (&)
@ M202%F9A78  ARENIRERI3.94%

(b)

JT 3 1719910,000/% & B% E & £0.000|
EILHEBR - & & H277545400%
T MBRMEEEITR & - FTS5KIE
FERR272999,62275 T o A It - B2 %
719910,000/% & % M {& #/0.00013 T
M EAR - WA REEI13,768 AT A B
N FrSERNBRETRIEBTA

PR B

R20202F12A816H "R A EE K
129478 JT % 1740,000,0008% & M m
BEROOVIZETLTHERBR £&L
517,600,000 7T+ MR BE B E TR
1% PT1SIEFRE 4509,122,4888 7T ©
itk + B % 1740,000,000/% & A% m &
#00001E TR EAAR - WiF AR
27858 L AT AR AN - Ffh S R HIFR %
THIBFTARGRE -

202196 A28 © &N A A & A%
64.507% JT # 1718,200,000/% &= A% M
BROOVIZETLTHEBR K£&EL
173,900,000/ 7T - 1 Fx 18 8 32 17 &
S 1& - P15 IRFRE A1,160,333,00078
JC ° At - B #7718,200,000% & A% M
BHARO0IEZETHEBRR  TKAR
B 1,590TT T A BRAS - Fl gk & BN IRR
BT EFTARMDEE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32 SHARES HELD FOR THE EMPLOYEE

INCENTIVE SCHEME

2020 Employee Incentive Scheme

The Company has appointed a trustee to assist with the
administration and vesting of awards granted pursuant to the
employee incentive scheme (“the 2020 Employee Incentive
Scheme”). The Company may (i) allot and issue shares to the
trustee and the shares will be used to satisfy the awards upon
vesting and/or (i) direct and procure the trustee to receive
existing shares from any shareholder or purchase existing shares
(either on-market or off-market) to satisfy the awards upon
vesting. All the shares granted and to be granted under the
2020 Employee Incentive Scheme shall be transferred, allotted
and issued to the trustee. The Company issued and allotted
2,361,359 shares (23,613,590 shares as adjusted upon the
completion of the capitalisation issue of initial public offering) of
USDO0.0001 each to Kiya Company Limited (“Kiya"”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group, which is incorporated by the
trustee on behalf of the Group for the benefit of the participants

pursuant to the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme.

The Grantees may elect to pay the consideration by (i) paying
sufficient funds to the trustee to cover the consideration; or (ii)
instructing the Trustee to sell some or all of the vested shares
to settle the consideration payable, provided the proceeds from
the sale of shares shall be sufficient to cover the consideration.
Each participant shall be required to make payment in full for
the award granted under the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme
at the date of vesting or some other date as determined by the
Board and/or the administrator in their absolute discretion, failing
which the transfer of the shares shall be deferred until such time

as and when consideration is paid in full.

FEMBmRMT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

32 iEEHBIASEENRS

2020 & & ¥ B 5+ &
RAAREEE—BZTA URHERER
iR 95 1R 1% 1B B B 51 21 ([20204F 18 B 4 B
FEID T EAEEE - AARAIG)AZFTEA
s REBEITRD - ZERM SR EHEE A
EBITEE B & /X (i) 8 R X AR 55 A
BEMREEVGREROKEERERMN
(THESHRMIZ LEE)ABITHREEYN
1B o IRIB20205F B B RN IR B &
ERENMERMNEEE BEBRETT
ZFEA  AREIERE20205 & B M B 5+
EILA2 B A% %5 ATRlKiya Company Limited
([Kiya (AEEHZEMBAR - AXFTA
R BN B E AR S ) 217 K& BE 82,361,359
BRARERARABENERBEITTKE
A 523,613,590 % B (7)) B A% I {E0.0001
ETHRD ©

AERAEEATTAINRE: )AX
AAXNERNE S AMRE : (i) ER
XEALEF IR HMEHERNDIALE S
FENRME - ELERDAEHRIRRERIAX
NRE F2EEARBHADHESS
R/AEBAZERBEETOHEMBE AR
R 4%20204F 18 B B Bh a1 811 H w0 52 B 1F
2RMR TAROERBHEEERER
BXMAL -
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32 SHARES HELD FOR THE EMPLOYEE
INCENTIVE SCHEME (Continued)

2020 Employee Incentive Scheme (Continued)

This special purpose vehicle, Kiya, is consolidated in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group as the Company
has power to govern the relevant activities of Kiya and can
derive benefits from the contributions of the eligible employees
who are awarded with the shares under the 2020 Employee
Incentive Scheme, the directors of the Company consider
that it is appropriate to consolidate Kiya. The shares are held
under the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme until such time as
they are vested. Forfeited shares will be redeemed at the paid

consideration and if applicable, plus 5% per annum interest.

(@ On 31 March 2020, 1,843,410 shares (18,434,100 shares as
adjusted upon the completion of the capitalisation issue of
initial public offering) were granted to 54 eligible employees
(the “Grantees") in two separate tranches (A and B) under
the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme. The fair value of an
ordinary share at the date of grant is USDI19.20, and the
exercise prices were USD0.442 per share for tranche A and
USDI9.1515 per share for tranche B, respectively. 891,705
shares (8,917,050 shares as adjusted upon the completion
of the capitalisation issue of initial public offering) from
tranche A and 951,705 shares (9,517,050 shares as adjusted
upon the completion of the capitalisation issue of initial
public offering) from tranche B were granted. Service
periods in respect of the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme
granted are up to four years for eligible employees. If an
employee ceases to be employed by the Company before
the respective vesting date, the awarded shares will be
forfeited.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32 SHARES HELD FOR THE EMPLOYEE
INCENTIVE SCHEME (Continued)

2020 Employee Incentive Scheme (Continued)
(@) (Continued)

The restricted share units were valued by the directors
of the Company with reference to the valuation carried
out by an independent appraiser, on the grant date of
the restricted share units. The fair value of share-based
payment of tranche A and B are USDI8.76 and USDO0.05

respectively.

(b) On 31 March 2021, 3,509,000 shares were granted to |9
eligible employees in two separate tranches (A and B).
The fair value of an ordinary share at the date of grant is
HKD36.45, and the exercise prices were USD0.0442 per
share for tranche A and USDI.91515 per share for tranche
B, respectively. 1,854,500 shares from tranche A and
1,654,500 shares from tranche B were granted. Service
periods are up to four years for eligible employees. If an
employee ceases to be employed by the Company before
the respective vesting date, the awarded shares will be
forfeited.

The restricted share units were valued by the directors of
the Company with reference to the quoted market share
price on the grant date of the restricted share units. The
fair value of share-based payment of tranche A and B are
HKD36.I1 and HKD21.56 respectively.

(© On 30 September 2021, 2,008,220 shares were granted
to 8 eligible employees in two separate tranches (A and
B). The fair value of an ordinary share at the date of grant
is HKD52.25, and the exercise prices were USD0.0442
per share for tranche A and USDI9I515 per share for
tranche B, respectively. 1,004,110 shares from tranche A
and 1,004,110 shares from tranche B were granted. Service
periods are up to four years for eligible employees. If an
employee ceases to be employed by the Company before
the respective vesting date, the awarded shares will be
forfeited.

FEMBmRMT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

mESHBESAENRG @

2020 F EE BB & (&)

@)

(®)

©

(%)
ZREBRNDEMVBAARRAEETNRZR
HIROEMNETH  2FBIGE
EIE (BTG o BURARHBLIRBIA
BHOBEROINOAREBES A
18.763% JT % 0.053 JT ©

PR2021E3A318 1% i {E 8 32 #E IR (A
KB)M19% & &1 & B #% 113,509,000
BREMD R IRTFA—REBEBBROAR
B E B3645%8 7T M#L XA KR H#EIXB
HITEED B A EFR04NETLRE
BEI9ISISZE TT » #EX AR KBS BIR
11,854,500 A% B 19 F 1,654,500 IR A% 17 ©
HREEBEENREHRER AN
FeoMEERSHREBBRZATER
ERARAT - BIRE R MG E o

ZREBRNDEMBARRTEETNRZR
FIRMEMNNETHE  2EMERH
WEEITRE o #HERARALIXBLARRS
AERNIAOAAREBED R A3
BT K21.568 T °

2021959 A308 - & R & 32 #E K (A
& B)[M8% & & 1§ & B % 12,008,220
D - RIETFRE—BREBROAA
BB /52258 7T Mt XAKH#IRB
MITHEEN R ABRIM4NETRE
f&1.91515% 7T » #E X AR HLIXB S B &%
11,004, 110A% B% 19 }2.1,004,1 108% A% 17 ©
HREEREENRBHR &R AN
FeoMEERSHEAMZAITER
BRARR - BIZERMD G UE o

BHRERARAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

32 SHARES HELD FOR THE EMPLOYEE
INCENTIVE SCHEME (Continued)

2020 Employee Incentive Scheme (Continued)

©

@

(Continued)

The restricted share units were valued by the directors of
the Company with reference to the quoted market share
price on the grant date of the restricted share units. The
fair value of share-based payment of tranche A and B are
HKD51.91 and HKD37.34, respectively.

On 8 March 2022, the Board of Directors of the Company
approved the modification of the 2020 Employee Incentive
Scheme. The Company has agreed to amend the vesting
schedule to provide flexibility for participants for whom
50% of their restricted share units which should vest on
31 March 2022. The participants may select from only one

from three options.

*  Adhere to the original Vesting Schedule and vest on
31 March 2022;

*  Give up on 3l March 2022 and the restricted share
units will automatically lapse and the shares return

back to restricted share units pool; and

*  Postpone the decision to 30 September 2022.

The participant may postpone the decision to 30
September 2022 and thereafter may elect to/or not to have
the restricted share units vest on 30 September 2022. If
not, the restricted share units will automatically lapse and

the shares return back to restricted share units pool.

On 31 March 2022, a total of 349,393 shares (3,493,925
shares as adjusted upon the completion of the capitalisation
issue of initial public offering) from tranche A were vested.
The Group received from the Grantees a total amount of
HKDI,197,505 (equivalent to approximately RMB974,061).

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

32 MEERBFAFENRG &)

2020 F EE BB & (&)

©

@

(%)
ZREBRDEMBARRAEETNRZR
FIRMEMNNERTHE  2ZMERH
WMBEITAE o HXARALIKBLARRS
BEBOIHNAAREBED R A5
BT M37348 T ©

20226388 - AARIESEHEE
H2020F & B BT El - ARARE
BRI REBRERK - LA ER202293A8
IR BRS0%ZRFIRMHEMBEE
REEEE - 2EEEUH =EIEIE
RiEE—E -

« EBFRFEBERRILN2022F3A
3IHERE

o P02FIAIHMESRE KR
B MmEMEaE LK BERH
RO R FIRMDEMA K

HESE Z20229F9 A30B BIERTE °

2 HLE AR 2022598308 BER
E o 2BAREE ST E R E&MD
BALR2020269A30B %8B - Bl - £
Rl HEMEEE A BERER
iR [B] % BRI AR 19 867 A o

2022493 H318 + #E X AG $£349,393
BN (RERXAREENEN R
1TER 1 (S B 53,493,925 iR 1) 1
GE - ASEEEABARESHNG
SEAI1975058 T (FEE RO AR
974,0617T) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32 SHARES HELD FOR THE EMPLOYEE
INCENTIVE SCHEME (Continued)

2020 Employee Incentive Scheme (Continued)
(d) (Continued)

©

On 31 March 2022, the participants who were granted
a total of 404,393 shares (4,043,925 shares as adjusted
upon the completion of the capitalisation issue of initial
public offering) from tranche B postponed the decision to
30 September 2022. The share option for tranche B was
valued by the directors of the Company with reference
to the valuation carried out by an independent appraiser
on 3| March 2022. The fair value of the share option for
tranche B is HKDO0.53 per share.

During | April to 30 September 2022, 17,053 shares
(170,525 shares as adjusted upon the completion of
the capitalisation issue of initial public offering) forfeited

because of employees resigned from the Group.

On 30 September 2022, the participants gave up tranche
B aggregating 387,34| shares (3,873,400 shares as adjusted
upon the completion of the capitalisation issue of initial

public offering).

On 8 October 2022, 1,139,950 shares were granted to
|6 eligible employees in two separate tranches (A and B).
The fair value of an ordinary share at the date of grant is
HKDI1.24, and the exercise prices were USD0.0442 per
share for tranche A and USDI.91515 per share for tranche
B, respectively. 569,975 shares from tranche A and 569,975
shares from tranche B were granted. Service periods are up
to four years for eligible employees. If an employee ceases
to be employed by the Company before the respective

vesting date, the awarded shares will be forfeited.

The restricted share units were valued by the directors of
the Company with reference to the quoted market share
price on the grant date of the restricted share units. The
fair value of share-based payment of tranche A and B are
HKD10.89 and HKDO0.00 respectively.

FEMBmRMT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

mESHBESAENRG @

2020 E E BB 8 (#)
d #&)

©

20226 3A3I8 - B RBER A H#
40433 (RBEBRXALAREENE
AN B 17 58 A 18 48 38 B /34,043,9250%
IR 17) B £ B2 35 1% H#E 4B 202299 H30
BEMERTE - #LABRERERAAF
EES2EFH A ERMMR202F3H3]
HEEEEITA M o BLRBEARERD
NAEBERBERSIET

72022648 1HE9A30HHAM + 17,053
B (RE X AFREENER T
SERK I AE TR B170,525 8% B 1) Rl E B
B 7N 5 B B B 4R 2 UL o

MR202249A30H - 2 EE R EHR KB
BET38734I IRk (RBE A A AHEBERN
&R B 1T SE A 18 48 38 B 53,873,400

BB R) o

2022 1088 + 3% ®M &8 2 #bx (A
kB)MI6EE B EERTI139950A%
BH - REFA—REBROHAIAE
BRI24%E 7T MALRARIRBH
TEED R AEFRMANETEER
1915155 7C » #EIX AR XB % B H
569,9750% B% 175 K 569975% P& 17 o ¥ B
SEREEBNREHR KR AMNE o
WMEBNRSHEAPZATEZER
NAT] - A EEEIRR 5 = o

SZREBDEMHAARESZSN IR
FIRMDEMNNIRTE  2EMERG
RBEITIE o #RARBLXBARR S
AEROSINAHRIAREBED R AI0.89
7 7T }0.007% JT ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B EHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

32 SHARES HELD FOR THE EMPLOYEE
INCENTIVE SCHEME (Continued)

2020 Employee Incentive Scheme (Continued)

(f) On 29 December 2022, the Board of Directors of the
Company approved the modification of 2020 Employee
Incentive Scheme. The Company has agreed to amend
its free option to grant equity to provide flexibility for
participants for all granted restricted shares.

e On receipt of a Grant Letter or Vesting Notice, the
Selected Person May decline any tranche or both
tranches of and offer of Award(s), in which case the
declined Award(s) shall automatically lapse, and the
Selected Person shall have no further claim nor rights

in respect of such Award(s).

The expense recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income and other reserves for restricted
share units granted to the employees amounted to
approximately RMB95,636,000 for the year ended 3l
December 2022 (2021: RMB37,347,000).

Set out below is the movement in the number of awarded

restricted share units under the 2022 Employee Incentive

32 BEERBFEEENRG &)

2020 EE BT &l (&)

() H202F 128298 + ARRIESG A
& 282020 18 B BT &l - RAR]I[A
BEIETRENBHEERE UAR
FIEBETZRHIRGOHSEERME
B

e WRRTHXFERMR  EE
ATREREMNRBA R ELD
R ERBER KRR M E - Lt
BART - BIEBEMNERKE
BAM MEBEALTBRZSE
REFE-—THRLAZEERN -

HE2NFNRAIBLEFE  REE
ZEMERREMEEPERD M
EERENZBRHIRMOEMNRIZL
B A RE956360007T (202145 : A R#E
37,347,0007T) °

PAT #51| 1R 820225 (& 8 B Bh &t 8l %
THXRHIBRDELHENE SIS

Scheme: A

For the For the

year ended year ended

31 December 3| December

2022 2021

B E20225F BLE20215F

12A3I1H 12A318

IEFE HEFE

At the beginning of the year R E 4] 19,895,720 15,413,200
Granted during the year FAKH 1,139,950 5,517,220
Vested during the year FRNEB (3,493,925) —
Lapsed during the year FRKRA (3,873,400) —
Forfeited during the year F ARG (1,995,475) (1,034,700)
At the end of the year RER 11,672,870 19,895,720
Shares not yet granted at the end of the year FRE AR DO R G 8,446,795 3,717,870

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBmRMT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

of the awarded shares (Note 32)

33 RESERVES 33 i
Share-based
Share compensation Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
RRBAER
RGEE HEHRE 2itE# st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ANRETT ARETT ARETT
At | January 2022 ®2022%1818 3,358,871 65,506 (1,769,475) 1,654,902
Loss for the year FERER - - (954,369) (954,369)
Issue of shares of the BOADARNL
Company (Note 31(3)) (M331@) 697,147 - - 697,147
Share-based payments (Note 32) PR RERE T
(ft3£32) - 95,636 - 95,636
Shares vested under the Employee REEEABIEGE
Incentive Scheme and transferred to REBERKANRR
the grantees (Note 32)(Note (3)) (WY aE32) (Bt 7t ) 41331 (46,360) - 971
At 31 December 2022 #2022512831H 4,103,949 114,782 (2,723,844) 1,494,887
At | January 2021 R2021F1 818 2406911 28,159 (927380) 1,507,690
Loss for the year ERNER - — (842,095) (842,095)
Issue of shares of the Company BAOARRARS
(Note 31() (H3E31@) 951960 — — 951960
Share-based payments (Note 32) PR RERE
(F3£32) — 37347 — 37347
At 31 December 2021 R20215 127318 3358871 65,506 (1,769,475) 1,654,902
(@  During the year ended 31 December 2022, Kiya transferred 3,493,925 @ B ZE202%F12A318 1L FE  Kya R 5 B & 7
ordinary shares of the Company (2021: nil) to the Grantees upon vesting 55 B 18 ) AR A B 83493925 R A1 A E il R

(0214F : Z) (T 5£32) °

BHRERARAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B EHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

34 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED 34 MEBREREXRMKE

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(i) Reconciliation of loss before income tax to
cash used in operations

() BRATGHAIEREREEEEMA
RENH R

Year ended 31 December

BZNAIBALEE

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETET ARETET
Loss before income tax BR PSR E 18 (953,284) (842,095)
Adjustments for: HATBHEELFAE:
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note |6) B EEEHE M 6) 151 143
Depreciation of property, plant and mE - - BELRBITE
equipment (Note 14) (Bt 5E14) 12,678 6,729
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note [5) FRAEEENE
(B &EI5) 5,559 3,638
Write-down of inventories to net realisable WRFEEAERFE
value (Note 7 and Note 21) (B 7% M 7 21) 92,986 —
Gains on financial assets at fair value through EAREBEFERH
profit or loss (Note 8) BHFAETHERD
& B & E W e (P 518) (2,004) (777)
Losses on disposal of property, plant and HEWME BERERE
equipment — net (Note 8) BY &5 48 )% 58 (Bt 58) 620 106
Share of losses of an associate and a joint DIEBE R REE
venture TERNEE 568 —
Interest expenses (Note 9) A B s (Bt 529) 8,187 2,494
Interest income (Note 6) AN ONC T (6,882) (12,049)
Share-based compensation expenses VAR 17 7% B B &Y % BN 54
(Note 32 and Note 10) (M 5E32 X B 5E10) 95,636 37,347
Net foreign exchange (gains)/losses (Note 8) BE X (W as) BB F
(Bt 5%8) (16,530) 39,379
Changes in working capital: LEE2EE:
— Other receivables — E e W A 94,234 (86,034)
— Inventories —KFE (345,127) (351,362)
— Trade and other payables — B 5 K H A E FRIA 6,756 155,322
— Amounts due to related parties — JETRA R 75 KA (150) (842)
— Deferred income — B A 15,943 3,648
— Other non-current assets — HEMIERSHEE 30,392 (5,320)
Cash used in operations REMALR® (960,267) (1,049,673)

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(ii) Major non-cash transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the principal
non-cash transactions are the additions of right-of-use
assets of RMB9,217,000 and the expense of RMB95,636,000
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income and other reserves for restricted share units.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the principal
non-cash transactions are the additions of right-of-use
assets of RMB5,239,000 and the expense of RMB37,347,000
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income and other reserves for restricted share units.

(iii) Reconciliation of liabilities from financing
activities

FEMBmRMT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

34 MERERERWT 2

(i) TEHFRAERH

REZ2002FR83IBEFE £ 2
FREXGRAEFEABREEARK
92170007t R R R & 2 H W = Kk HAb
REPEROZBHROEMHREZ
A R #95 636,0007T °

REZE2021FENA3BIEFEE B3
RERXRGRABEFTRAEEEARK
5239000t R RirA 2 E W am R H A
FEPERAOZRSIRG B
A R #373470007T °

(iREFTBHEENHIER

Lease liabilities Borrowings Total

HESE ES At

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBTR ARBTT

At | January 2022 M2022%6 1718 4,833 154,900 159,733

Financing cash flows in MEREMA - 170,000 170,000
Financing cash flows out MERE R 4,613) (48,400) (53,013)

Interest expenses FERX 449 - 449

New lease nHE 9,217 — 9,217

At 31 December 2022 M2022% 1 A31R 9,886 276,500 286,386

At | January 2021 20211 A18 3203 218,500 221,703

Financing cash flows in HEREMA — 20,000 20,000
Financing cash flows out BERE RN (28924) (83,600) (112,524)

Interest expenses MERX 171 — 171

New lease MHE 30383 — 30383

At 31 December 2021 202112 A31R 4833 154,900 159,733
BREEERAH

3R 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability,
directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial and
operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related
if they are subject to common control, common significant

influence or joint control.

The equity holders, members of key management and their close
family members of the Group are also considered as related
parties. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
related party transactions were carried out in the normal course
of business and at terms negotiated between the Group and the

respective related parties.

(i) Name and relationship with related parties are set out

below:

35 BB ARG

W—BRENERIEREF R —T7 X
EEEHF B R EERRITEESH S 717
REAFESN  AEHRE BB -
XX HKRAES KREAFELHBAE
Bl - TR SRR

BamiA AEEXT2EEEXE MK
FRMRMWR LSBT - RABEER
R BBTRSTIN —REBBREPRR
SEEZ T ERAIRTUET -

() &K AEEENT

Name of related party Relationship

BT £ A %

Dr. Youzhi Tong One of the shareholder
BERzEL PRR 22—

Mr. Ming Ming Cheung One of the key management
EHRBEE T2EEEKE Z—

Dr. Ruo Xu One of the key management
AEEL TREEEKE Z—

Dr. Jianfei Yang
HEIREL

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this report, the following is a
summary of the significant transactions carried out between
the Group and its related parties in the ordinary course of
business during the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

One of the key management before November 2022
W26 ARNRSERERERE 2 —

BRARESBEREN  UTAREZE
202F R20IF N A3IBH IEFEAREE
BHBEAB TR —MEBBEPAET
BERARGHBE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRKME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

35 BEARZ (&)

(i) AEBET ER BX

Discontinued B4 IE

(ii) Loans/advances to related parties

Dr. Youzhi Tong ERZEL

Year ended 31 December

BZNRAIBALEE

2022 2021
20224 20215
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTET ARETET
Beginning of the year F4 —
Loans advanced (a) ERNEK@ 108,173
Loan repayments received BEREFRERK (107,910) —
Interest charged MBI 2,473 —
Interest received 2 WEF B (2,473)
Exchange losses HNEE B 1B (263)
End of year FR —
Mr. Ming Ming Cheung ZAHRF LA
Year ended 31 December
BENRABLFE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETET ARETET
Beginning of the year F0 — —
Advance (a) 25K () 6,379
Repayments received B WiE 5K (6,877)
Exchange gains SN HE W 25 498 _
End of year FR —

WAEREERA D
3R 2022 e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(ii) Loans/advances to related parties (Continued)

@

As at 8 February 2022, the Board of Directors
and the Company has agreed to provide a loan of
RMBI108,173,000 in aggregate to Dr. Youzhi Tong for
his personal financing use. The loan shall be repaid by
30 June 2022 and the interest rate shall be 4.27% per

annum.

On 29 June 2022, the Board of Directors and the
Company approved to enter into a supplemental
loan agreement with Dr. Youzhi Tong to extend the

repayment date of the loan to 30 November 2022,

As at 31 December 2022, Dr. Youzhi Tong has repaid
all of the loan with his salary and bonus and his own
fund.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Company provided interest free advances of
RMB6,379400 to Mr. Ming Ming Cheung. As at 3|
December 2022, Mr. Ming Ming Cheung has repaid all

of the advances.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

35 B SR F (&)

(i) ARABK ST ER BRE)

@

20222 A8H » EEERANR]
EREMER 2ETRHBFA
R #108,173,0007T &) & 5K 1E H &
A R® - 5% EE R AR2022
FoHHZAEE  FHNEXB
427% °

R2022F6H29H  EEE R AR
AERERZELIRITMEAE
R UEERMERBHE
R E2022%11A308

MR2022E12B318 - ERZ2ELE
NWEHES RARBEELEER
FrEER -

HE2NEFENANBIEFE @ K&
ErREfRAALTERELEERK
AR#6,379,4007T ° 722022412 A
3IH EFHBRELEEBEEMER

=



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(iii) Balances

The related party balances as at 31 December 2022 and
2021, are shown below:

REPBRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

35 BEARZ (&)

(i) %5 &2
20224 K 20214E 12 A3 B # @8 B 5 45
ERBIRAOT -

As at 31 December
®I12A318

2022 2021
20225 20214

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTE AR®TET

Amounts due to related parties in relation to U B AT BT =
receipt of government grants not yet paid to 1= R S T BB O O PR

4t =k 0
related parties: 13 B ER 75 /) SR -
— Dr. Ruo Xu — HFEEL 225 300
— Dr. Jianfei Yang — BRIRE L 33 108

258 408

As at 31 December 2022, all balances with related parties
of the Group were non-interest bearing and non-trade in
nature, and their fair values approximated their carrying
amounts due to their short maturities.

PR2022F 12 A3 - AEBEHEB A
EHRETTERAEREZHE  BERE

MERE AonEEREAKEERES
PR ARA T

3R 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B EHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

35 BB AR Z (&)

(v TEEEEBHMH:
FTEEREORATES TETK
ABREIRR - HEERBENHE
NEZEBENFMIIRAOT:

(iv) Key management compensation:

Key management includes executive directors, chief officers
and vice presidents. The compensation paid or payable to

key management for employee services is shown below:

Year ended 31 December

BZNRAIBALEE

2022 2021
20225 20214

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE AR®TT
e IERIEL 29,381 27,190

Salaries, wages and bonuses

Contribution to pension scheme RIKSEHEIfHE R 478 360
Housing funds, medical insurance and other EEAES  BEARR

social insurance B B A AL 2 AR R 523 395

Share-based compensation expenses A B A7) 753 2= Wt 1 357 BAY
F 32 28,297 23,700
58,679 51,645

36 COMMITMENTS 36 &G
(i) Lease commitments (excluding the right-of- () HEAB(TEELAREER

use assets and lease liabilities) HESH®)

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group leases some

offices and equipments under irrevocable lease contracts

R2022F K201 12 8318 - NEER
BETARBEEEANEEETHAST

with lease term less than one year and leases of low value B REFEHNHEBIR—FRE

BKEERE EREBRMBRSE
AIE ISR ERPEREREEE -
ZERRRSORBETAHEEES
HWRKREHENTBBEOT:

that have been exempted from recognition of right-of-
use assets permitted under IFRSI6. The future aggregate
minimum lease payment under irrevocable lease contracts

for these exempted contracts are as follows:

As at 31 December
MI12A31H

244

2022
20224

RMB’000
AR®ETR

No later than | year

S

133

2021
20214
RMB'000

ARET T

462

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022



36 COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(ii) Capital expenditure commitments

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRKME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

36 G (E)
(i) EARME XA

Capital expenditure contracted for as at 31 December 20224 202112 A3I8 * A&EEE
2022 and 2021 but not yet incurred by the Group are as ATAERAREENERRAZIITRIT :

follows:

As at 31 December

®BI12A318
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥ T AREFTT
Property, plant and equipment ME - WREKEE 4,608 17,180
Investment in an associate and A—REE N NF R —F
a joint venture BETEMNKRE 42,513 —
Total et 47,121 17,180
BMAEEBRAR

3R 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

37 BALANCE SHEET AND STATEMENT 37 XPEINEERBERREZET
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY OF THE x
COMPANY
As at 31 December
RI12A318
2022 2021
20225 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARETET
Assets BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB AR E 3,171,673 3,076,037
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE 1< BT JB8 2 R 5K A 2,843,505 184961 |
Time deposits 7E B 17K 10,223 125,071
Restricted cash % PR 63 & 5,641 | 658
Cash and cash equivalents ReREEEED 604,822 739,244
Total assets EEH®E 6,635,864 5,791,621
Liabilities =R+
Current liabilities RBEE
Other payables H fth & 1~ 5K 1B 34,837 27,080
Total liabilities EEAE 34,837 27,080
Equity R =
Equity attributable to the equity ARREBREAEMN
holders of the Company R
Share capital EFZN 315 273
Shares held for the Employee Incentive MIEB MBI FEN
Scheme gh) (14) (17)
Reserves B 6,600,726 5,764,285
Total equity ERAE 6,601,027 5,764,541
Total equity and liabilities EEREERARE 6,635,864 5,791,621

246 KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBmRMT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

37 BALANCE SHEET AND STATEMENT 37 XAFINEEEBREEREH
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY OF THE RE)
COMPANY (Continued)

Share-based ~ Share held
Share compensation  for employee  Accumulated
Share capital premium reserve share scheme losses  Total equity
ARBAEE REARGT
Bx  K#EE NENERE ANENRG 0 RAER 0 RRME

RMBOO RMBOO RMB1000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL  AR¥TR ARETT ARETT ARETT  ARETn
Balance at | January 202 RANFIRIBM &5 m 5,887,763 65,506 (17 (188,984) 576454l
Loss and total comprehensive EEFRRZERRES
loss for the year - - - - 42,087 42,087
Transactions with owners in their HEEASBEEANRS
capacity as owners
lssue of shares of the Company BIARARA Q 697,47 - - - 697,789
Share-based payments KROBBERNZH - - 95,636 - - 95,636
Shares vested under the Employee Incentive 1R 5B 8 S B)3H 8 5B R &
Scheme and transferred to EREARRSD ()
the grantees (Note 32) - 41331 (46,360) 3 - 974
4 145,078 49,276 3 - 194399
Balance at 31 December 2022 RONENA3BH & 35 6632841 14,782 (14) (146,897) 6,601,027
Balance at | January 2021 R0 IRIRM &8 2] 4935803 28159 (17) (165,114) 4799092
Loss and total comprehensive loss EEFRRZEERER
for the year — — — — (23810) (23810)
Transactions with owners in their AREAGHREANR S
capacity as owners
lssue of shares of the Company EOARARA 2 951,960 — — — 951972
Share-based payments AR BEREZN — — 37347 — — 37347
12 951960 3347 — — 989319
Balance at 31 Decernber 2021 ROUEN A3 BRI 5 m 5867763 85506 (17 (188984) 5764341
The balance sheet of the Company was approved and authorised ARG EEBBRN2023FIA0AKE
for issue by the board of directors on 30 March 2023. EEHEREEREM -
Director EFE

WAEREERA D
3R 2022 e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

38 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS 38 EEME
(@) Details of emoluments in respect of the (@ EBEEXARESHMESFE
directors of the Company
The emoluments in respect of each of the directors paid/ HE2002FNANBLEFE  A&EED
payable by the Group for the year ended 3| December N/ ENSEENMSE#S T

2022 are as follows:

Basic Social ~ Share-based
salaries and Retirement security compensation

Fee  allowances Bonus  benefit costs costs expenses Total
Exfe BUKER  HERE HRHAEH

ok k% *A B RE NEHREx it
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARMTn ARMTR ARMTR AR®Tn ARMTr ARMTR

Executive directors YrES
Dr. Youzhi Tong ER/BT 53 6,010 455 ] 55 - 7,099
Ms. Yan Lu (i) ERLL(K - 4945 360 58 5 5,48 10,670
Non-executive directors $97EE
Mr. Gang Lu (i) FE ) 5. i - - - - - - -
Mr. Chengwei Liu (i) 8% 2 % & (i) — — — — - - —
Dr. Bing Chen (i) B 1B £ i — — — - - - —
Dr: Michael Min Xu (ii e L) 268 - - - - - 268
Mr Wallace Wai Yim Yeung (i)~ 15 BB T4 i) 248 - - - - - 268
Prof. Liang Tong (v ERARW) 268 - - - - - 248
Ms. Geqi Wei () ERELLE) - - - - - - -
Mr. Weipeng Gao (vi) B I A (i) - - - - - - -
Dr. Yan Wang (i) L) — — — - - - —
1,340 10,955 815 [] 114 5,248 18,573
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRKME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

38 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS (Continued) 38 EEME )

(a) Details of emoluments in respect of the (@ EBAQARESNMEFEE)
directors of the Company (Continued)
The emoluments in respect of each of the directors paid/ HZE220FN2A3BILEFE AEEE
payable by the Group for the year ended 3| December N/ ENSEENMSE#T T

2021 are as follows:

Basic salaries Retirement Social

Fee  and allowances Bonus  benefit costs  security costs Total
ExEe RAEN  HERE

Be 2 fEd KA RA ot

RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOO  RMBOO  RMBODO  RMBOO
ARBTL  ARBTT ARBTn ARETL ARETR ARET:H

Executive directors YTES

Dr. Youzhi Tong EReBT 4| 4099 1152 40 53 583
Non-executive directors FUES

Mr. Gang Lu (i B B 5 £ (i) — — - — _ _
M. Jie Chen (i) BRARTE i) — ~ ~ - . _
Dr. Bing Chen (i) REfL (i) - - - - . .
Mr. Wei Zhang (iv) RELE(W) _ _ _ _ _ _
Ms. Yaling Wu () RGRRLW) - - - — _ _
D Michael Min Xu (i) BREL() 45 - - - _ 1
Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung (i) RRBR LA i) 15 — — . - 15
Prof Liang Tong (v) BRHK() 5 - - - - 15
Ms. Gegi Wel (vi) EWERLw) - - — — — _
Mr. Weipeng Gao (vi BB LA (i) _ _ _ _ _ _
Dr. Yan Wang (vii THTEL (i) - — — _ _ _

1226 4099 1152 40 53 6570

WAEREERA D
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B EHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

38 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(@) Details of emoluments in respect of the
directors of the Company (Continued)

(i)  Salaries are paid in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company or its subsidiaries undertakings.

(i) Bonus is determined based on the financial performance of the
Group and the performance of each individual.

(i) Mr. Gang Lu, Mr. Jie Chen, Dr. Bing Chen, Dr. Michael Min Xu and
Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung were appointed as non-executive
directors of the Group on 12 August 2019. Dr. Bing Chen resigned
on 30 April 2021 and Mr. Jie Chen resigned on 22 June 2021. Mr.
Gang Lu resigned on 3l January 2022. Mr. Gang Lu, Mr. Jie Chen
and Dr. Bing Chen did not receive any emolument during the years
ended 3| December 2022 and 202I. The increase of emoluments
for Dr. Michael Min Xu and Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung during the
year ended 2022 is due to the appreciation of HKD against RMB.

(iv)  Mr. Wei Zhang was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Group on 17 July 2020 and resigned on 26 November 2021. Mr.
Wei Zhang did not receive any emolument during the year ended
31 December 2021.

(v)  Ms. Yaling Wu and Prof. Liang Tong were appointed as non-
executive directors of the Group on 27 October 2020. Ms. Yaling
Wau resigned on 27 September 202! and did not receive any
emolument during the year ended 3| December 2021. The increase
of emoluments for Prof. Liang Tong during the year ended 3|
December 2022 is due to the appreciation of HKD against RMB.

(vi) Ms. Gegi Wei was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Group on 27 September 2021, and did not receive any emolument
during the year ended 3| December 2022 and 2021.

(vii)  Mr. Weipeng Gao was appointed as a non-executive director of
the Group on 22 June 2021, and Dr. Yan Wang was appointed as a
non-excutive director of the Group on 30 April 2021. Dr Yan Wang
resigned on 5 May 2022. Mr. Weipeng Gao and Dr. Yan Wang did
not receive any emolument during the years ended 3| December
2022 and 202I.

(viii) Mr. Chengwei Liu was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Group on 5 May 2022, and Mr. Chengwei Liu did not receive any
emolument during the year ended 3| December 2022,

(ix)  Ms. Yan Lu was appointed as an executive director of the Group on
31 January 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, 280,000 shares (2,800,000
shares as adjusted upon the completion of the capitalisation
issue of initial public offering) were granted to one

executive director of the Company.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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38 EEM (&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(b)

©

(d)

()

)

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
termination benefit during the years ended 31 December
2022 and 202I.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

The Group did not pay consideration to any third party for
making available directors' services during the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021.

Information about loans, quasi-loans
and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

Save as disclosed in Note 35, no loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings were made available in favour of directors,
bodies corporate controlled by and entities connected with
directors subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Inducement or waiver of emoluments

No directors received emoluments from the Group
as inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office for the years ended 3l
December 2022 and 2021. No directors waived or had
agreed to waive any emoluments for the years ended 3l
December 2022 and 2021.

Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 35, no significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021.

FEMBmRMT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

38 EEM (&)

(b)

©

(d)

(e)

)

EERBERN

B mE ENE R 2022F K 2021412 A3
B 1F 6 E U B sk #8 & U ER AT {a] B B B
F o

BRREEEREMOE=FRMH
AR E
RNEERE Z2022F % 2021F12 A31H
FFEYEBREERESRBMEMSE
=FEZNRE -

MEE  ZTZEEFEHNEA
BREEZEEENEEZREMR
NEXR EERNHGBRSZHNE
BR BT ER35FTH BB E SN - RERKNE
20224 K2021 512 A31 B IEFEE ]
B WERAES IREEFEY
REABEBERZEESNHEETREIR
HOER EEFMNEMRS -

RBIHEMS

& E2022F R2021F12A318 IE F
B HMEEEE NS B UE A B
® ERREEMNBEREERINIMER
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EEENEIRNEREETMAME -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REPBRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2022

HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

39 SUBSIDIARIES

39 BT
AREBEREE2022F K2021F 12 A3IB 1EF

Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Group as at year ended 3|
December 2022 and 2021 are set out below:

EH B AR FEISEINMT

Percentage of equity attributable to the Company
ARAREREAN L

Place of registration/
incorporation and place Nominal value
of operations and date of incorporation/
incorporation and kind of legal registered
Name entity share capital
ift/ERRIAEREXLY  ERRIEH
& NEERRIAAREREREDY AE/ AKX
Directly held:
EERR:

Kintor Science Limited

Kintor Science Limited

Koshine Pharmaceuticals Limited

Koshine Pharmaceuticals Limited

Kintor Pharmaceuticals Inc.

Kintor Pharmaceuticals Inc.

Kintor Pharmaceutical Ireland Limited

Kintor Pharmaceutical Ireland Limited

252 KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Hong Kong HKDI00
15 June 2018,

limited liabilty company
7 1007 7T
I8F6AISA
BRAT

Hong Kong HKDI00

| August 2018,

limited liabilty company
; 10078 7T

EER

BRAR

United States of America —
13 November 2018

EH2ARE —
WISEIIAI3B

Ireland USDI
12 May 2021

g Ep
WIESANA

As of 3| December
HZ1A31A
2022 202

WNE 0E
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

Principal activities

IREE

Holding company in Hong Kong

AR ERAH

Holding company in Hong Kong

BRERAR

New drug research and development

HERY

Research, development and commercialisation

MERAEL



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REPBRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

BZE2002F12A83HIEFE

Percentage of equity attributable to the Company
ARARERBADM

39 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39 B AR (&)
Place of registration/
incorporation and place Nominal value
of operations and date of incorporation/
incorporation and kind of legal registered
Name entity share capital  As of 3| December
E%/E%Wiﬁ%&“%ﬁ% at AL U R 9
i1 NREMAYASREERAEE HE/ERRE  BZnAA
2022 2021
wnE  0F
Indirectly held:
BEEA:
Suzhou Kintor Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Mainland China RMB34419442 100% 100%
ENRAEXRAERAE)) 24 March 2009,
limited liability company
ENRAEERAERAA) RER ARE344194407 100% 100%
00938148 -
BRAA
Kintor Pharmaceuticals Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong HKDI00 100% 100%
(FREZERARAR) 17 May 2018,
limited liability company
MABXERARAE BR 00 100%  100%
WI8ESAITA -
N
Suzhou Koshine Biomedica, Inc. Mainland China RMB7,500,000 100% 100%
HENREBERRAA)) 21 September 2010,
limited liabilty company
ENAEBEARAR) hE R AR ET5000007T 100% 100%
WI0E9AR -
N
Shanghai Xituo Biotechnology Co, Ltd. Mainland China RMBI00,000 100% 100%
(LEBREMBRERAT) () 10 April 2019,
limited liability company
LEERENREERAR) hER AR 1000007 100% 100%
I9F4A108 -
BRAAE
Kintor Pharmaceutical (Zhejiang) Co, Ltd. Mainland China USD35,000000 100% 100%
(RREZ(FT)ERDA)) 27 June 2019,
limited liabilty company
RAZENT) ARG hER 35000000% T2 100% 100%
I9F6AVA -
BRAT

Principal activities

IRED

Research and development

ik

Research, development and commercilisation,
overseas investment

HERAZL BIRE

Research, development and commercialisation

MERAEL

Research and development

g

Manufacturing, commercialisation, research
and development

R BECRTE

BHRERARAF
3§ 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHmRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HZE2002F12A83HIEFE

39 SUBSIDIARIES (Continved) 39 B AR (&)
Place of registration/
incorporation and place Nominal value ) '
of operations and date of incorporation/ Percentage of equity attributable to the Company
incorporation and kind of legal registered FRARGREADL
Name entity share capital  Asof 3| December  Principal activities
E%/E%miw%&“ﬁw% at AL U R 9
i NRHERAYEHAREZERER EE/HERRX HZ1A3IA IRED
2022 201
ME 0IF
Oniza Flight International Limited Cayman Islands UsD3 100% 100%  Investment holding
2January 2018
Oriza Flight International Limited REES % 100% I00% REZRK
0I8F 1 A28
Kintor Pharmaceutical (Bel ung) 0, ltd. Mainland China RMB40,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing commercialisation, research
(RREXER)AR @uuo 25 August 2000, and development
limited liabilty company
RAEELR)BRAR() hERL AR 400000007 100% 00% i BECRFE
020%8A258 -
BRAT
Kintor Pharmaceutical (Gu angdong) Co, Ltd. Mainland China USD30,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing, commercialsation, research
(RREXBR)ARAT) () 30 July 2020, and development
limited liability company
RAZE(RER)ERAR) RER 30000000 7T 100% 0% B HECRER
00%7A308 *
BRAT
Suzhou Tuochuang Investment Co, Ltd. Mainland China RMB&62,000000 100% NA  Venture capital (limited to unlisted
ENREEXRERRAT)() 19 January 2022, enterprises)
limited liability company
EMREIEIEREARRAR) hE R AR%62,0000007 0% FER  EERERRELTLE
W0EIANA -
BRAT

(@) These entities are registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises under

the PRC law.

The English names of the subsidiaries are translation made by

management of the Company as they do not have official English

names.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
B R B

Results E$
Loss before income tax BRETISTIRTES 1B
Income tax expense RS E M
Loss and total
comprehensive loss for AR IFH
the year attributable to A JE{§F A
the equity holders of BELREE
the Company BB AR
Assets and liabilities ZEER&&E
Total assets BEHRE
Total liabilities BEAR
Total equity AR
Equity attributable to the
equity holders of the ~ AARIE=FFH
Company A FEAE #E &

2022
20225

RMB’000

AR®TR

(953,284)
(1,085)

(954,369)

2022
20225

RMB’000

AR®BTR

2,055,136
559,948
1,495,188

1,495,188

For the year ended 31 December

BZ1R2A3IALEE

2021

2021 4F
RMB'000
AR¥ET T

2020
20204
RMB'000
AR¥EF T

(842,095) (508,228)
— (73)
(842,095) (508,301)

2019
20194
RMB'000
AR¥EF T

2018
20184
RMB'000
AREF T

(232.577) (108:484)

(232,577) (108:484)

As at 31 December

RI12A31H

2020
20204F
RMB'000
AR T T

2021
20214
RMB'000
AR®ETF T

2,067,989 1,851,475

412,831 343,541
1,655,158 1,507,934
1,655,158 1,507,934

2019
20194
RMB'000
AR®EF T

2018
20184
RMB'000
AR T T

553,376 423,597
183,712 171920
369,664 251,677
369,664 251,677
BAhEEERAF

3R 2022 e
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

BERRNAR

“Abiraterone”

[ B L 5 3 | 5
“ACE2"

[ACE2] 8
“AGA”

[ B £ | 5
“ALK-I”

[ALK-1] 15
“ALK-5”

[ALK-5] 15
“AP|”

[API 15
AR

[AR] 15
“AR+"

[AR+] 5

“Audit Committee”
[BEZZEg] &

“Board” or "“Board of Directors”

[EEE] B

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

a synthetic, steroidal CYP |7A | inhibitor and the active metabolite of abiraterone
acetate, an ester and prodrug of abiraterone that is used in the treatment of
prostate cancer

AR a B 7 B — A R E E R CYPIZTAD & Bl - & 2 BB tb B BE WY
EMEACHEYD - Th B L% BE A BR A0 A B2

angiotensin converting enzyme-2, a protein on the surface of many cell types, which
has been identified as the receptor for the SARSCoV-2 viral entry
MEERZELEIGE  FE2AR\EXRENELQEL  ERINR
SARS-CoV-27A 3 A #O e 2z

androgenetic alopecia

HE R R B 52

activin receptor-like kinase-1, an antagonistic mediator of lateral transforming
growth factor-beta/ALK-5 signalling, also known as GT9000]

FEERZBEME - —BARB(CERRBFLERAAKSER - I iE
A3 GT9000I

the transforming growth factor-beta type | receptor kinase, an attractive target for
intervention in transforming growth factor-beta signalling due to its druggability as
well as its centrality and specificity in the pathway

BAERRAFLABRIEANE  FEBEMEIANER BN @O &R E
- RBULEERBEFLERTNANARS NHELR

Active Pharmaceutical Ingredient

androgen receptor

HEARZE

androgen receptor positive

HHEIEHE

the audit committee of the Board

EXEERRES

the board of directors of the Company
ARREES



“c-Myc”
[c-Myc]

“CG Code”
[ %%E s <FA]

“China” or "PRC"
[ B

"CMO(9)”

[CMO]

“Company”

RAVNSIN

“Core Products”

[0 EE

“COVID-19"

[COVID-19]

“"CRO()"

[CROJ

DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS
BERRMAR

MYC proto-oncogene, bHLH transcription factor, a protein that codes for

transcription factors

MYCIREERA  bHIHESA T —ERBESETFNELD

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

AR BB 8+ O A EL b DR ST A

The People’s Republic of China, for the purpose of this annual report only, excluding

Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan

FEARANE  ERAFEME  FREES RFINFELE

a company that offers manufacturing services, with volume capabilities ranging from
small amounts for preclinical R&D to larger volumes necessary for clinical trials
purposes and commercialisation

—REHRLEERBORR  HEERIARRERANEN N EERE
BARABMERCAFNREER

Kintor Pharmaceutical Limited, formerly known as KTKM Holdings Inc., an exempted
company with limited liability incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 16 May 2018
whose Shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with stock code
9939

Kintor Pharmaceutical Limited * B 8 KTKM Holdings Inc. * —ZK 1201845H 16H
EREHSEMKRINERRERAR @ ERMDNBZAER L (M
5% 9939)

has the meaning ascribed to it in Chapter I8A of the Listing Rules; for purposes
of this annual report, our Core Products consists of Pruxelutamide (GT0918),
Pyrilutamide (KX-826) and AR-PROTAC Compound (GT20029)

HEBELETRAETNAZERBETHRE  RAFHRNE - RANZOERBRE
75 B MR (GT0918) ~ 4& 5 fth B (KX-826) K2 AR-PROTAC Compound (GT20029)

coronavirus disease 2019
AR O == TR

contract research organisation(s), a company hired by another company or research
center to take over certain parts of running a clinical trial. The company may design,
manage, and monitor the trial, and analyse the results
BRMERE B —KRRAMEFLER B
fr

B O 50 0 3 6 25
ﬁﬁ@@ﬁj°§x@ﬁjﬂl&(?&§ %IE%D%}?%&@E\E% %

+
=

BARERXARAT
3§ 2022
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

“CTLA-4"
[CTLA-4] 15

“Detorsertib” or “GT0486"

EIREE 5 [GT0486) 15

“Director(s)”

[E %] B
“Dr. TONG”
[EE L] B

“Employee Incentive Scheme”

[ B 2Bt 2] &
“EUA"
[EUA] 15

“Global Offering”

(2 3% ) i
“Group”

(A& ] B
“hedgehog”

[hedgehog | 5
“HCC”

[HCC 15

“Hong Kong” or “HK"
(&%) ¥

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

a protein receptor that functions as an immune checkpoint and downregulates

immune responses

—RBERLERREHYTHLRRENEQALXE

DIQ

an inhibitor of the PI3K/mTOR signalling pathway and a second generation mTOR
inhibitor under development by our Group primarily for the treatment of metastatic

solid tumours such as breast cancer, prostate cancer and liver cancer
—TEPBK/MTORESRF I HIE - BANKEFEFEE ZKmTORMFIHE -
TEANAERIARE FIRERTESEELERRE

director(s) of the Company

RRABIES

Dr. Youzhi TONG, one of the co-founders, executive Director, chairman and chief

executive officer of the Company

BERZEBL ARBBAABAZ  ATES  TRRITHER

the employee incentive scheme of our Company approved and adopted by our
Board on 31 March 2020
EF202020F3A31 A4t /& W R R Y A2 B B By &+ 8l

emergency use authorization

EREREE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Prospectus

EERRERMAETHRE

the Company and its subsidiaries (or our Company and any one or more of its
subsidiaries, as the context may require)

ARBNMEMBAR(RMONEME  BARAREEAN-RAZKHE
NI

one of the anticancer targets, when hedgehog is not turned off during adulthood, it

promotes the growth of cancer cells

BIELE Z— BT Ehedgehog TR ERERERMNAER

hepatocellular carcinoma, a common type of liver cancer

e n—RBERmERL

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEEBRNITHRE



“HKD” or “"HK$”
&7l

“IFRS”

[ B Bt 75 3 5 ZE Bl

“IND”
[INDJ

“IPF”
[1PF]

“Latest Practicable Date”

[ & BRI 1T HH]

“Listing”

(£

“Listing Date”

[Em A

“Listing Rules”

[Em A A1

“Macao”

[RP |

“mCRPC”
[mCRPC

“Model Code”

[42 3% <F A

RaSHAUN

i

DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS
BERRMAR

Hong Kong dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BEEAEEBET

International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board
RE At ERIR B g 08 M) B BR B 7S S R

investigational new drug

MERR

idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis

R e m et

20 April 2023, being the latest practicable date prior to the print of this annual
report for the purpose of ascertaining certain information contained in this annual
report

2023478208 - BIRNGFEREOFATEEAFREFAHE TENNRERE
BRAI1T B 5]

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
BRORBRATER LS

Friday, 22 May 2020, from which the Shares are listed and dealings therein were first

permitted to take place on the Stock Exchange

2005 ANH (28 H) BWORBIH EMEE X EHFTSHH B

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as amended or

supplemented from time to time

B FESF LR ETRETRETE

The Macao Special Administrative Region of the PRC
BB P 45 Bl 1T R

the acronym of metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer

ERUHELERERIRENES

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed issuers as set out
in Appendix |0 to the Listing Rules
EHRAMETAE LM BETAESTETESRZINEESTA

BARERXARAT
3§ 2022
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“MRCT”
[MRCT/

“mTOR”

[mTOR]J

“NDA"

[NDAJ

“Nivolumab”

[Nivolumab]

“NMPA”

-
3
S
e
z

“Nomination Committee”

[lRREEE]
“pD”

[PD]

“PD-1" or “PCD-I"

[PD-1]% [PCD-1]

“PD-LI"

[PD-LIJ

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

multi-regional clinical trial

Z bR R & B

mammalian target of rapamycin, a critical effector in cell-signalling pathways
commonly deregulated in human cancers

HIBYERBEEED —BREENAREFRERIES T EAR
JEAE R E R X K FE A RE

new drug application
HEERE

a human immunoglobulin G4 (IgG4) monoclonal antibody, which targets the
negative immunoregulatory human cell surface receptor programmed death-I
(PD-1, PCD-1,) with immune checkpoint inhibitory and antineoplastic activities
ABRRIRERGS (gCHERENE - AL RBRERMBERIER
AN HHEReRBHARMARREXRIEFIESLT I (PD-1 - PCD-
1)

the National Medical Products Administration of the PRC (BIZR 22 BE B E 12 /3),
successor to the China Food and Drug Administration according to the Institutional
Reform Plan of the State Council

BREMEETER REEBEEEBNESTEXNATEERR B EHM
EEEEARNETEN

the nomination committee of the Board

ExgRA%EY

Pharmacodynamics

programmed cell death protein |, a protein in humans is encoded by the
programmed cell death | (PDCDI) gene

BREHEARXTCED  EABANBERFEMABIXTI(PDCONERFIFH
=

programmed cell death-ligand |, part of an immune checkpoint system that is
essential for preventing autoimmunity and cancer
BEEARECER  2XREHBESN D BEHEFRRNE



“Pfizer”

(12 3 |

“PI3K”

[PI3K]

“pK

[PK]

“Prospectus”

[HERERE]

“PROTAC"

[PROTAC

“Pruxelutamide” or “GT0918"

[ 7 & /% sk [GT0918)

“Pyrilutamide” or "KX-826"

[4& B b B | =k [KX-826)

“R&D"

[T 3 |

“Remuneration Committee”

(FHEES]

DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS
BERRMAR

Pfizer, Inc,, a corporation organised and existing under the laws of the State of
Delaware, U.S., and a research-based global biopharmaceutical company

B I AR (Pfizer, Inc) » —RBBRBRH N ENZRZARRF BN AR KA
MESENERENRERF

the acronym of Phosphoinositide 3-kinase, a family of enzymes involved in cellular
functions such as cell growth, proliferation, differentiation, motility, survival, and
intracellular trafficking, which in turn are involved in cancer
BRNE-ABNES  2RARDENARER  EBE 2
FEMARANERN —A SLABRNEXERESR

£ &% -

Pharmacokinetics

ERPHE

the prospectus of the Company dated 12 May 2020
ARRAHR2020F5 42BN AR ETR

Proteolysis Targeting Chimera, a small molecule composed of (i) a recruiting
element for a protein of interest; (i) an E3 ubiquitin ligase recruiting element; and
(iii) a linker bounding (i) and (ii)

FERKBEANRGE Ao T HARSROEEAMERE ()E3
REREEBORE: RINEE() RN EESS

formerly known as “Proxalutamide”, a small molecule second generation AR
antagonist under development by our Group for the treatment of COVID-I9,
mMCRPC and AR+ metastatic breast cancer
AEERBETH—BND T RARBHRE - BRIBECOVID-19 * mCRPC
K AR+ 5 1 31 AR &

an AR antagonist under development by our Group as a topical drug for the
treatment of AGA and acne vulgaris
AEEFAERN—BARENE  FRAFREREERERS
Y

FEERNIN

research and development

Bt 9% Ko A 2%

the remuneration committee of the Board

EFevMEES

BARERXARAT
3§ 2022

261



262

DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

BERRIMAR

“Reporting Period"”
[k & 2

“Restricted Share(s)"”

[52 BR 1 B 17

“RMB” or “Renminbi”

AR

“RSU"

52 PR il B 7 B iz |

“SARS-CoV-2"

[SARS-CoV-2]

“SFO”

58 5 M MR %A

“Share(s)”

(B fn]

“Shareholder(s)”
MR 3R J

“SMO”

[SMOJ

“Stock Exchange”
[ Bt <2 T |

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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the year ended 31 December 2022
BZ200FRA3IBILFE

share(s) granted to a participant under the Employee Incentive Scheme that are
subject to such vesting and transfer requirements as the Board shall determine, and
such other conditions as set forth in the rules of the Employee Incentive Scheme
REEEHBFAERT2RENRYG  AREZEREETHNEHERBER
AR B2RIA MR BB AT B AR RIFT SV B B E AR IR (R T AR IR

Renminbi yuan, the lawful currency of the PRC

TEEEEEBARE

a restricted share unit award granted to a participant under the Employee Incentive
Scheme that is subject to such terms and conditions as set forth in the rules of
the Employee Incentive Scheme, and each restricted share unit represents one
underlying Share
RRESHBERAUMBERN G RAEERBFTEHAEATL2EER T
MZRHIRDEL IR MEBOHXREBOELRR—RBBKN

severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2

BESEWFRRGLRSETAMREZ28

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
FREEPETIE(E SR EERIDEETERER] - B AEMT X E
20

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company, currently of nominal value
US$0.0001 each
R E R B BT & A E {E0.0001 3% 7T HY 3 58 ik

holder(s) of the Shares
SGESTEPN

smoothened, a Class Frizzled G protein-coupled receptor that is a component of

the hedgehog signalling pathway
—BPENBHBEGCER BB XE - Ehedgehogls 3 R 1€ H) — AR E D

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEEBHARIABRAR]
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BERRMAR
“Suzhou Kintor” Suzhou Kintor Pharmaceutical, Inc* (B&kMNF &R MDBRAF]), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company
[ %% M 57 40 ] B ARRzEMBRARSKMNAEHREXZBROBRAA
“TAHC” target area hair counts
[TAHC] € BREHAIEEHE
“TGF-3" a regulatory cytokine that has multifunctional properties that can enhance or inhibit

many cellular functions, including interfering with the production of other cytokines
and enhancing collagen deposition

[TGF-3] B —RAABZYEFUENASARRET  AHERKIHEFZARNE - 2
BRTEEMARREFOELE RIERBRITE

“Top-up Placing 2021" the top-up placing conducted by the Company pursuant to a placing agreement
and a subscription agreement, both dated 26 May 2021. Please refer to the section
headed "Directors’ Report — Top-up Placing of Existing Shares and Subscription of
New Shares under General Mandate” of this annual report.

RO2IFRERMEE] ¥ ARFRBEHER0AFA2XANEERZRRBERZETNLER
HMECE - F2RAFRIEFTERE — TERFTEERARMDERE—
MRIZERBII A — & -

“Top-up Placing 2022-1" the top-up placing conducted by the Company pursuant to a placing and
subscription agreement dated 31 August 2022. Please refer to the section headed
“Directors’ Report — Top-up Placing of Existing Shares and Subscription of New
Shares under General Mandate” of this annual report.

RO2FFRERFAEE! B ARAREBEAH[02FANENEEHZLRABBHE ETHLEERN
BE - - FRHALAFREFERE — TERFEERABROLERE—R
RIERBH I —80 -

“Top-up Placing 2022-11" the top-up placing conducted by the Company pursuant to a placing and
subscription agreement dated 9 December 2022. Please refer to the section headed
“Directors’ Report — Top-up Placing of Existing Shares and Subscription of New
Shares under General Mandate” of this annual report.

20225 SE E R FTECE 1) B  ARAREBEAHR02FNAENEEHEANMRBHZETHLEERH
BE - FR2HALAFREFERE — TERMESERABROLERE—R
RERBHIM | —& -

BARERXARAT
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2SS o eSSy the United States of America

= B ENRARE

“USD" or “US$” U.S. dollars, the lawful currency of the U.S.

il B EXBUEEBE®BXTT

“U.S. FDA" Food and Drug Administration of the U.S.

[ 3£ B FDA # XERmEREBEEER

“VEGF” vasoactive endothelial growth factor, a potent angiogenic factor and was first
described as an essential growth factor for vascular endothelial cells

[VEGF] B NMEAMARERAT —EBEERNNELAKETF SMKELSOE
AN AR L HEREF

“we”, “us” or “our” the Company and, unless the context indicates otherwise, its subsidiaries

R API [ FAFI 89 ] B ARARGXEZAMAENEHBLAE
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